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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS AND EMPLOYEES

In last year’s annual report, we focused on the core strengths of
our organization — experience, vision, growth and people. These are
qualities that are important to the success of any business. They form
the foundation for expansion of operations and the creation of
shareholder value.

Although we faced several challenges in 2007 which tested our
organizational strengths, we never lost our focus: to deliver long-term
value to shareholders. Senior management and members of our
board of directors own over 50% of the
Company’s outstanding shares. As such,
management’s interests are unequivocally

aligned with all shareholders.

1. Darby Seré

Chairman of the Board, .
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Our vision of being the premier " ___. - _
" HIGHLIGHTS OF 2007 INCLUDE:

coalbed methane (CBM) producer is
unchanged. We are poised to deliver

- Increased proved reserves of
natural gas to 350.2 billion

value over the next several years | i
by growing reserves, production E " cubic feet, up 8% from 2006 :
and cash flows. We have an attrac- | | '

tive combination of low finding - Increased natural gas sales to

i | anaverage of 19.5 million cubic
. | feet per day, up 14.4% from 2006
|

and development costs, long-lived
reserves, efficient operations and

a large acreage position, which

f— . - it e ot s e

provides us the ability to grow

organically without having to raise significant external financing. In fact, only 34% of
our operating cash flow, on a trailing 12-month basis, is required to maintain our proved
reserves, leaving 66% available for growth. I would like to highlight the following areas
of current value and future value creation.

PROVED RESERVES

As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s proved reserves, as estimated by DeGolyer
and MacNaughton, independent petroleum engineers, totaled 350.2 Bcf. Over 97% of
our total proved reserves at year-end 2007 were located in the Company’s more
seasoned development projects in the Pond Creek and Gurnee fields. In excess of
76% of year-end 2007 reserves were classified as proved developed, which require little
future capital investment, and are principally attributable to 448 net productive wells in
those two ficlds. Approximately 2% of our proved reserves are attributable to a new
project, the Lasher field, which commenced development in the fourth quarter. GeoMet
owns a 100% working interest in each of these fields and is the operator.




]
]
L]

The present value of total proved reserves at year-end 2007 (discounted at 10% per
annum and using the SEC year-end price of $7.46 per Mcf) was $662.8 million. Over the
last three years, our finding costs have averaged $1.25 per Mcf. During this period we
replaced 882 % of our production through additions, extensions and revisions.

PROBABLE RESERVES

In addition to the proved reserves located in the three development projects, GeoMet
had identified approximately 480 net additional unproved drilling locations in these fields
at year-end 2007. As of December 31, 2007, DeGolyer and MacNaughton assigned net
probable reserves of 189.1 Bcf to these additional unproved drilling locations.

We expect to drill most of these unproved locations over the next several years,
providing for continued growth in proved reserves, production and cash flows.
Because of extensive corehole drilling and gas desorption tests performed in these fields,
we have a high level of confidence that these probable reserves represent additional

value to our shareholders.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAM

We plan capital expenditures of $48.8 million in 2008, with just over 70% of those
expenditures allocated to drilling, completing and connecting 46 low-risk CBM devel-
opment wells. Approximately 10% of those expenditures are allocated to exploratory
drilling in our shale prospect discussed below and the remaining 20% are budgeted for
leasehold and other capital costs. We have hedged over 50% of our projected gas sales
for 2008 with an effective floor of approximately $7.89 per MMBtu to assure the fund-
ing of our capital expenditure program.
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NEW DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
We have two early stage development

projects, the Lasher field in West Virginia and
the Peace River field in British Columbia.
We own approximately 17,000 acres of
leases in the Lasher field, which is located
approximately 10 miles north of the Pond
Creek field. At December 31, 2007, we had
drilled four wells at Lasher, and we plan to
drill 15 wells in 2008. The geological set-
ting at Lasher is very similar to Pond Creek
except that the coal seams are slightly thin-
ner and more shallow. The Lasher field has

two significant advantages over Pond
Creek: a water disposal well and a major
interstate pipeline are both located on our

leasehold. We have adequate firm trans-
portation capacity on the pipeline and have recently entered into a pipeline interconnect
agreement. We believe that lower development costs resulting from reduced frac costs due
to coal thickness, along with the operating efficiencies associated with the close
proximity of the water disposal well, will allow us to
achieve rates of return at Lasher that are comparable
to returns being achieved in the Pond Creek field.

The Peace River field is located in northeast British
Columbia near the community of Hudson’s Hope. We
operate this project, which covers approximately
50,000 acres of Crown tenure (rights to earn

leases), and own a 50% working interest. As of
year-end we had drilled six production wells
and four coreholes, and tested several water
disposal options. During 2007 we engaged
Netherland, Sewell & Associates, independent

Philip G. Malone Bretr S. Camp

Senior Vice Prestdent — Senior Vice President —
Exploration and Director Operations




What is the status of the production performance

issues in the Gurnee field?

eoMet has the coalbed methane development
G rights to approximately 44,000 net acres in
the Cahaba Basin of central Alabama. The acreage
is evenly divided between a northern block, largely
on the east side of the Cahaba River, and a southern
block, largely on the west side of the river. The geol-
ogy is generally more complex on the east side of
the river with beds dipping from northwest to
southeast. The geological setting west of the river
tends to be less complex with more gently dipping
beds. Most of the development to date in the
Gurnee field has been on the east side of the river,

which was near existing infrastructure.

(Wellsidulledjtoldatelcanibelorotped
intolthreelmajofcategoriess
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imatelyll6Jofithelwellstaielinlthislcategory

As to the first category of wells, we belicve
these wells will eventually incline and that the
rescrves assigred to them, and possibly more, will
be recovered over time. The exact slope and timing
of that incline is difficult to predict. The high water
production fron wells in the second category is an
indication of good permeability. We also have high
confidence of the gas-in-place. As the water produc-
tion declines, we expect these wells will be among

the best wells in the field. As to the last category of
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wells, we will need to employ new treatment or
re-completion technigues to improve performance
or face downupard revisions to proved reserves over
time. At December 31, 2007, the proved reserves
assigned to wells in the third category are approxi-
mately 7% of our total proved reserves.

Average daily gas production per well bas
remained fairly flat in the Gurnee field. Normally
we would expect this per well average to increase
as gas production from wells in the field inclines.
Therefore, until inclines become prevalent, new
wells must be drilled for production to increase sub-
stantively, We reduced drilling activity in the Gurnee
field in 2007 and plan to reduce it further in 2008.

We drilled our first two wells on the less geologi-
cally complex west side of the river in the southern
acreage block in 2007 and have recently initiated
production testing. Initial results are encouraging,
but it is too early to reach any definitive conclusions.

As stated earlier, we are confident of the esti-
mated gas-in-place in the Gurnee field becanse of an
abundance of coreboles and gas desorption analyses.
Reserves in the field are generally determined by
applying a recovery factor 1o the gas-in-place.
Although the recovery factor may be modified based
on new data, the 55% generally used in the Gurnee
field is considered conservative. The timing of recov-
ery is more subjective and may change with time.

Drivers for increased production from the field
could come from several sources: new drilling,
especially from the west side of the river if initial
positive results continue; the dewatering of the
bigh water production wells; or commencenent
of expected gas production inclines from the wells

with relatively flat production.



petroleum engineers, to prepare a reserve report for Peace River. This reserve report in-

dicated that there was in excess of one trillion cubic feet of gas-in-place. We plan to drill
five additional production wells and construct and install production, gas treatment and
sales facilities in 2008. We hope to commence gas sales from the Peace River field in the
fourth quarter.

EXPLORATION PROSPECT

We are evaluating our Garden City prospect, which targets the Chattanooga Shale in
north central Alabama. During 2007, we drilled five coreholes and three production wells.
The Chattanooga shale thickness ranges from 35 — 90 feet at a depth that ranges from 1,600
— 2,100 feet across the prospect area. Gas desorption tests and other analyses have con-
firmed significant gas-in-place and shale properties that are favorable when compared to
other shales currently being developed. We plan to drill at least three more production wells
in 2008, at least one of which will be a horizontal well. We are planning to connect the
production wells to sales in the near term to facilitate extensive production testing. We have
approximately 70,000 gross acres leased and are continuing to acquire additional leasehold




Explain the pipeline litigation with CNX Gas.

eoMet is involved in several disputes with

CNX Gas Corporation ("CNX") and its
affiliates in the court system or before administra-
tive bodies in Virginia. These disputes can generally
be categorized as related to pipeline right-of-way
issues, well permitting issues, or anti-trust and
manopolistic behavior issues. These disputes were
all instigated either by CNX or by us in response
to aggressive behavior by CNX,

The most publicized disputes have been CNX's
attempt to block the construction of, and later to
prevent the flow of gas through, the gas gathering
pipeline (the “Gathering Line”) we constructed to
deliver Pond Creek field gas sales to East Tennessce
Natural Gas. CNX clains to have the exclusive right
to transport gas across a certain property by virtue
of the granting clause in the CBM lease it holds with
the landowner (“PMC”). Absent extraordinary lan-
guage, which is not present in the lease, it would be
guite unusual for an oil and gas or coalbed methane
lease to grant such a right; bowever, a circuit court in
western Virginia ruled that CNX did have this exclu-
sive right. Both PMC and GeoMet separately ap-
pealed the circuit court decision and the Virginia
Supreme Court has agreed to bear both appeals as to
all points of error. Briefings in these appeals are com-
plete and oral arguments are expected to be beard by

the Supreme Court in early June. Twice in 2007, the

William C. Rankin

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Virginia Supreme Court reversed adverse rulings by
circuit courts in western Virginia which wrongly fa-
vored CNX.

We believe our position is strong, as do several
parties to a supporting Amicus brief filed with the
court, and we expect to win this appeal. In the un-
likely event that we lose this appeal, GeoMet and
PMC have other issues pending in the circuit court
which could render this decision moot. Additionally,
GeoMet is pursuing other options to deliver its gas
to market in the unlikely event access to the Gather-
ing Line is restricted. We do not expect gas sales to
be materially interrupted.

Also, there is some confusion related to a puni-
tive provision in one of the circuit court orders that
would have required GeoMet to escrow the “net
proceeds” from sales of any gas delivered through
the Gathering Line. This portion of that order was
vacated by the Virginia Supreme Court and never
went into effect. Neither gas deliveries nor cash

flows from the Pond Creek field have ever been

interrupted.
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he Chattanooga Shale represents a significant
Topporrmrity in close proximity to our existing
operations and a natural step out for exploration
and development. Based on our initial technical
evaluation using the data from several coreboles,
and gas desorption and other analyses of the cores,
this shale prospect shares many attributes of onr
coalbed methane projects. It is expected to be a

large resource play at shallow depths with low find-

Why is GeoMet pursuing a shale play?

Although gas production characteristics from
shale formations genrally differ from those of gas
produced from coals, both types of plays lend
themselves to low risk multi-well, multi-year

drilling programs where drilling, completion and

infrastriicture costs can be driven down over tinie.

Our exploration department generated this play
using surface geology and logs front old wells

in this area, which allowed us to evaluate the

ing and development costs, low operating costs and Chattantooga shale and aequire a significant land

long-lived reserves. position at low entry costs.

acreage. Initial results have been encouraging, but more drilling and production testing is
necessary before a decision to develop this prospect can be made.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our commercial banks have established a $180 million borrowing base under our credit
facility which matures in 2011. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $96 million
borrowed under this commitment, leaving $84 million of available financing. Bank debt
represented approximately 31% of our capital structure at year-end 2007 and only
$0.27 per Mcf of proved reserves. We believe this commitment by our banks, together
with internally generated funds, will be more than sufficient to enable the Company to
execute its 2008 business plan.

In summary, GeoMet has the resources, the opportunities and the organizational
strengths to create growth and shareholder value in 2008 and beyond. '

We would like to thank our shareholders, bankers, vendors, directors and employees
for their contributions to GeoMet in 2007. We truly value these relationships.

Sincerely,

9 Ong 4.

J. Darby Seré
Chairman of the Board, President,
and Chief Executive Officer
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Various statements in this annual report, including those thar express a belief, expectation, or intention, as
well as those that are not statements of historical fact. are forward-looking statements. The forwurd-looking
statements may include projections and estimates concerning the timing and success of specific projects and our
future reserves. production, revenues, income, and capital spending. When we use the words “believe,” “intend,”
“expect,” “may,” “should,” “anticipate.” “could.” “estimate.” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” or their negatives,
other similar expressions, or the statements that include those words are usually forward-looking statements,

LTS LI Y

The forward-looking statements contained in this annual report are largely based on our expectations, which
reflect estimates and assumptions made by our management. These estimates and assumptions reflect our best
judgment based on currently known market conditions and other factors. Although we believe such estimates and
assumptions to be reasonable, they are inherently uncertain and involve a number of risks and uncertainties that
are beyond our control. In addition, management’s assumptions about future events may prove to be inaccurate.
Management cautions all readers that the forward-looking statements contained in this annual report are not
guarantees of future performance, and we cannot assure any reader that such statements will be realized or the
forward-tooking events and circumstances wilt occur. Actual results may differ materially from those anticipated
or implied in the forward-tooking statements due to the factors listed in the “Risk Factors™ section and elsewhere
in this annual report. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this annual report. Other than as
required under the securities laws. we do not intend to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. These cautionary statements qualify all forward-
looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf. The risks, contingencies and uncertainties
relate to, among other matters, the following:

*  our business strategy;

«  our financial position;

«  our cash flow and liquidity;

»  declines in the prices we receive for our gas affecting our operating results and cash flows;
*  uncertainties in estimating our gas reserves;

*  replacing our gas reserves;

»  uncertainties in exploring for and producing gas;

= ability to obtain additional {inancing necessary in order to fund our operations, capital expenditures,
and to meet our other obligations;

+  availability of drilling and production equipment and field service providers;

+  disruptions, capacity constraints in. or other limitations on the pipeline systems which deliver our gas;
= compelition in the gas industry;

*  our ability to retain and attract key personnel;

*  our joint venture arrangements;

= the effects of government regulation and permitting and other legal requirements;

*  costs associated with perfecting title for gas rights in some of our properties;

«  our need to use unproven technologies to extract coalbed methane in some properties; and

. other factors discussed under “Risk Factors.”

2o

All references in this annual report to the "Company,” “GeoMer,” “we,” “us” or “our” are to GeoMet,
Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. Unless otherwise noted, all information in this annual report relating 1o
natural gas reserves and the estimated future net cash flows autributable to those reserves is based on estimates
prepared by independent engineers and is net to our interest.



GLOSSARY OF NATURAL GAS AND COALBED METHANE TERMS

The following is a description of the meanings of some of the oil and natural gas industry terms used in this
document.

Additional drilling locations. ldentified potential drilling locations on our existing acreage that are not
included in our proved undeveloped reserves.

Appalachian Basin. A mountainous region in the eastern United States, running from northern Alabama to
Pennsylvania, and including parts of Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Tennessee, Kentucky, Virginia,
and all of West Virginia.

Bcf. Billion cubic feet of natural gas.

Btu or British Thermal Unit. The quantity of heat required to raise the temperature of one pound of water by
one degree Fahrenheit.

CBM. Coalbed methane.
CBM acres. Acreage under a lease that excludes oil, natural gas, and all other minerals other than CBM.
Coal seam. A single layer or stratum of coal.

Coal rank. Coal is a carbon rich rock derived from plant material accumulated in peat swamps. With
increasing depth of burial, the plant material undergoes coalification, releasing volatile matter. The coal rank
increases as the percentage of volatile mater (% VM) decreases. The generation of methane is a result of the
thermal maturation or increasing rank of the coal. Coals targeted for CBM projects, from low rank to high rank,
are lignite, sub-bituminous, high volatile bituminous. medium volatile bituminous and low volatile bituminous
coals. The range of %VM associated with these coal ranks decrease from lignite at approximately 60%VM to
low volatile bituminous coals at approximately 15% VM.

Completion. The installation of permanent equipment for the production of oil or natural gas, or in the case
of a dry hole, the reporting of abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Developed acreage. The number of acres that are allocated or assignable to productive wells or wells
capable of production.

Development well. A well drilled within the proved boundaries of an oil or natural gas reservoir with the
intention of completing the stratigraphic horizon known to be productive,

Dry hole. A well found to be incapable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that proceeds
from the sale of such production exceed production expenses and taxes.

Dth. Decatherm. One decatherm is 10 therms and 1 therm is equivalent to 100,000 Btu's at 59 degrees
Fahrenheit.

Estimated proved reserves. The estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids that
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from
known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

Estimated proved undeveloped reserves. Estimated proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from
new wells on undrilled acreage or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for
recompletion.




Exploratory well. A well drilled to find and produce oil or natural gas reserves not classified as proved. to
find a new reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of oil or natural gas in another reservoir or to
extend a known reservoir,

Field. An area consisting of either a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the
same individual geological structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition,

Finding and development costs. A non-GAAP performance measure, expressed in dollars per Mcf,
comtmonly used throughout the oil and gas industry to measure the efficiency of @ company in adding new
reserves. The finding and development cost measure referred to in this annual report on Form 10-K is calculated
for the three year time period by taking the sum of the cost incurred for exploration, development, and
acquisition and dividing such amount by the total proved reserve additions. Management believes that this
information is useful to an investor in evaluating GeoMet because it measures the efficiency of a company in
adding proved reserves as compared to others in the industry. The cost and reserve information is derived directly
from line items disclosed in the schedules of Capitalized Costs, Capitalized Costs Incurred, Natural Gas Reserves
and Standardized Measure, which are all required to be disclosed by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS™) No. 69, Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities an amendment of FASB
Statements 19, 25, 33, and 39 (“SFAS 69").

Gas desorption tesi. A process to estimate the volume of natural gas adsorbed in a volume of coal (usually
expressed as cubic feet per ton) by placing a sample of coal into a sealed canister and taking periodic
measurements of gas desorbed, temperature and pressure for up to 90 days, The estimate of total gas adsorbed in
the coal sample is the sum of: (i) the measurements of natural gas during the test period, corrected to standard
temperature and pressure (the “measured natural gas™). (ii) the “lost natural gas,” which is calculated using the
elapsed time the sample desorbed before its placement into the canister and the rate of desorption determined
from the test period, and (iii) the “remaining natural gas,” which is determined by measuring the natural gas
released while grinding the coal sample into a powder or which is calculated mathematically using the
measurements from the test period.

Gas in-place. The total gas measured within any particular formation before any production. A portion of
this total resource base is not economically recoverable. This portion varies due to the formation’s reservoir

characteristics such as pressure and permeability.

Gathering system. Pipelines and other equipment used to move natural gas from the wellhead to the trunk or
the main transmission lines of a pipeline system.

Gross acres or gross wells. The total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is
owned.

Mcf. Thousand cubic feet of natural gas.
MMBm. Millicn British thermal units.
MMcf. Million cubic feet of natural gas.

Net acres or net wells. The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or wells, as the case
may be.

NYMEX. The New York Mercantile Exchange.

Productive well. A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such
that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production expenses and taxes,
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PV-10 or present value of estimated fiture net revenues. An estimate of the present value of the estimated
future net revenues from estimated proved natural gas reserves at a date indicated after deducting estimated
production and ad valorem taxes, future capital costs und operating expenses, but before deducting any estimates
of federal income taxes, a non-GAAP measure. The estimated future net revenues are discounted at an annual
rate of 10% in accorduance with the practice of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™), to determine
their “present value.” The present value is shown to indicate the effect of time on the value of the revenue stream
and should not be construed as being the fair market value of the properties. Estimates of future net revenues are
made using oil and natural gas prices and operating costs at the date indicated and held constant for the life of the
reserves.

Reserve life index. This index is calculated by dividing total estimated proved reserves by the production
from the previous year to estimate the number of years of remaining production.

Reservoir. A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible
oil and/or natural gas that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from
other reservoirs.

Shale. A well hardened. very fine to fine grained sedimentary rock. Shale has ultra-low permeability and is
formed from the compaction of silt, clay, or mud. Many shales contain a mixture of organic compounds calted
kerogen, which liberates natural gas during the maturation process of the shale. Gas within the shale can be
stored onto the molecular surface of insoluble organic matter, trapped within the rock’s pore space or present
within open fractures.

Shut in. Stopping an oil or natural gas well from producing.
Undeveloped acreage. Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that
would permit the production of commercial quantities of oil or natural gas regardless of whether or not such

acreage contains estimated proved reserves.

Working interesi. The operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct
operating activities on the property and receive a share of production.




PART I

Item 1. Business
About GeoMet

GeoMet, Inc. is an independent energy company primarily engaged in the exploration for and development
and production of natural gas from coal seams (“coalbed methane™ or “CBM™) and non-conventional shallow
gas. Our principal operations and producing properties are located in the Cahaba Basin in Alabama and the
Central Appalachian Basin in West Virginia and Virginia. We also control additional coalbed methane and oil
and gas development rights, principally in Alabama, British Columbia, Virginia, and West Virginia.

At December 31, 2007, we controlled a total of approximately 266,000 net acres of coalbed methane and oil
and natural gas development rights, primarily in Alabama, West Virginia. Virginia, Louisiana, Colorado, and
British Columbia. Our major holdings consist of approximately 44,000 net acres in the Gurnee field in the
Cahaba Basin in Alabama, approximately 51,000 net acres in the Garden City prospect in Alabama.
approximately 35,000 net ucres in the Pond Creek field in the central Appalachian Basin, approximately 17.000
net acres in the Lasher field in the central Appalachian Basin. and approximately 25,000 net acres in the Peace
River field in British Columbia.

Qur proved reserves as of December 31, 2007, as estimated by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, an independent
reservoir enginecring firm, were approximately 350.2 Bcf, an increase of approximately 8% from year-end 2006
proved reserves of 325.7 Bef. The 2007 proved reserves were 100% coalbed methane and 76% were developed.
The PV-10 of proved year-end reserves was $662.8 million using SEC pricing of $7.46 per MMBuu at
December 31, 2007 as compared to a PV-10 of $525.6 million at year-end 2006 using SEC pricing of $5.63 per
MMBtu. Approximately 61% of year-end 2007 proved reserves are in the Gurnee field in Alabama and 38% in
the Pond Creek and Lasher fields in West Virginia and Virginia,

Average daily net gas sales volumes for 2007 were 19.5 MMcf, an increase of 14.4% over 2006. December
2007 average daily net gas sales volumes were 20.5 MMcf. Average daily net sales volumes in the fourth quarter
of 2007 increased approximately 3% as compared to the third quarter of 2007.

Our capital expenditure budget for 2008 totals approximately $48.8 million as compared to $59.8 million
expended in 2007, The current year budget includes approximately $34.5 million for development, $4.7 million
for exploration and evaluation, $1.5 million for leasehold and $8.1 million for other capitalized costs. In addition,
the budget includes a $3 million payment related to the 2004 acquisition of a 50% interest in the Pond Creek field
in West Virginia. The payment is based on actua! gas prices received for the four-year period ended
December 31, 2007 as compared 1o a stated price in the purchase and sales agreement.

Approximately $21.6 million of the 2008 capital budget is allocated to the Pond Creek and Lasher fields in
Virginia and West Virginia; $9.7 million is allocated to the Gurnee field and the Garden City Chattanooga Shale
prospect in Alabama; and $9.1 million is allocated to the Peace River field in British Columbia.

Characteristics of Coalbed Methane and Non-Conventional Shallow Gas

The source rock in conventional natural gas is usually different from the reservoir rock, while in coalbed
methane the coal seam serves as both the source rock and the reservoir rock. The storage mechanism is also
different, Gas is stored in the pore or void space of the rock in conventional natural gas, but in coalbed methane,
most, and [requently all, of the gas is stored by adsorption. Adsorption allows large quantities of gas to be stored
at relatively low pressures. A unique characteristic of coalbed methane is that the gas flow can be increased by
reducing the reservoir pressure. Frequently the coatbed pore space. which is in the form of cleats or fractures, is
filled with water. The reservoir pressure is reduced by pumping out the water. releasing the methane from the
molecular structure, which allows the methane to flow through the cleat structure to the well bore. While a
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conventional natural gas well typically decreases in fiow as the reservoir pressure is drawn down, a coalbed
methane well will typically increase in production for up to five years from initial production depending on well
spacing.

Coalbed methane and conventional natural gas both have methane as their major component. While
conventional natural gas often has more complex hydrocarbon gases, coalbed methane rarely has more than 2%
of the more complex hydrocarbons. In the eastern coal fields of the United States, coalbed methane is generally
98% 10 99% pure methane and requires only dehydration of the gas to remove moisture to achieve pipeline
quality. In the western coal fields of the United States, it is also sometimes necessary to strip out either carbon
dioxide or nitrogen. Once coalbed methane has been produced, it is gathered, transported, marketed, and priced
in the same manner as conventional natural gas.

The content of gas within a coal seam is measured through gas desorption testing. The ability to flow gas
and water to the well bore in a coalbed methane well is determined by the fraciure or cleat network in the coal. At
shallow depths of less than 500 feet, these fractures often open enough to produce the fluids naturally. At greater
depths the networks are progressively squeezed shut, reductng the ability to flow. It is necessary to provide other
avenues of flow such as hydraulically fracturing the coal seam. By pumping fluids at high pressure, fractures are
opened in the coal and a slurry of fluid and sand proppant is pumped into the fractures so that the fractures
remain open after the release of pressure, thereby enhancing the flow of both water and gas to allow the
economic production of gas.

Areas of Operation
Cahaba Basin

We have the development rights to approximately 44,000 net CBM acres throughout the Gurnee field in the
Cahaba Basin of central Alabama. At December 31, 2007, approximately 61% of our estimated proved reserves,
or 214.1 Bef, were located in the Gurnee field, of which approximately 78% were classified as proved developed.
At such time, we had developed approximately 38% of our Gurnee field CBM acreage. We are the operator and
own a 100% working interest in the area. As of December 31, 2007, we had 234 productive wells in the Gurnee
field. Net daily sales of gas averaged approximately 6,122 Mcf for 2007. At December 31, 2007, our
undeveloped CBM acreage in the Gurnee field contained 82 proved undeveloped drilling locations and 232
additional drilling locations, based predominantly on 80-acre spacing. In 2008, we intend to spend approximately
$4.1 million of our capital expenditure budget 1o drill five wells and expand our facilities in the Cahaba Basin,

We extract gas from six coal groups within the Pottsville coal formation at depths ranging from 700 feet to
3.400 feet. At these depths, overall seam thickness in this area averages approximately 50 feet of high volatile
bituminous rank coal. A total of 33 core holes have been drilled and over 600 gas desorption tests have been
conducted on our acreage to determine the gas content of the coal and to define the coalbed methane resource
under a substantial portion of the acreage in our leasehold position.

Qur acreage is roughly evenly divided between a northern block, largely on the east side of the Cahaba
River, and a southern block, largely on the west side of the river, The geology is generally more complex on the
east side of the river with beds dipping from northwest to southeast. The geological setting west of the river tends
10 be less complex with more gently dipping beds. Most of the development 1o date in the Gumee field has been
on the east side of the river which is near existing infrastructure. We have recently begun drilling on the less
geologically complex west side of the river in the southern acreage block. Initial results are encouraging with
early initial gas production inclines and average gas production rates higher than elsewhere in the field. However,
it is too early to reach any definitive conclusions. Future production growth in the field could come from several
sources, including; new drilling, especially from the west side of the river if initial positive results continue; the
dewatering of the high water production wells; and from increased gas production from exlstmg wells, either as a
natural occurrence or from improved treatment or re-completion techniques,
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We have constructed and operate an approximate 38.5-mile pipeline from the Cahaba Basin to the Black
Warrior River for the disposal of produced water under a permit issued by the Alabama Department of
Environmental Management. This pipeline has a maximum design capacity of approximately 45,000 barrels of
water per day, but would require additional pump stations and looping a portion of the line in order to reach the
maximum design capacity, if needed. In October 2006, we executed a series of agreements with a third party
operator located in the area, under which we agreed to designate up to 50% of the pipeline’s capacity to dispose
of produced water from the third party’s operations in the Gurnee field. Our fees earned under the agreements are
$0.35 per barrel of untreated produced water but may decline to $0.20 per barrel of produced water if the
operator chooses to treat its own produced water prior to delivering it to our facilities. The disposal fees we
generate are included in other revenues. We also operate a water treatment facility in the Gurnee field to
condition the produced water prior to injection into the pipeline and a discharge pond at the river to aerate the
water prior to disposal. We believe that our disposal pipeline and water treatment facility will meet ail of our
future water disposal requirements for the Gurnee field.

Additionally, we have secured firm capacity rights on a high pressure gas gathering pipeline which connects
into Enbridge’s Magnolia Pipeline System. The acquired rights entitle us to transport approximately 40 MMcf
per day of coalbed methane gas at a fee of $0.05 per MMBtu actually gathered through the pipeline. We do not
anticipate utilizing this capacity in the immediate future. This agreement provides us with a second outlet for our
gas produced from the Guree field. Together with our existing capacity on the Southern Natural Gas
Bessemer—Calera lateral, our total gas takeaway capacity is expected to meet all of our future requirements.

We control and operate a 17.3-mile. 12-inch high pressure steel pipeline and a gas treatment and
compression facility through which we gather, dehydrate, and compress our gas for delivery into the Southern
Natural Gas pipeline system. As we control the gathering and delivery pipeline system, we incur no third party
costs to gather and deliver our gas to market.

Garden City

Garden City is our Chattanooga Shale exploration prospect located in north central Alabama. The
Chattanooga Shale is a dark gray-black, organic-rich, gas-bearing Devonian shale that is believed, like coal, 1o be
both a source rock and reservoir rock. We have approximately 51,000 net acres of leasehold, we are the operator
and own a 100% working inierest in the area, The Chattanooga Shale is expected to be encountered at depths
ranging from 1,600 to 2,100 feet across the prospect area. We drilled five core holes to determine the gas in-place
and the reservoir properties of the shale. We drilled 3 production welis in 2007, We plan to drill three wells in
2008 and spend approximately $4.1 million. The proximity of the Garden City prospect to the Gurnee field
presents several advantages which helps reduce cost and provides operational efficiencies. This includes using
our Gurnee project personnel, contractors and vendors to conduct similar operations in the Garden City prospect.

Pond Creek

In the Pond Creek field in the central Appalachian Basin of southern West Virginia and southwestern
Virginia, we have the rights to develop approximately 35,000 net CBM acres. At December 31, 2007,
approximately 36% of our estimated proved reserves, or 126.5 Bef, were located within the Pond Creek field, of
which approximately 77% were classified as proved developed. At such time, we had developed approximately
42% of our Pond Creck CBM ucreage. As of December 31, 2007, we are the operator and own a 100% working
interest in 212 productive wells and an average of 45% working interest in four preductive wells in the Pond
Creek field. Net daily sales of gas averaged approximately 12,311 Mcf for 2007. At December 31, 2007, our
undeveloped CBM acreage in the Pond Creek field contained 68 net proved undeveloped drilling locations and
190 additional drilling locations, based predominantly on 60-acre spacing. In 2008, we intend to spend
approximately $13 million of our capital expenditure budget to drill 21 wells in the Pond Creek field.

We extract gas from up to an average of 12 coal seams within the Pocahontas and New River coal
formations at depths ranging from 430 feet to 2,400 feet. At these depths overall coal thickness in this area
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ranges from 10 to 30 feet of low-medium volatile bituminous rank Pennsylvanian Age coal. Prior mining activity
revealed that these coal groups are gas rich. A total of 42 core holes have been drilled on and in the area of our
acreage in the central Appalachian Basin and a geographically extensive gas desorption testing program has been
conducted to determine the gas content of the coal and to define the coalbed methane resource under a substantial
portion of our leasehold position,

CBM wells in the Pond Creek fietd produce comparatively lower levels of water. Produced water is either
used in our operations or injected into a disposal well that we own and operate. We believe this disposal well will
meet our fulure water disposal requirements in the Pond Creek field.

Our gas from the Pond Creek field is gathered into our central dehydration and compression facility and
delivered into the Jewell Ridge pipeline system owned by East Tennessee Natural Gas, LLC (“ETNG”). In
January 2007, we executed two long-term transportation agreements with ETNG which became effective when
our pipeline went in service on April 1, 2007, with total maximum daily quantities of 15,000 dth and 10,000 dth
and primary terms of 15 years and 10 years. respectively.

Lasher

In the Lasher field in the central Appalachian Basin of southern West Virginia, we have the rights to
develop approximately 17,000 net CBM acres. At December 31, 2007, approximately 2% of our estimated
proved reserves, or 7.4 Bef, were located within the Lasher field, of which approximately 20% were classified as
proved developed. We are the operator and own a 100% working interest in the area. As of December 31, 2007,
we had drilled four core holes and completed four production wells. At December 31, 2007, our undeveloped
CBM acreage in the Lasher field contained 20 proved undeveloped drilling locations and 109 additional drilling
locations, based predominantly on 60-acre spacing. In 2008, we intend 10 spend approximately $8.1 million of
our capital expenditure budget to drill 15 wells and to connect these wells along with three of the existing wells
to a water and gas gathering system, which is to be installed along with a compressor station and a high pressure
gas sales line that will connect into an interstate pipeline that is located on the Lasher leasehold. The proximity of
the Lasher field to the Pond Creek field presents several advantages which helps reduce cost and provides
operational efficiencies. This includes using our Pond Creek project personnel, contractors and vendors to
conduct similar operations in the Lasher project,

British Columbia

Our Peace River Project is comprised of approximately 25,000 net acres along the Peace River near
Hudson’s Hope, British Columbia. We operate and own a 50% working interest. We have drilled four core holes
targeting the medium volatile bituminous rank Lower Cretaceous Gething coals. Multiple, mostly thin, coal
seams, with an aggregate average thickness of 52 feet. exist at depths from 1,000 to 3,000 feet. At December 31,
2007 we had drilled and completed a total of five production wells, re-completed an existing production well and
drilled a water disposal well which has been used to dispose of the water produced from the test wells. In 2007
we completed one production test well and production tested four wells. We also drilled two water disposal wells
in 2007, of which one well was deemed to have insufficient injection capabilities and the other well is still being
evaluated. In early 2008 we plan to test zones in several existing wells for water disposal potential. At
December 31, 2007, our undeveloped CBM acreage in the Peace River field contained 265 (132.5 net) additional
drilling locations, based predominantly on 160-acre spacing. Pending the confirmation of adequate water
disposal capacity, we plan to spend up to $9.1 million of capital in 2008 (net to our 50% working interest), to
drill and complete five new wells, and connect these wells along with three of the existing wells to a water and
gas gathering system to be installed with a gas plant/compressor station, and a high pressure gas sales line which
will connect into the Spectra gas transmission line which crosses the property.




Strategy

Qur objective is to create the premier non-conventional shallow gas company in North America
(emphasizing coalbed methane) while maximizing stockholder value through the efficient investment of capital
1o increase reserves, production, cash flow and earnings. We intend to focus on the following straiegies:

Focus primarily on coalbed methane and non-conventional shallow gas to exploit our substantial
expertise and experience.

Maximize present value in existing development projects and expand inte adjacent areas to leverage
our information, knowledge and infrastructure,

Develop new large scale projects. maintain operational control and reduce costs through economies of
scale.

Maintain financial discipline.

Competitive Strengths

We primarily explore for, develop, and produce CBM and non-conventional shallow gas. We believe that
substantial expertise and experience is required to develop, produce. and operate coalbed methane and
non-conventionat shallow gas fields in an efficient manner. We believe that the inherent geologic and production
characteristics of coalbed methane and non-conventional shallow gas offer significant operational advantages
compared to conventional gas production, including:

L]

Production Rates. Unlike conventional natural gas production, which typically declines after initial
production is established, production from CBM wells typically increases for the first few years of their
productive lives although eventual peak rates are often lower than those of typical conventional gas
wells. CBM wells also generally decline at a shallow rate relative to typical conventional gas wells.

Low Geologic Risks. Most CBM areas are located in known coal basins where the coal resource has
been evaluated for coal mining. These areas have extensive existing geologic information databases.
The drilling of new coreholes and a limited number of production test wells reduces the geologic risk
prior to committing large development expenditures.

Low Production Costs. In the early stage of CBM project development per unit operating costs are high
because production is initially low and many of our costs are fixed. As production from a project
increases and economies of scale are realized, the per unit operating costs typically decrease. Over the
life of a project, we belicve our average per unit operating costs will be lower than those of many
conventional gas industry projects.

Long-lived Reserves. Because CBM wells typically have inclining production rates early in their lives
and low decline rates thereafter, CBM projects typically result in a reserve life that is significantly
longer than many types of conventional gas production.

Highly Experienced Teamn of CBM Professionals. Our 18-person CBM management, professional, and
project management team has an average of more than 18 years of CBM experience and has
participated in the drilling and operation of more than 2,700 CBM wells worldwide since 1977.

Large hiventory of Organic Growth Opportunities. Our extensive undeveloped acreage position
provides us with an additional 615.5 net drilling locations.

Track Record of Success in Identifving and Exploiting Large Underdeveloped Resource Plays. We
pursue those projects that leverage our CBM expertise to exploit underdeveloped resource potential
where we believe we can improve on the prior performance of other operators. We have a history of
developing large scale projects in muliiple basins with low finding and development costs and low
project life operating costs.



Risks Affecting Our Business

Our ability to successfully leverage our competitive strengths and execute our strategy depends upon many
factors and is subject to a variety of risks. For example, our ability to drill on our properties and fund our capital
budgets depends, to a large extent, upon our ability to generate cash flow from operations at or above current
levels and maintain borrowing capacity at or near current levels under our revolving credit facility, or the
availability of future debt and equity financing at attractive prices. Our ability to fund CBM property acquisitions
and compete for and retain the qualified personnel necessary to conduct our business is also dependent upon our
financial resources. Changes in natural gas prices, which may affect both our cash flows and the value of our gas
reserves, our ability to replace production through drilling activities, a material adverse change in our gas
reserves due to factors other than gas pricing changes, our ability to transport our gas to markets, drilling costs,
lower than expected production rates and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, may adversely
affect our ability to fund our anticipated capital expenditures, pursue property acquisitions, and compete for
qualified personnel, among other things. You are urged to read the section entitled “Risk Factors™ for more
information regarding these and other risks that may affect our business and our commeon stock.

Competition

Qur operations primarily compete regionally in the United States and Canada. Competition throughout the
United States and Canada is regionalized. We believe that the gas market is generally highly fragmented and not
dominated by any single producer except in the immediate area of our Virginia development operations, where
we believe there is one dominate producer that controls a substantial portion of the market. We believe that
several of our competitors have devoted far greater resources than we have to gas exploration and development.
We believe that competition within our market is based primarily on price and the proximity of gas fields to
customers.

Seasonality of Business

Weather conditions affect the demand for and prices of natural gas and can also delay drilling activities,
disrupting our overall business plans. Demand for natural gas is typically higher in the fourth and first quarters
resulting in higher natural gas prices. Due to these seasonal fluctuations, results of operations for individual
quarterly periods may not be indicative of the results that may be realized on an annual basis.

Governmental Regulations

Our coalbed methane exploration and production operations are subject to significant federal, state, and
local laws and regulations governing the gathering and transportation of our gas production across state and
federal boundaries. The following is a summary of some of the existing regulations to which our operations are
subject.

Regulation by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC") of Interstate Natural Gas Pipelines.
We do not own any interstate natural gas pipelines, so the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or the FERC,
does not directly regulate any of our operations. However, the FERC’s regulation influences certain aspects of
our business and the market for our products. In general, the FERC has authority over natural gas companies that
provide patural gas pipeline transportation services in interstate commerce, and its authority to regulate those
services includes:

*  the certification and construction of new facilities;
»  the extension or abandonment of services and facilities;
. the maintenance of accounts and records;

+  the acquisition and disposition of facilities;




* the initiation and discontinuation of services; and

. various other matters.

In recent years, the FERC has pursued pro-competitive policies in its regulation of interstate natural gas
pipelines. However, we cannot assure you that the FERC will continue this approach as it considers matters such
as pipeline rates and rules and policies that may affect rights of access to natural gas transportation capacity.

Intrastate Regulation of Nutural Gas Transportation Pipelines. We own a pipeline in Alabama that provides
intrastate natural gas transportation as defined by the Alabama Public Service Commission (APSC). The APSC
regulates gas pipelines that transport gas on an intrastate basis in situations where the gas has been cleaned and
pressurized to the point that it is ready for sale. All pipeline systems in Alabama must be constructed, operated
and maintained io be in compliance with the defined federal minimum safety standards. The APSC has not
enacted its own regulations relating to pipeline safety. Instead, it enforces the U.S. Department of Transportation
Office of Pipeline Safety Regulations, including as to reporting, design, construction, and operating requirements
of the pipeline. We are inspected annually by the APSC to ensure we are in compliance with the regulations,

Gathering Pipeline Regulation. Section 1(b) of the Natural Gas Act exempts natural gas gathering facilities
from the jurisdiction of the FERC. We own an intrastate natural gas pipeline that we believe would meet the
traditional tests the FERC has used to establish a pipeline’s status as a gatherer not subject to the FERC’s
jurisdiction. However, the distinction between the FERC-regulated transmission services and federally
unregulated gathering services is the subject of regular litigation, so, in such a circumstance, the classification
and reguiation of some of our gathering facilities may be subject to change based on future determinations by the
FERC and the courts.

In the states in which we operate, regulation of intrastate gathering facilities generally includes various
safety, environmental and, in some circumstances, nondiscriminatory take requirement and complaint based rate
regulation. For example, we are subject to state ratable take and common purchaser statutes. Ratable take statutes
generally require gatherers to take, without undue discrimination, natural gas production that may be tendered to
the gatherer for handling, In certain circumstances, such laws will apply even to gatherers like us that do not
provide third party, fee-based gathering service and may require us to provide such third party service at a
regulated rate, Similarly, common purchaser statutes generally require gatherers to purchase without undue
discrimination as to source of supply or producer. These statutes are designed to prohibit discrimination in favor
of one producer over another producer or one source of supply over another source of supply. These statutes have
the effect of restricting our right as an owner of gathering facilities 1o decide with whom we contract to purchase
or transport natural gas.

Natural gas gathering may receive greater regulatory scrutiny at both the state and federal levels now that
the FERC has taken a less stringent approach to regulation of the gathering activities of interstate pipeline
transmission companies and a number of such companies have transferred gathering facilities to unregulated
affiliates. OQur gathering operations could be adversely affected should they be subject in the future to the
application of state or federal regulation of rates and services. Qur gathering operations also may be or become
subject to safety and operational regulations relating to the design, installation, testing, construction, operation,
replacement, and management of gathering facilities. Additional rules and legislation pertaining to these matters
are considered or adopted from time 10 time. We cannot predict what effect, if any, such changes might have on
our operalions, but the industry could be required to incur additional capital expenditures and increased costs
depending on future legislative and regulatory changes,

Sules of Natural Gas. The price at which we sell natural gas currently is not subject to federal regulation
and, for the most part, is not subject to state regulation. Our natural gas sales are affected by the availability,
terms, and cost of pipeline transportation. As noted above, the price and terms of access to pipeline transportation
are subject to extensive federal and state regulation. The FERC is continually proposing and implementing new
rules and regulations affecting those segments of the natural gas industry, most notably interstate natural gas
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transmission companies that remain subject to the FERC’s jurisdiction. These initiatives also may affect the
intrastate transportation of natural gas under certain circumstances. The stated purpose of many of these
regulatory changes is to promote competition among the various sectors of the natural gas industry, and these
inttiatives generally reflect more light handed regulation. We cannot predict the ultimate impact of these
regulatory changes to our natural gas operations, and we note that some of the FERC’s more recent proposals
may adversely affect the availability and reliability of interruptible transportation service on interstate pipelines.
We do not believe that we will be affected by any such FERC action materially differently than other sellers of
natural gas with whom we compcte.

Canadian Govermmental Regulation. Qur operations in Canada are subject to regulation by the National
Energy Board (“NEB™) and provincial agencies in Canada. These agencies have jurisdiction similar to the FERC
for regulation. Business in Western Canada is regulated by the NEB pursuant to a framework for light-handed
reguiation under which the NEB acts on a complaints basis. However, the natural gas industry in Canada remains
subject to extensive controls and regulations imposable by various levels of government. We do not expect that
any of these controls or regulations will affect our operations in a manner materially ditferent than they would
affect other natural gas industry participants of similar size.

In addition to federal regulation, each province has legislation and regulations that govern land tenure,
royalties, production rates, environmental protection and other matters. The royalty regime is a significant factor
in the profitability natural gas production. Royalties payable on production from lands other than government
lands are determined by negotiations between the mineral owner and the lessee. Royalties on government land
are determined by government regulation and are generally calculated as a percentage of the value of gross
production, and the rate of royulties payable generally depends upon prescribed reference prices, well
productivity, geographical location. field discovery date and the type or quality of the petroleum product
produced.

NAFTA. The North American Free Trade Agreement among the governments of Canada, the United States
and Mexico became effective on January 1, 1994, NAFTA carries forward most of the material energy terms that
are contained in the Canada-U.S. Free Trade Agreement. Subject to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade,
Canada continues to remain free 1o determine whether exports of energy resources to the United States or Mexico
will be allowed, so long as any export restrictions do not reduce the proportion of energy resources exported
relative to total supply (based upon the proportion prevailing in the most recent 36-month period or another
representative period agreed upon by the parties), impose an export price higher than the domestic price (subject
to an exception that applies to some measures that only restrict the value of exports), or disrupt normal channels
of supply. All three countries are prohibited from imposing minimum or maximum export or impert price
requirements, with some limited exceptions.

Envirommental Regulations

Qur coalbed methane exploration and production operations are subject to significant federal, state, local,
and Canadian environmental laws and regulations governing environmental protection as well as the discharge of
substances into the environment. These laws and regulations may restrict the types, quantities, and concentrations
of various substances that can be released into the environment as a resuli of natural gas drilling, production, and
processing activities; suspend, limit or prohibit construction. drilling and other activities in certain lands lying
within wilderness, wetlands and other protected arcas; require remedial measures (o mitigate poliution from
historical and on-going operations such as the use of pits and plugging of abandoned wells; and restrict injection
of liquids into subsurface strata that may contaminate groundwater. Governmental autherities have the power to
enforce compliance with their laws, regulations and permits, and violations are subject to injunction, as well as
administrative, civil and even criminal penalties. The effects of these laws and regulations, as well as other laws
or regulations that are adopted in the future could have a material adverse impact on our operations.

We believe that we are in substantial compliance with existing applicable environmental laws and
regulations. However, it is possible that new environmental laws or regulations or the modification of existing
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laws or regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operations. As a general matter, the recent trend
in environmental legislation and regulation is toward stricter standards, and this trend will likely continue. To
date, we have not been required to expend extraordinary resources in order to satisfy existing applicable
environmental laws and regulations. However, costs to comply with existing and any new environmental laws
and regulations could become material. Moreover, a serious incident of pollution may result in the suspension or
cessation of operations in the affected area or in substantial liabilities to third parties. Although we maintain
insurance coverage aguinst costs of clean-up operations, no assurance can be given that we are fully insured
against all such potential risks. The imposition of any of these liabilities or compliance obligations on us may
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The following is a summary of some of the existing environmental laws, rules and regulations to which our
operations in the United States are subject. Our operations in Canada are subject to similar Canadian
requirements.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. The Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, or CERCLA, also known as the Superfund law,
imposes strict, joint and several liability without regard to fault or legality of conduct, on persons who are
considered to have contributed to the release of a “hazardous substance” into the environment. These persons
include the owner or operator of the site where the release occurred and companies that disposed or arranged for-
the disposal of the hazardous substance released at the site. Under CERCLA, such persons may be liable for the
costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the environment, for damages to
natural resources, and for the costs of certain health studies. In addition, it is not uncommon for neighboring land
owners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by the
hazardous substances released inte the environment. Although CERCLA currently excludes “petroleum” and
“natural gas, natural gas liquids, liquefied natural gas or synthetic gas useable for fuel” from the definition of
“hazardous substance,” our operations may generate materials that are subject to regulation as hazardous
substances under CERCLA.

CERCLA may require payment for cleanup of certain abandoned waste disposal sites, even if such waste
disposal activities were undertaken in compliance with regulations applicable at the time of disposal. Under
CERCLA, one party may, under certain circumstances, be required to bear more than its proportional share of
cleanup costs if payment cannot be obtained from other responsible parties. CERCLA authorizes the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency and, in some cases, third parties to take actions in response to threats to the
public health or the environment and to seek to recover from the responsible classes of persons the costs they
incur. The scope of financial liability under these laws involves inherent uncertainties.

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, or RCRA, and
comparable state programs regulate the management, treatment, storage, and disposal of hazardous and
non-hazardous solid wastes. Our operations generate wastes, including hazardous wastes that are subject to
RCRA and comparable state laws. We believe that these operations are currently complying in all material
respects with applicable RCRA requirements. Although RCRA currently exempts certain natural gas and oil
exploration and production wastes from the definition of hazardous waste, we cannot assure you that this
exemption will be preserved in the future, which could have a significant impact on us as well as on the oil and
natural gas industry, in general.

Water Discharges. Our operations are subject to the Clean Water Act, or CWA, as well as the Qil Pollution
Act, or OPA, and analogous state laws and regulations. These laws and regulations impose detailed requirements
and strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants, including spills and leaks of oil and other substances,
into waters of the United States, including wetlands. Under the CWA and OPA, any unpermitted release of
pollutants from operations could cause us to become subject to the costs of remediating a release; administrative,
civil or criminal fines or penalties; or OPA specified damages, such as damages for loss of use and natural
resource damages. In addition, in the event that spills or releases of produced water from CBM production
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operations were to occur, we would be subject to spill notification and response requirements under the CWA or
the equivalent state regulatory program. Depending on the nature and location of these operations, spill response
plans may also have to be prepared. :

Qur CBM exploration and production operations produce substantial volumes of water that must be
disposed of in compliance with requirements of the CWA, Safe Drinking Water Act, or SDWA, or an equivalent
state regulatory program, This produced water is disposed of by re-injection into the subsurface through disposal
wells, discharge to surface streams, or in evaporation ponds. Discharge of produced water to surface streams and
other bodies of water must be authorized in advance pursuant to permits issued under the CWA, and disposal of
produced water in underground injection wells must be authorized in advance pursuant to permits issued under
the SDWA. To date, we believe that all necessary surface discharge or disposal well permits have been obtained
and that the produced water has been disposed in substantial compliance with such permits and applicable laws.

Air Emissions. The Clean Air Act, or CAA, and comparable state laws and regulations govern emissions of
various air pollutants through the issuance of permits and the imposition of other requirements. Air emissions
from some equipment used in our operations, such as gas compressors; are potentially subject to regulations
under the CAA or equivalent state and local regulatory programs, although many small air emission sources are
expressly exempt from such regulations. To the extent that these air emissions are regulated, they are generally
regulated by permits issued by state regulatory agencies. To date, we believe that no unusual difficulties have
been cncountered in obtaining air permits, and we believe that our operations are in substantial compliance with
the CAA and analogous state and local laws and regulations. However, in the future, we may be required to incur
capital expenditures or increased operating costs to comply with air. emission-related requirements.

Other Laws and Regulations. Qur operations are also subject to regulations governing the handling,
transportation, storage and disposal of naturally occurring radioactive materials. Furthermore, owners, lessees
and operators of natural gas and oil properties are also subject to increasing civil liability brought by surface
owners and adjoining property owners. Such claims are predicated on the damage to or contamination of Jand
resources occastoned by drilling and production operations and the products derived therefrom, and are often
based on negligence, trespass, nuisance, strict liability or fraud.

In addition, our operations may in the future be subject to the regulation of greenhouse gas emissions.
Numerous countries, including Canada but not the United States, are participants in the Kyoto Protocol to the
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Participating countries are required to implement
national programs to reduce emissions of certain gases, generally referred to as greenhouse gases, that are
suspected of contributing to global warming. Although the United States is not participating in the Protocol, there
has been support in various regions of the country for legislation that requires reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions, and some states have already adopled legislation addressing greenhouse gas emissions from certain
greenhouse gas emission sources, primarily power plants. The oil and gas exploration and production industry is
a direct source of certain greenhouse gas emissions, namely carbon dioxide and methane, and future restrictions -
on such emissions could impact our future operations. Our operations in the United States currently are not
adversely impacted by current state and local climate change initiatives. Our Canadian operations are subject to
the Protocol, but implementation of the Protocol’s greenhouse gas emission reduction requirements in British
Columbia are not presently expected to have a material adverse effect on our operations. However, it is not
possible to accurately estimate how potential future laws or regulations addressing greenhouse gas emissions
may impact our business.

Canadian Environmental Regulation. The natural gas industry is governed by environmental regulation
under Canadian federal and provincial laws, rules and regulations, which restrict and prohibit the release or
emission and regulate the storage and transportation of various substances produced or utilized in association
with natural gas industry operations. In addition, applicable environmental laws require that well and facility
sites be abandoned and reclaimed, to the satisfaction of provincial authorities, in order to remediate these sites to
near natural conditions. Also, environmental laws may impose upon “responsible persons” remediation
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obligations on property designated as a contaminated site. Responsible persons include persons responsible for
the substance causing the contamination, persons who caused the release of the substance and any present or past
owner, tenant or other person in possession of the site. Compliance with such legislation can require significant
expenditures. A breach of environmental laws may result in the imposition of fines and penalties and suspension
of production, in addition to the costs of abandonment and reclamation.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, we had 84 full-time employees and two full-time contractors. None of our
employees are represented by a labor union or covered by any collective bargaining agreement. We believe that
our relations with our employees are satisfactory,

Corporate Offices

Our corporate headquarters are located at 909 Fannin, Suvite 1850, Houston, Texas 77010. Our technical and
operational headquarters are located at 5336 Stadium Trace Parkway, Suite 206, Birmingham, Alabama 35244,

Access to Company Reports

We file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC in accordance with the
requirements of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We
make our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form §-K, and any
amendments o such reports available free of charge through our corporate website at www.geometinc.com as
soon as reasonably practicable after we file any such report with the SEC. In addition, information related to the
following items, among other information, can be found on our website: our press releases, our corporate
governance guidelines, our corporate code of business ethics and conduct, our audit committee charter, our
compensation committee charter and our nominating, corporate governance and ethics committee charter. You
may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street,
N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, You may obtain information on the operaticn of the Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an internet site that contains our reports,
proxy and information staiements, and our other filings which are also available 1o the public over the internet at
the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

IF any of the following risks develop into actual events, our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows, strategies and prospects could be materially adversely affected.

Natural gas prices are volatile, and a decline primarily in natural gas prices would significantly affect our
Sinancial results and impede our growth.

Our revenue, profitability, and cash flow depend upon the prices and demand for natural gas. The market for
naturai gas is very volatile and even relatively modest drops in prices can significantly affect our financial results
and impede our growth. Changes in natural gas prices have a significant impact on the value of our reserves and
on our cash flow. Prices for natural gas may fluctuate widely in response to relatively minor changes in the
supply of and demand for natural gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that are beyond our
contrel, such as;

»  the domestic and foreign supply of natural gas;
*  the price of foreign imports;
overall domestic and global economic conditions;

the consumption pattern of industrial consumers, electricity generators, and residential users;
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»  weather conditions:

+  technological advances affecting energy consumption;

*  domestic and foreign governmenial regulations;

»  proximity and capacity of gas pipelines and other transportation facilities; and

»  the price and availability of alternative fuels.

Many of these factors are beyond our control. Because all of our estimated proved reserves as of
December 31, 2007 were natural gas reserves, our financial results are sensitive to movements in natural gas
prices. Earlier in this decade, natural gas prices were much lower than they are today. Lower natural gas prices
may not only decrease our revenues on a per Mcf basis, but also may reduce the amount of natural gas that we
can produce economically. This may result in our having to make substantial downward adjustments to our
estimated proved reserves. If this occurs or if our estimates of development costs increase. production data
factors change or our exploration results deteriorate, accounting rules may require us to write down, as a
non-cash charge to earnings, the carrying value of our properties for impairments. We are required to perform
impairment tests on our assets whenever events or changes in circumstances lead to a reduction of the estimated
useful life or estimated future cash flows that would indicate that the carry amount may not be recoverable or
whenever management’s plans change with respect to those assets. We may incur impairment charges in the
future, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period taken.

We face uncertainties in estimating proved gas reserves, and inaccuracies in our estimates could result in
lower than expected reserve quantities and a lower present value of our reserves.

Natural gas reserve engineering requires subjective estimates of underground accumulations of natural gas
and assumptions concerning future natural gas prices, production levels, and operating and development costs. In
addition, in the early stages of a coalbed methane project, it is difficult to predict the production curve of a
coalbed methane ficld. The estimated production profile of a field in the early stage of operations may vary
significantly from the actual production profile as the field matures. As a result, quantities of estimated proved
reserves, projections of future production rates, and the timing of development expenditures may be incorrect.
Over time, material changes to reserve estimates may be made, taking into account the results of actual drilling,
testing. and production. Also, we make certain assumptions regarding future natural gas prices, production levels,
and operating and development costs that may prove incorrect. Any significant variance from these assumptions
to actual figures could greatly affect our estimates of our reserves, the economically recoverable quantities of
natural gas attributable to any particular group of properties, the classifications of reserves based on risk of
recovery, and estimates of the future net cash flows. Numerous changes over time {o the assumptions on which
our reserve estimates are based, as described above, often result in the actual quantities of gas we ultimately
recover being different from reserve estimates.

The present value of future net cash flows from our estimated proved reserves is not necessarily the same as
the current market value of our estimated natural gas reserves. We base the estimated discounted future net cash
flows from our estimated proved reserves on current prices and costs. However, actual future net cash flows from
our gas properties also will be affected by factors such as:

*  zeological conditions;

+  changes in governmental regulations and taxation;
*  assumptions governing future prices;

*  the amount and timing of actual production;

+  future gas prices and operating costs: and

*  capital costs of drilling new wells.




The timing of both our production and our incurrence of expenses in connection with the development and
production of natural gas properties will affect the timing of actual future net cash flows from estimated proved
reserves. and thus their actual present value. In addition, the 10% discount factor we use when calculating
discounted future net cash flows may not be the most appropriate discount factor based on interest rates in effect
from time 10 time and risks associated with us or the natural gas industry in general.

Unless we replace our natural gas reserves, our reserves and production will decline, which would adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Producing natural gas reservoirs are typically characterized by declining production rates that vary
depending upon reservoir characteristics and other factors. CBM production generally declines at a shallow rate
after initial increases in production which result as a consequence of the dewatering process. The rate of decline
from our existing wells may change in a manner different than we have estimated. Thus, our future natural gas
reserves and production and, therefore, our cash flow and income are highly dependent on our success in
efficiently developing and exploiting our current reserves and economically finding or acquiring additional
recoverable reserves. We may not be able to develop, find, or acquire additional reserves to replace our current
and future production at acceptable costs.

Currently the vast majority of our producing properties are located in two counties in Alabama, one county in
West Virginia, and one county in Virginia, making us vulnerable to risks associated with having our
production concentrated in a few areas.

The vast majority of our producing properties are geographically concentrated in two counties in Alabama,
one county in West Virginia, and one county in Virginia. As a result of this concentration, we may be
disproportionately exposed to the impact of delays or interruptions of production from these wells caused by
significant governmental regulation, transportation capacity constraints, curtailment of production. natural
disasters, interruption of transportation of natural gas produced from the wells in these basins. or other events

" which impact these areas.

QOur ability to sell the gas we produce depends in substantial part on the availability and capacity of pipeline
systems owned and operated by third parties. Operational impediments on these pipeline systems may hinder
our access to natural gas markets or delay our production.

The availability of a ready market for our natural gas production depends on a number of factors, including
the proximity of our reserves to pipelines, capacity constraints on pipelines, and disruption of transportation of
natural gas through pipelines. We transport the natural gas we produce principally through pipelines owned by
third parties. [ we cannot access these third-party pipelines, or if transportation of gas through any of these
pipelines is disrupted, we may be required to shut in or curtail production from some of our wells or seek
alternate methods of transportation of our preduction. If any of these were to occur, our revenues would be
reduced, which would in turn have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to obtain adequate acreage to develop additional large-scale projects.

To achieve economies of scale and produce gas economically, we need to acquire large acreage positions to
reduce our per unit costs. There are a limited number of coalbed formations in North America that we believe are
favorable for CBM development. We face competition when acquiring additional acreage, and we may be unable
to find or acquire additional acreage at prices that are acceptable to us.

Our exploration and development activities may not be commercially successful.

The exploration for and production of natural gas involves numerous high risks. The cost of drilling,
completing, and operating wells for coalbed methane or other gas is often uncertiin, and a number of factors can
delay or prevent drilling operations or production, including:

= unexpected drilling conditions;




» title problems;

*  pressure or irregularities in geologic formations;
*  equipment failures or repairs;

. fires or other accidents;

. adverse weather conditions;

*  reductions in natural gas prices:

*  pipeline ruptures;

. legal issues; and

»  unavailability or high cost of drilling rigs, other field services, and equipment.

Our future dnlling activities may not be successful, and our drilling success rates could decline.
Unsuccessful drilling activities could result in higher costs without any corresponding reserves and revenues.

We will require additional capital to fund our future activities. If we fail to obtain additional capital, we may
not be able to implement fully our business plan, which could lead to a decline in reserves.

We depend on our ability to obtain financing beyond our cash flow from operations. Historically, we have
financed our business plan and operations primarily with internally generated cash flow, bank borrowings, and
issuances of common stock.

If our revenues decrease as a result of lower natural gas prices, operating difficulties, declines in reserves or
for any other reason, we may have limited ability to obtain the capital necessary to sustain our operations at
current levels. We may, from time to time, need to seek additional financing. Our revolving credit facility
contains covenants restricting our ability to incur additional indebtedness without the consent of the lender. There
can be no assurance that our lender will provide this consent or as to the availability or terms of any additional
financing. If we incur additional debt, the reiated risks that we now face could intensify. A higher level of debt
also increases the risk that we may default on our debt obligations. Our level of debt affects our operations in
several important ways, including the following:

»  a portion of our cash flow from operaticns is used to pay interest on borrowings;

*  ahigh level of debt may impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working
capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate or other purposes;

»  aleveraged financial position would make us more vulnerable to economic downturns and could limit
our ability 10 withstand competitive pressures; and

+  any debt that we incur under our revolving credit facility will be at variable rates which makes us
vulnerable to increases in interest rates.

Even if additional capital is needed, we may not be able to obtain debt or equity financing on terms
favorable to us, or at all. i cash generated by operations or available under our revolving credit facility is not
sufficient to meet our capital requirements, the failure to obtain additional financing could result in a curtailment
of our operations relating to exploration and development of our projects, which in turn could lead to a possible
loss of properties and a decline in our natural gas reserves.

QOur revolving credit facility contains a number of financial and other covenants, and our obligations under
the revolving credii facility are secured by substantially all of our assets. If we are unable to comply with these
covenants, our lenders could accelerate the repayment of our indebtedness.

Our revolving credit facility subjects us to a number of covenants that impose restrictions on us, including
our ability to incur indebtedness and liens, make loans and investments, sell assets, engage in mergers,,
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consolidations and acquisitions, enter into transactions with affiliates, or pay dividends, We are also required by
the terms of our revolving credit facility to comply with certain financial ratios. Our revolving credit facility also
provides for periodic redeterminations of our borrowing base. which may affect our borrowing capacity. Our
revolving credit facility is secured by a tien on substantially all of our assets, including equity interests in our
subsidiaries. A more detailed description of our revolving credit facility is included in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources”
and the footnotes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report.

A breach of any of the covenants imposed on us by the terms of our revolving credit facility, including the
financial covenants, could result in a default under such indebtedness. In the event of a default, the lenders could
terminate their commitments to us, and they could accelerate the repayment of all of our indebtedness. In such
case, we may not have sufficient funds to pay the total amount of accelerated obligations, and our lenders could
proceed against the collateral securing the revolving credit facility. Any acceleration in the repayment of our
indebtedness or related foreclosure could adversely affect our business.

In addition, the borrowing base under our revolving credit facility is redetermined semi-annually and may
be redetermined at other times upon request by the lenders under certain circumstances. Redeterminations are
based upon a number of factors, including commodity prices and reserve levels.

We operate in a highly competitive environment and many of our competitors have greater resources than we
do.

The gas industry is intensely competitive and we compete with companies from various regions of the
United States and Canada and may compete with foreign suppliers for domestic sales, many of whom are larger
and have greater financial, technological, human and other resources. If we are unable to compete, our operating
results and financial position may be adversely affected. For example, one of our competitive strengths is as a
low-cost producer of gas. If our competitors can produce gas at a lower cost than us, it would effectively
eliminate our competitive advantage in that area.

In addition, larger companies may be able to pay more to acquire new properties for future exploration,
limiting our ability to replace gas we produce or to grow our production. Our ability to acquire additional
properties and to discover new reserves also depends on our ability Lo evaluate and select suitable properties and
to consummate these transactions in a highly competitive environment.

QOur ability to produce coalbed methane may be hampered by the water present in the formation which could
affect our profitability.

Unlike conventional natural gas production, coalbeds frequently contain brine water that must be removed
in order for the gas to desorb from the coal and flow to the well bore. Our ability to remove and dispose of
sufficient quantities of water from the coal seam will determine whether or not we can produce gas in
commercial quantities. The cost of water disposal may affect our profitability.

We may face unanticipated water disposal costs.

Where water produced from our projects fails to meet the quality requirements of applicable regulatory
agencies or our wells produce water in excess of the applicable volumetric permit limit, we may have to shut in
wells, reduce drilling activities, or upgrade facilities. The costs to dispose of this produced water may increase if
any of the following occur:

»  we cannot obtain future permits from applicable regulatory agencies:
+  water of lesser quality is produced;
*  our wells produce excess water; or

*  new laws and regulations require water to be disposed of in a different manner.
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Obtaining production from our additional drilling locations could take five years or longer, making them
susceptible to uncertainties that could alter the occurrence of their drilling.

The additional drilling locations on our existing acreage represent a significant part of our growth strategy.
Our ability to drill and produce these locations depends on a number of uncertainties, including, but not limited
to, natural gas prices. permitting and the availability of capital. Furthermore, the additional drilling locations on
acreage in our two early-stage CBM development projects and our Chattanooga Shale exploration prospect face
additional unceriainties regarding the economic returns achievable in these areas where only a few wells have
been drilled to date.

Our operations in British Columbia present unique risks and uncertainties, different from or in addition to
those we face in our domestic operations.

We conduct our cperations in British Columbia through our wholly owned subsidiary, Hudson’s Hope Gas
Ltd. Our operations in British Columbia may be adversely affected by currency fluctuations. The expenses of
such operations are payable in Canadian dollars. As a result, our Canadian operations are subject to risk of
fluctuations in the relative value of the Canadian and United States dollars. Other risks of operations in Canada
include, among other things, increases in taxes and governmental royalties and changes in laws and policies
governing operations of foreign-based companies. Laws and policies of the United States affecting foreign trade
and taxation may also adversely affect our operations in British Columbia.

We may be unable to retain our existing senior management team and/or our key personnel that have
expertise in coalbed methane extraction and our failure to continue to attract qualified new personnel could
adversely affect our business.

Our business requires disciplined execution at all levels of our organization to ensure that we continually
develop our reserves and produce gas at profitable levels. This execution requires an experienced and 1alented
management and production team. If we were to lose the benefit of the experience, efforts and abilities of any of
our key executives or the members of our team that have developed substantial expertise in coalbed methane
extraction, our business could be adversely affected. We have not entered into employment agreements or
non-competition agreements with any of our key employees. other than J. Darby Seré, our President and Chief
Executive Officer, and William C. Rankin, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financtial Officer. We do not
maintain key person life insurance on any of our personnel. Our ability to manage our growth, if any, will require
us to continue to train, motivate, and manage our employees and to attract, motivate, and retain additional
qualified managerial and production personnel. Competition for these types of personnel is intense, and we may
not be successful in attracting, assimilating, and retaining the personnel required to grow and operate our
business profitably.

Government laws, regulations, and other legal requirements relating to protection of the environment, health
and safety matters and others that govern our business increase our costs and may restrict our operations.

We are subject to laws, regulations and other legal requirements enacted or adopted by federal. state, local,
and foreign authorities, relating to protection of the environment and health and safety matters, including those
legal requirements that govern discharges of substances into the air and water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated sites, groundwater quality and availability, plant
and wildlife protection, reclamation and restoration of mining or drilling properties after mining or drilling is
completed. control of surface subsidence from underground mining, and work practices related to employee
health and safety. Complying with these requirements, including the terms of our permits, has had, and will
continue to have. a significant effect on our respective costs of operations and competitive position. In addition,
we could incur substantial costs, including clean-up costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, and third party
damage claims for personal injury, property damage, wrongful death, or exposure 10 hazardous substances, as a
result of violations of or liabilities under environmental and health and safety laws.
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Additionally, the gas industry is subject to extensive legislation and regulation, which is under constant
review for amendment or expansion. Any changes may affect, among other things, the pricing of production.
State and local authorities regulate various aspects of gas drilling and production activities, including the drilling
of wells (through permit and bonding requirements), the spacing of wells. the unitization or pooling of gas
properties, environmental matters, safety standards, market sharing, and well site restoration. If we fail to comply
with statutes and regulations, we may be subject to substantial penalties, which would decrease our profitability.

We must obtain governmental permits and approvals for drilling operations, which can be a costly and time
consuming process and result in restrictions on our operations.

Regulatory authorities exercise considerable discretion in the timing and scope of permit issuance.
Requirements imposed by these authorities may be costly and time consuming and may result in delays in the
commencement or continuation of our exploration or production operations. For example, we are ofien required
to prepare and present to federal, state or local authorities data pertaining to the effect or impact that proposed
exploration for or production of gas may have on the environment. Further, the public may comment on and
otherwise engage in the permitling process, including through intervention in the courts. In some cases, consents
from third parties may be required before a permit is issued. Accordingly, the permils we need may not be issued,
or if issued. may not be issued in a timely fashion, or may involve requirements that restrict our ability to conduct
our operations or Lo do so profitably.

We depend on technology owned by others.

We rely on the technological expertise of the independent contractors that we retain for our operations. We
have no long-term agreements with these contractors, and thus we cannot be sure that we will continue to have
access to this expertise.

We may incur additional costs to produce gas because our confirmation of title for gas rights for some of our
properties may be inadequate or incomplete.

We generally obtain title opinions on significant properties that we drill or acquire. However, we cannot be
sure that we will not suffer a monetary loss from title defects or failure. In addition, the steps needed to perfect
our ewnership varies from state to state and some states permit us to produce the gas without perfected
ownership under forced pooling arrangements while other states do not permit this. As a result, we may have to
incur title costs and pay royalties to produce gas on acreage that we control and these costs may be material and
vary depending upon the state in which we operate.

The availability or high cost of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel, and oilfield services could
adversely affect our ability to execute our exploration and development plans on a timely basis and within our
budget.

Our industry is cyclical. and from time (o time there is a shortage of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies or
qualified personnel. During these periods, the costs and delivery times of rigs, equipment, and supplies are
substantially greater. As a result of historically strong prices of gas, the demand for oilfield services has risen,
and the costs of these services are increasing. If the availability or high cost of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies,
or gualified personnel were particularly severe in the areas where we operate, we could be materially and
adversely affected.

Hedging transactions may limit our potential gains.

In order to manage our interest rate exposure and commodity price risks, we have entered into interest rate
swaps and natural gas price hedging arrangements with respect to a portion of our expected production. We will
most likely enter into additional hedging transactions in the future. While intended to reduce the effects of
volatile interest rates and natural gas prices. such transactions may limit our potential gains or increase our
potential losses.
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We do not insure against all potential risks. We may incur substantial losses and be subject to substantial
liability claims as a result of our natural gas operations.

We maintain insurance for some, but not all, of the potential risks and liabilities associated with our
business. For some risks, we may not obtain insurance if we believe the cost of available insurance is excessive
relative to the risks presented. As a result of market conditions, premiums and deductibles for certain insurance
policies can increase substantially, and in some instances, certain insurance may become unavailable or available
only for reduced amounts of coverage. As a result, we may not be able to renew our existing insurance policies or
procure other desirable insurance on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Although we maintain insurance at
levels we believe are appropriate and consistent with industry practice, we are not fully insured against all risks,
including drilling and completion risks that are generally not recoverable from third parties or insurance. In
addition, pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable. Losses and liabilities from
uninsured and underinsured events and delay in the payment of insurance proceeds could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties
Estimated Proved Reserves

The following table sets forth ¢ertain information with respect to our estimated proved reserves by field as
of December 31, 2007. Reserve volumes and values were determined under the method prescribed by the SEC
which requires the application of period-end prices and current costs held constant throughout the projecied
reserve life. The reserve information as of December 31, 2007 is based on estimates made in a reserve report
prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, independent petroleum engineers.

Estimated Proved Reserves

Proved Proved
Developed  Developed Non- Proved
Field Producing Producing Undeveloped Total Proved PV-10
(MMch) (MMcf) {MMcfh) ({MMch) (In thousands)
Central Appalachia:
Pond Creek field ................. 96,102 653 29773 126,530 $279.316
Lasherfield ................... .. — 1,450 5,915 7,365 7475
Alabama:
Gurneefield ..................... 139,711 20,815 47,545 214,071 365,667
White Oak Creek field ............. 2,210 — . 2,210 10,348
Total ....... ... ... . ... 238,023 28,920 83,233 350,176 $662.806

PV-10, a non-GAAP measure, is our estimated present value of future net revenues from estimated proved
reserves before income taxes. We believe PV-10 to be an important measure for evaluating the relative
significance of our CBM gas properties and that PV-10 is widely used by professional analysts and investors in
evaluating gas companies. Because many factors that are unique to each individual company impact the amount
of future income taxes to be paid, the use of a pre-tax measure provides greater comparability of assets when
evaluating companies. We believe that most other companies in the oil and gas industry calculate PV-10 on the
same basis. Management also uses PV-10 in evaluating acquisition candidates. PV-10 only differs from the
standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows (“SMOG"), as calculated and presented in accordance
with SFAS 69, in that SMOG takes into account the present value of income taxes related to our future net cash
flows. See “Selected Financial Data—Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”
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CBM-producing natural gas reservoirs generally are characterized by declining production rates that vary
depending upon reservoir characteristics and other factors. Therefore, without reserve additions in excess of
production through successful exploration and development activities or acquisitions, our reserves and
production, after an initial period of incline, are expected to decline. This decline rate, however, is slower than
what is generally experienced with non-CBM wells. See “Risk Factors” and the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report for a discussion of the risks inherent in CBM gas
estimates and for certain additional information concerning the estimated proved reserves.

The weighted average price of gas at December 31, 2007 used to estimate proved reserves and future net
revenue was $7.58 per MMBtu and was calculated using the Henry Hub cush price at December 31, 2007 of
$7.46 per MMBtu of gas, adjusted for our price differentials at our sales point but excluding the effects of
hedging.

Production and Operating Statistics

The following table presents certain information with respect to our production and operating data for the
periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Gas:
Net sales volume (Bef} ... ..o i e e 7.1 6.2 4.6
Average natural gas sales price ($perMcf) .. .. ... il $6.97 37.19 $9.06
Average natural gas sales price ($ per Mcf) realized(1) .. .................... $7.52 §1.37 $7.43
Total production expenses ($perMef) .. .. ... Lo $2.86 $2.75 $2.81
Expenses: (§ per Mcf)
Lease operations eXPenSes . ... ....uureraneeeee it $1.96 $1.86 $1.89
Compression and transportation eXpenses . ...........oouuveueennno... $0.73 $0.72 $0.72
Production taXes .. ... ...t e $0.17 $0.17 $0.20
Depreciation, depletion & amortization . ... ... irerernnnn.. 51.24 $1.26 $1.06
Research and development ... ... ... $0.00  $0.02  30.13
General and administrative ........... ... ... ... .. .. ... ... . i $1.30 3105 $0.70

(1) Average realized price includes the effects of realized gains and losses on derivative contracts.

Productive Wells and Acreage

The following table sets forth our interest in undeveloped acreage, developed acreage and productive wells
in which we own a working interest as of December 31, 2007, Gross represents the total number of acres or wells
in which we own a working interest, Net represents our proportionate working interest resulting from our
ownership in the gross acres or wells. Productive wells are wells in which we have a working interest and that are
producing and wells capable of producing natural gas.

Productive Wells Developed Acres Undeveloped Acres
Area Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
PondCreek .......... .. .. ............. 216 214 14,574 14,442 20,747 20,631
Lasher ... ... .. ... .. i —_ — — — 16,572 16,572
GUImee . . e 234 234 16,540 16,540 27,316 27,066

— — 50,184 25092

GardenCity .. ...t — — — — 58,998 50,598
Other .. ... — — —_ — 109,718 94,561
Total ... ... 450 448 31,114 30,982 283,535 234,520

25




Qur material undeveloped leases are in Alabama, the Central Appalachtan Basin and Canada, which
includes our Gurnee, Lasher, Pond Creek, and Peace River fields, respectively. Generally, the undeveloped
acreage expires on various dates from 2008 through 2013; however, the term of the undeveloped acreage can be
extended by drilling and production operations. As to the Gurnee field, we have fulfilled drilling commitments
on our largest lease that gives us the ability to postpone further drilling unti! 2009. Otherwise, the remaining
acreage either has expirations that occur from 2008 through 2013 or the leases can be extended by drilling and
production operations.

Drilling Activity

The following table sets forth the number of completed gross exploratory and gross development wells
drilled in the United States and Canada that we participated in for each of the last three fiscal years. The number
of wells drilled refers to the number of wells commenced at any time during the respective year. Productive wells
are producing wells and wells capable of production.

Gross
Exploratory Development
Well Activity (Gross)—United States Productive _D_r)_ Tolal Productive _l!__!_ Total
Year ended December 31,2007 .. ... ... oo L. 4 — 4 49 — 49
Year ended December 31,2006 ... ...................... 2 — 2 102 — 102
Year ended December 31,2005 . ... ... ... .. L, 4 3 7 93 — 93
Exploratory Development
Well Activity (Gross)-—Canada Productive m Total  Productive w Total
Year ended December 31,2007 . ....... .. ... i 1 — 1 — — —
.Yearended December 31,2006 .. ... ... ..ot 3 — 3 — — -
Year ended December 31,2005 ... ... ... . .. .. ... 2 — 2 — — —

The following table sets forth, for each of the last three {iscal years, the number of completed net
exploratory and net development wells drilled by us based on our proportionate working interest in such wells.

Net

Exploratory Development
Well Activity {(Net)—United States Productive m Total Productive w Total
Year ended December 31,2007 ... ... ... ... ... ... 4.0 — 4.0 47.0 — 4740
Year ended December 31,2006 ... ....... ... ... ........ 2.0 — 20 1020 — 1020
Year ended December 31,2005 .. ........ ... .. ... . ..., 4.0 30 7.0 930 — 93.0

Exploratory Development
Well Activity (Net)—Canada Productive m Total Productive ﬂ Total
Year ended December 31,2007 .. ... . ... ... el 0.5 — 035 — — —_
Year ended December 31,2006 .. ... ... i i 1.5 — 15 — — —
Yearended December 31,2005 .. .. ... ... .. il 1.0 — 1.0 — — —

Title to Properties

Our properties are subject (o customary royalty interests, liens incident to operating agreements, liens for
current taxes and other burdens, including other mineral encumbrances and restrictions. We do not believe that
any of these burdens materially interfere with our use of the properties in the operation of our business.

We believe that we have generally satisfactory title to or rights in all of our producing properties. As is

customary in the oil and gas industry, we make minimal investigation of title at the time we acquire undeveloped
properties. We make title investigations and receive litle opinions of local counsel only before we commence
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drilling operations. We believe that we have satisfactory title to all of our other assets. Although title to our
properties is subject to encumbrances in certain cases, we believe that none of these burdens will materially
detract from the value of our properties or from our interest therein or will materially interfere with our use in the
operation of our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
While the outcome of lawsuits cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not expect these matters to
have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

CNX Surface Use Dispute

We constructed a 12-mile gathering line in the Pond Creek field, a portion of which traverses a right-of-way
granted to us by Pocahontas Mining Limited Liability Company (“PMC”). The Pond Creck gathering line
connects with and transports our gas production from the Pond Creek field to the Jewell Ridge Pipeline. CNX
Gas Company LLC (“CNX"), the lessee of certain minerals underlying the PMC property, has claimed that it has
the exclusive right to transport gas across the PMC property and that our right-of-way is invalid. We, along with
PMC, fited a complaint in the Circuit Court of Buchanan County, Virginia on May 26, 2006 against CNX
seeking a temporary and permanent injunction, as well as a declaration of our rights under the right-of-way
agreement that we entered into with PMC. On June 30, 2006, CNX filed a counterclaim against PMC and us
seeking a declaratory judgment from the court that CNX has superior rights to our rights to the surface of the
PMC property and that CNX has the exclusive right to construct pipelines, transport gas, and use roads on the
PMC property. On May 23, 2007, the Circuit Court of Buchanan County, Virginia issued an interlocutory order
declaring that the lease between CNX and PMC also included the exclusive right of CNX to transport gas across
the PMC property and enjoined us from transporting gas through the Pond Creek gathering line over the PMC

property.

On June 20, 2007, the Virginia Supreme Court vacated the injunctive portion of the order, allowing us to
continue to transport gas through our Pond Creek gathering line. Also vacated was the portion of the decision that
obligated us to deposit into a trust account all net proceeds from any sales of gas transported over the PMC
property. On November 5, 2007, the Virginia Supreme Court accepted PMC’s and our petition for appeal of the
remaining portion of the May 23rd order, which held that CNX has the exclusive right to build a pipeline and
transport gas across the PMC property. We believe that our right-of-way agreement across the PMC property is
valid and enforceable and that we will ultimately prevail in this case.

On January 19, 2007, CNX obtained a temporary injunction against our construction of the same 12-mile
pipeline across 1,450 feet of a 32-acre tract in Tazewell County, Virginia. The tract of land in dispute has been
owned by a large number of extended family members, from whom we have obtained approximately 81% control
of the tract, either through purchases of undivided surface interests in the tract or by entering into surface use and
right-of-way easement agreements. During our pipeline construction process, CNX purchased a minority
undivided surface interest in the property and filed a lawsuit seeking to enjoin the construction of our Pond Creek
gathering line across the tract. On February 16, 2007, the Virginia Supreme Court vacated the temporary
injunction, which altowed us to complete construction of our Pond Creek gathering line across the 32-acre tract.
Both we and CNX have filed complaints to partition the 32-acre tract, and we believe that we will obtain full
ownership of the portion of the tract that our Pond Creek gathering line traverses.

Our Pond Creek gathering line is connected to the Jewell Ridge Pipeline and is fully operational. In the
event we are unsuccessful in obtaining favorable judgments in the CNX surface disputes, we may be required to
seek an alternative way to transport our gas to market. Assuming such an alternative is available, we may be
unable to deliver our gas from the Pond Creek field to market for an extended period of time.

It is important to note that the Lasher field is in no way associated with the Pond Creek litigation described
above.
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CNX Antitrust Action

We filed a complaint against CNX and Island Creek Coal Company (“Esland Creek™), an affiliate of CNX,
in the Circuit Court of Tazewell County, Virginia on February 14, 2007, seeking damages arising from alleged
violations of the Virginia Antitrust Act, tortious interference with contractual relations with third parties and
statutory and common law conspiracy. The suit seeks $561 million for compensatory and consequential damages
for alleged violations of the Virginia Antitrust Act, including alleged anticompetitive efforts of CNX to dominate
and maintain its control over the market for the production and transportation of coalbed methane gas from the
Oakwood Field in Buchanan County, Virginia and for CNX’s alleged efforts to conspire and act in concert with
Island Creek and others to dominate and maintain conirol over the market for the production and transportation
of coalbed methane gas from the Oakwood Field in violation of the Virginia Antitrust Act and Virginia statutory
and common law. The suit also alleges CNX's intentional interference with our existing and prospective third-
party business relationships in efforts to harm us and improve CNX’s position and corporate and financial
interests. We seek to have any damages awarded for alleged violations of the Virginia Aatitrust Act tripled under
Virginia statutes permitting a court to award treble damages, as well as injunctive relief to prevent CNX and
other parties from continuing these alleged anticompetitive activities. In accordance with an opinion issued by
the Tazewell Circuit Court in December 2007, we are preparing to file an amended petition which will re-state
our claims against CNX and Island Creek with specificity.

As of December 31, 2007, there were no known environmental or other regulatory matters related to our
operations that are reasonably expected to result in a material liability to us.

Ttem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART 11
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.
Common Stock

QOur commeon stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GMET”. The table below
shows the high and low closing prices of our common stock for the periods indicated.

High Low

Fiscal Year 2006:

Quarter ended September 30,2006 . ............. ... ... ... $11.7F  $9.40

Quarter ended December 31,2006 . ... ... .. ... ... ... ...... $11.25 $8.66
Fiscal Year 2007:

Quarterended March 31,2007 ... .. i $10.34  $7.73

Quarterended June 30,2007 . ........ ... .. . ... $ 967 $7.26

Quarter ended September 30,2007 .. ... ... ... . L. $775 8509

Quarter ended December 31,2007 ......... ... ... .. $ 549 $4.86

Approximately 1,500 stockholders of record as of December 31, 2007 held our common stock. In many
instances, a registered stockholder is a broker or other entity holding shares in street name for one or more
customers who beneficially own the shares. Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends if, as
and when such dividends are declared by our board out of assets legally available therefore after payment of
dividends required to be paid on shares of preferred stock, if any. We have not declared or paid any dividends on
our shares of common stock and do not currently anticipate paying any dividends on our shares of common stock
in the future. Currently our plan is to retain any future earnings for use in the operations and expansion of our
natural gas exploration business. Our revolving credit facility prohibits us from paying any cash dividends.

Changes in Securities, Use of Proceeds and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2007, In addition, we did not
sell any of our equity securitics which were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, during
the fourth quarter of 2007.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information regarding the number of shares of our common stock that are
avatlable for issuance under all of our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007.
Number of securities

remaining available
Weighted-average  for future issuance

Number of securities  exercise price of under equity
to be issued upon outstanding compensation plans
exercise of options, warrants  {(excluding securities
Plan Category outstanding options and rights reflected in column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders ......... ... . o L. 1,993,332 $4.96 1,375,268(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders ... .. ... .. .. . — — —
Total .. .. 1,993,332 $4.96 1,375,268

(1) In 2006, our board of directors and stockholders approved the GeoMet, Inc. 2006 Long-Term lucentive Plan
under which 2,000,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for awards to be granted. In conjunction
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with the approval of the 2006 Plan, no additional awards were or will be granted under our 2005 Plan;
however, we will continue to issue shares of our common stock upon exercise of awards that we have
previously granted. The 1,375,268 of securities remaining available for future issnance includes 242,448
shares that were reserved but not issued under our 2005 Plan.

Performance Graph.

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to
be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the
Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that we
specifically incorporate the performance graph by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock from July 28,
2006, the date our common stock was listed on the Nasdaq Global Market, through December 31, 2007 and
compares it with the cumulative total return on the Russell 2000 and the S&P Oil and Gas Exploration and
Production Index. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on July 28, 2006 and assumes reinvestment of
dividends, if any. The comparisons in this table are required by the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be
indicative of possible future performance of our stock.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

'$140.00 -
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$100.00
$80.00
$60.00
$40'006@5 N S U U P Y
o ) o
%\B \\Q GQ \\Q Q\Q \Q ,\\Q q,\Q \\Q Q\Q \\Q 0\0 \\Q \\Q Q\Q \\Q Q\Q \\Q
/\{L %\‘b Q’\"b ,\Q\‘b 2 \\'5 ’3)‘5 ,\{5 r,}'b "S“b b‘\’b (9\"5 Q}"b ,\\’b Q)\’b q\'b \Q\"b \.{{b \ng
—e— Russell 2000 Index —a— S3&P Qil & Gas Exploration & Production —a— Geomet, Inc. ‘
TI28/2006  12/31/2006 12/3172007
GeoMet, Inc. ... . . e e e e $100.00 % 9480 $ 47.40
Russell 2000 Index . . ... ... i i i e i $100.00 $112.52 $109.43
S&P Ol & Gas ... . e e e e e $100.00 % 97.01 $132.82
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table shows our selected historical consolidated financial and operating data as of and for
each of the five years ended December 31, 2007. The selected historical consolidated financial and operating data
for the three years ended December 31, 2007 are derived from our audited financial statements included herein.
The selected historical consolidated financial and operating data for the two yeurs ended December 31, 2004 was
derived from our audited financial statements which are not included herein. The table reflects a four-for-one
common stock split in 2006 and prior periods have been adjusted for the stock split. You should read the
following data in conjunction with “Managements Discussion and Analysis of Resulis of Operations and
Financial Condition™ and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
annual report where there s additional disclosure regarding the information in the following table. Qur historical
results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in future periods.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (in thousands):
Total TEVENUES ..ottt et e e e $ 50984 $ 44947 $ 4i980 $ 20924 § 12,049
Realized (gain) losses on derivalive CONTACES . ..., ..ot nvnnanson, (3.895) (1,118) 7473 815 44
Unrealized (gains) losses from the change in marker vatue of open derivative
CONITACKE . o o ottt ety e e ettt et e et i e i e e 3,007 (16,877) 12,059 (542) 102
TOtal OPErAUNE EXPEISES . . .. ..t r v tn s s et ttn e sttt inseteteeans 37.852 13.678 41,149 13,272 7.123
Operating income from continuing operations .. ............ ..., 13.132 31.269 831 7.652 4.926
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized ... ... ... o (51300 (3.130) (3,895) (986) (232)
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest, discontinued operations
and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ................. 7.983 28,162 {3.008) 6.732 4,782
Income tax expense (benefit) .. ..o 2,988 10,866 (993) 2312 1,651
Income {loss) before minority interest, discontinued operations and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle. netof tax . ... ... ... . ..... 4,995 17,296 {2.015) 4,420 3,13t
Discontinued operations, netof tax ........ ... o i 174 23 — C— —
Minority interest, net of taX .. ... . o i i — (23) 442 (584) (571
Income from discontinued operations ......... ... .. .ot 174 — 442 (584) (571
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle, net of income tax ...................... 5,169 17,296 (1.573) 3.836 2,360
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income tax ... .... — — — — (19
NEt INCOME (JOSS) . . o\t ve syt e e e e e e et e e et e et a e $ 5169 %1729 $ (1,573 $ 3836 $ 2.54i
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE (in dollars):
Income (loss) from cominuing operations
2 $ $ 049 $ 007 $ $ 020
Diluted ... $ $ 048 § (OT) $ 3 020
Discontinued aperations
BaBIC Lt i e icaeaaireitia e aaeaes 5 — $ — % 002 §8 — 5 —
Diluted ..o e $§ — 5 — 3% 002 3% — & —
Net income (loss} per common share
BaSIC L e $ $ 049 % (0O6) § 017 $ 020
I T $ $ 048 % (006) $§ 047 § 020
BALANCE SHEET DATA (in thousands, at period end):
Working (deficit) capital ... .o e e e $ (2063} § (1.625) § (7,368) $ (1.251) $ 5133
Towl B5S818 . ..o $378,677 8335195 $247.909 5142090 % 81,505
Long-termdebt ......._ ... e e e $ 96,730 § 60832 $ 99926 $ 51,513 510,102
Stockholders’ equity ..., .. oo $218.676 $210,007 $ 95422 § 65692 $52,754
Cash flow data (in thousands):
Net cash provided by operating activilies . ........... ..ot ... $ 17487 % 21472 $ 12433 $ 10,580 $ 10,801
Net cash used in investing activities ......... ... ... .. ... ..o .. $(53,832) $(78,669) $(59.661) $(66,193) 3$(36,341)
Net cash provided by financing activities .. ......... ... ... i i $ 36191 § 58,086 § 44,906 § 50,192 § 30,534
Capital expenditures ... .. v v e e $ 54026 $ 79061 $ 59817 § 86,189 § 36,069
OTHER DATA:
Netsales volume (Bel) oottt e e e 7.1 6.2 4.6 3.2 2.5
Average naturai gas sales price (SperMcf) ... . ool $ 697 § 719 $ 906 § 612 § 471
Average natural gas sales price (§ per Mcf) realized(1) ........... ... ... ... $ 752 8§ 737 § 743 % 587 % 469
Total productionexpenses (SperMcfy ... .. il $ 28 $ 275 % 28l % 236 $ 123
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (SperMcf) ..................... $ t24 § 126 $ 106 § 08 S5 085
Estimated proved reserves (Bef)(2) ... ... o 350.2 3257 262.5 209.9 103.9
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows ($ millions) ........ $ 4959 § 3595 § 6327 $§ 3498 § 1725
Non-GAAP Measures:{3)
PVAI0 G MIIIONS) .. oot i e e $ 6628 $ 5256 § 8802 3 4818 § 2369




Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The following table shows our reconciliation of our PV-10 to our standardized measure of discounted future
net cash flows (the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP).
PV-10 is our estimate of the present value of future net revenues from estimated proved natural gas reserves after
deducting estimated production and ad valorem taxes, future capital costs and operating expenses, but before
deducting any estimates of future income taxes. The estimated future net revenues are discounted at an annual
rate of 10% to determine their “present value.” We believe PV-10 to be an important measure for evaluating the
relative significance of our CBM gas properties and that the presentation of the non-GAAP financial measure of
PV-10 provides useful information to investors because it is widely used by prefessional analysts and
sophisticated investors in evaluating oil and gas companies. Because there are many unique factors that can
impact an individual company when estimating the amount of future income taxes to be paid, we believe the use
of a pre-tax measure is valuable for evaluating our company. We believe that most other companies in the oil and
gas industry calculate PV-10 on the same basis. PV-10 should not be considered as an alternative to the
standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows as computed under GAAP.

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Futurecashinflows .. ........ .. ... ........ $2,654.214 $1,858,104 $2.,536,279 $1.,302,830 $ 599,501
Less: Future productioncosts . .......... 725,272 501,956 463,416 290,425 125,765
Less: Future development costs .. ....... 106,356 101,777 76,297 38,242 23,832

Future netcashflows .............. ... ... 1,822,586 1,254,371 1,996,566 074,163 449904
Less: 10% discount factor . . ............ 1,159,780 728,739  1,116413 (492,339y (213,018)

PV-10 o 662,806 525,632 880,153 481,824 236,886
Less: Undiscounted income taxes . . . . . . .. (724,399 (4103910  (579,689) (274,975 (125,858)
Plus: 10% discount factor . ............. 557,461 244,245 332,201 142,906 61,520

Discounted income taxes . ................. (166,938) (166,146) (247,488) (132.069) (64,338)

Standardized measure of discounted future net

cashflows ... . i $ 495868 $ 359486 $ 632,665 $ 349,755 $ 172,548
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and resuits of operations should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and the related notes and other information included elsewhere in this
report.

Overview

GeoMet, Inc. is an independent energy company primarily engaged in the exploration for and development
and production of natural gas from coal seams (“coalbed methane™ or “CBM”) and non-conventional shallow
gas. Our principal operations and producing properties are located in the Cahaba Basin in Alabama and the
Central Appalachian Basin in West Virginia and Virginia. We also control additionat coalbed methane and oil
and gas development rights, principally in Alabama, British Columbia, Virginia, and West Virginia.

At December 31, 2007, we controiled a total of approximately 266.000 net acres of coalbed methane and oil
and natural gas development rights, primarily in Alabama, West Virginia, Virginia, Louisiana, Colorado, and
British Columbia. Qur major holdings consist of approximately 51,000 net acres in the Garden City prospect and
approximately 44,000 net acres in the Gurnee field in the Cahaba Basin in Alabama, approximately 35,000 net
acres in the Pond Creek field and approximatety 17,000 net acres in the Lasher field in the central Appalachian
Basin, approximately 25,000 net acres in the Peace River field in British Columbia.

The Company’s proved reserves as of December 31, 2007, as estimated by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, an
independent reservoir engineering firm, were approximately 350.2 Bcf, an increase of approximately 8% from
year-end 2006 proved reserves of 325.7 Bef. The 2007 proved reserves were 100% coalbed methane and 76%
were developed. The PV-10 of proved year-end reserves was $662.8 million using SEC pricing of $7.46 per
MMBtu at December 31, 2007 as compared to a PV-10 of $525.6 million at year-end 2006 using SEC pricing of
$5.63 per MMBw. Approximately 61% of year-end 2007 proved reserves are in the Gurnee field in Alabama and
38% in the Pond Creek and Lasher fields in West Virginia and Virginia,

Average daily net gas sales volumes for 2007 were 19.5 MMcf, an increase of 14.4% over 2006.

In 2006, we sold 2,317,023 shares of common stock in private placements to qualified institutional buyers
pursuant to Rule [44A under the Securities Act and 5,750,000 shares of common stock in our initial public
offering. We used the net proceeds of approximately $79.6 million and the receipt of approximately $17.5
million from the repayment of certain stockholder loans and from the exercise of stock options to reduce
outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes.

Cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $17.5 million and $21.7
million, respectively. Cash flow provided by operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 of $17.5 million
combined together with $36 million borrowed from our revolving credit facility and $0.5 million from other
sources were sufficient to fund our cash basis capital expenditures of $54 million.

As of December 31, 2007, we had a working capital deficit of approximately $2.1 million, a decrease of
$0.5 million from the working capital deficit of $1.6 million at December 31, 2006. The decrease in the working
capital was primarily a result of capital expenditures. At December 31, 2007, we had adequate cash flows from
operating activities and credit availability to fund our working capital deficits.

The development of CBM fields requires substantial initial investment before meaningful production and
resulting cash flows are realized. Among the factors that can be expected to affect our cash flows and liquidity
are the characteristics of the field, the amount of water produced, the methods utilized to dispose of produced
water, and the timing and volume of initial and subsequent natural gas production. . We estimate total capital
expenditures in 2008 will be approximately $48.8 miilion as compared to $59.8 million expended in 2007. The
current year budget includes approximately $34.3 million for development, $4.7 million for exploration and
evaluation, $1.5 million for leasehold and $5.3 million for other capitalized costs. Approximately $21.6 million
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of the 2008 capital budget is allocated to the Pond Creek and Lasher fields in Virginia and West Virginia; $9.7
million is allocated to the Gurnee field and the Garden City Chattanooga Shale prospect in Alabama; and $9.1
million is allocated to the Peace River field in British Columbia. In addition, the budget includes a $3 million
payment related to the 2004 acquisition of a 50% interest in the Pond Creek field in West Virginia. The payment
is based on actual gas prices received for the four year period ended December 31, 2007 as compared to a stated
price in the purchase and sales agreement. As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $84 million of
available borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility.

Gurnee

At December 31, 2007, approximately 61% of our estimated proved reserves, or 214.1 Bef, were located in
the Gurnee field, of which approximately 78% were classified as proved developed and we had developed
approximately 38% of our Gurnee field CBM acreage. We are the operator and own a 100% working interest in
the area. As of December 31, 2007, we had 234 productive wells in the Gurnee field. Net daily sales of gas
averaged approximately 6,122 Mcf for 2007. At December 31, 2007, our undeveloped CBM acreage in the
Gurnee field contained 82 proved undeveloped locations and 232 additional drilling locations, based
predominantly on 80-acre spacing. In 2008, we intend to spend approximately $4.1 million of our capital
expenditure budget to drill five wells and expand our facilities in the Cahaba Basin.

We have the development rights to approximately 44,000 net CBM acres in the Cahaba Basin. The acreage is
roughly evenly divided between a northern block, largely on the east side of the Cahaba River, and a scuthern
block, largely on the west side of the river. The geology is generally more complex on the east side of the river
with beds dipping from northwest to southeast. The geological setting west of the river tends to be less complex
with more gently dipping beds. Most of the development to date in the Gurnee field has been on the east side of
the river which was near existing infrastructure. Wells drilled to date fall into three major categories: 1) wells that
exhibit relatively flat production, including some with slight incline or decline. Over 70% of the wells in the field
are in this category, 2) wells with high initiai water production and little or no gas production, Approximately 13%
of the wells are in this category and are located primarily in the southern portion of the field, and 3) wells with low
water and gas production. Approximately 16% of the wells are in this category. As to the first category of wells,
we believe these wells will eventually incline and that the reserves assigned to them, and possibly more, will be
recovered over time. The exact slope and timing of that incline is difficult to predict. The high water production
from wells in the second category is an indication of good permeability. We also have high confidence of the gas
in-place. As the water production declines we expect these wells to be among the better wells in the field. As to
the third category of wells, we will need to employ new treatments or re-completion techniques to improve
performance or face downward revisions to proved reserves. At December 31, 2007, the proved reserves assigned
to wells in the third category represented approximately 7% of our total proved reserves.

Average daily production per well has remained fairly flat in the Gurnee field. Normally we would expect
this per well average to increase as production from wells in the field incline. Therefore, until inclines become
prevalent, new wells must be drilled for production to increase substantively. We reduced the annual drilling rate
in the Gurnee field in 2007 and plan to reduce it further in 2008. This reduction in drilling is largely responsible
for the reduced rate of production growth in the field. We drilled our first 2 wells on the less geologically
complex west side of the river in the southern acreage block in 2007 and have recently initiated production
testing. Initial results from our first well are encouraging. However, it is too early to reach any definitive
conclusions with regard to the first well, and the second well is just now being put on production. Drivers for -
future increased production may include several sources: new drilling, especially from the west side of the river
if initial positive results continue; the dewatering of the high water production wells; or from the commencement
of expected incline from the wells with relatively flat preduction.

We have constructed and operate an approximate 38.5-mile pipeline from the Cahaba Basin to the Black
Warrior River for the disposal of produced water under a permit issued by the Alabama Department of
Environmental Management. This pipeline had an initial design capacity of approximately 45,000 barrels of
water per day, but will require additional pump stations and looping a portion of the line in order to meet the
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maximum design capacity if needed. In October 2006. we executed a series of agreements with a privately held
company relating to our operations in the Cahaba Basin, under which we agreed to designate up to 50% of the
pipeline’s capacity to dispose of produced water from the company’s operations in the Gurnee field. Our fees
earned under the agreements are $0.35 per barrel of untreated produced water but may decline to $0.20 per barrel
of produced water if the operator chooses to treat its own produced water prior to sending it to GeoMet. The
disposal fees we generate are included in other revenues. We also operate a water treatment facility in the Gurnee
field to condition the produced water prior to injection into the pipeline and a discharge pond at the river to aerate
the water prior to disposal. We believe that our disposal pipeline and water treatment fucility wili meet all of our
future water disposal requirements for the Gurnee ficld,

Additionally, under these agreements, we have secured firm capacity rights on a high pressure gas gathering
pipeline which connects into Enbridge’s Magnolia Pipeline System. The acquired rights entitle us to transport
approximately 40 million cubic feet per day of coalbed methane gas at a fee of $0.05 per MMBtu actualty
gathered through the pipeline. We do not anticipate utilizing this capacity in the immediate future. This
agreement provides us with a second outlet for our gas produced from the Gurnee fieid. Together with our
existing capacity on the Southern Natural Gas Bessemer—Calera lateral, our total gas takeaway capacity is
expected to meet all of our future requirements.

We control and operate a 17.3-mile, 12-inch high pressure steel pipeline and a gas treatment and
compression facility through which we gather, dehydrate, and compress our gas for delivery into the Southern
Natural Gas pipeline system. As we control the gathering and delivery pipeline system, we incur no third party
costs 1o gather and deliver our gas to market.

Pond Creek

In the Pond Creek field in the central Appalachian Basin of southern West Virginia and southwestern
Virginia, we have the rights to develop approximately 35,000 net CBM acres. At December 31, 2007,
approximately 36% of our estimated proved reserves, or 126.5 Bef, were located within the Pond Creek field, of
which approximately 77% were classified as proved developed and we had developed approximately 42% of our
Pond Creek CBM acreage. As of December 31, 2007, we were the operator and own a 100% working interest in
212 productive wells and an average of 45% working interest in 4 productive wells in the Pond Creek field. Net
daily sales of gas averaged approximately 12.311 Mcf for 2007. At December 31, 2007, our undeveloped CBM
acreage in the Pond Creek field contained 68 net proved undeveloped locations and 186 additional drilling
locations, based predominantly on 60-acre spacing. In 2008. we intend to spend approximately $13 million of our
capital expenditure budget to drill 21 wells in the Pond Creek field.

We extract gas from up to an average of 12 coal seams within the Pocahontas and New River coal
formations at depths ranging from 430 feet to 2.400 feet. At these depths overall coal thickness in this area
ranges from 10 to 30 feet of low-medium volatile bittminous rank Pennsylvanian Age coal. Prior mining activity
revealed that these coal groups are gas rich. A total of 42 core holes have been drilled on and in the area of our
acreage in the central Appalachian Basin and a geographically extensive gas desorption testing program has been
conducted to determine the gas content of the coal and o define the coalbed methane resource under a substantial
portion of our leasehold position.

Qur gas from the Pond Creek field is gathered into our central dehydration and compression facility and
delivered into the Jewell Ridge pipeline system owned by East Tennessee Natural Gas, LLC (“ETNG”). In
January 2007, we executed two long-term firm transportation agreements with ETNG, which became effective
when our pipeline went in service on April 1, 2007, with total maximum daily quantities of 15,000 dth and
10,000 dth and primary terms of 15 years and 10 years, respectively.

Lasher

The Lasher field is located approximately 10 miles north of the Pond Creek field. At December 31, 2007,
we had drilled four wells at Lasher, and we plan to drill 15 wells in 2008. The geological setting at Lasher is very
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similar to Pond Creek except that the coal seams are slightly thinner and shallower. The Lasher field has two
significant advantages over Pond Creek in that a water disposal well and a major interstate pipeline are both
located on our {easehold. We have adequate firm transportation capacity on the pipeline and have recently
entered into an interconnect agreement, We believe that lower development costs, along with the operating
efficiencies associated with the close proximity of the water disposal well will allow us to achieve rates of return
at Lasher that are comparable to the Pond Creek field. In 2008, we intend to spend approximately $8.1 million of
our capital expenditure budget to dritl 15 wells and to connect these wells along with three of the existing wells
to a water and gas gathering system, which is to be installed along with a compressor station and a high pressure
gas sales line that will connect into an interstate pipeline that is located on the Lasher leasehold. The proximity of
the Lasher field to the Pond Creek field presents several advantages which helps reduce cost and provides
operational efficiencies. This includes using our Pond Creek project personnel, contractors and vendors to
conduct similar operations in the Lasher project.

Garden City

The Chattanocoga Shale, our target in north central Alabama, represents an opportunity in close proximity to
our existing operations and a natural step out for exploration and development. Based on our initial technical
evaluation using the data from several coreholes and gas desorption and other analyses of the cores, this shale
prospect has many similarities to our coalbed methane projects, because it is a large resource play at shaliow
depths with expected low finding and development costs, low production costs and long-lived reserves. Although
the production characteristics from shale may differ from coalbed methane, a shale play lends itself to multi-well,
multi-year drilling programs where drilling and completion and infrastructure costs can be driven down. Being
the first company to operate in this area has allowed us to amass a significant land position and to begin the
evaluation process to determine the Chattancoga Shale’s reservoir and production characteristics.

We have acquired approximately 59,000 gross acres of leasehold, we own a 100% working interest in the
leases and are the operator. The Chattancoga Shale is expected to be encountered at an average depth of 1,600 to
2,100 feet across the prospect area. We have drilled five core holes to determine the gas in place and the reservoir
properties of the shale. We have also drilled three production wells for the Garden City prospect. We plan to drill
at least three more production wells in 2008, at least one of which is expected to be a horizontal well. We are
continuing to lease additional acreage. Initial results have been encouraging but more drilling and production
testing is necessary before a decision to develop this prospect can be made. We plan to drill three wells in 2008
and spend approximately $4.1 million. The proximity of the Garden City prospect to the Gurnee field presents
several advantages which helps reduce cost and provides operational efficiencies. This includes using our Gurnee
project personnel, contractors and vendors to conduct similar operations in the Garden City prospect.

Peace River

The Peace River field is located in northeast British Columbia near the community of Hudson’s Hope. We
operate this project, which covers approximately 50,000 acres of Crown tenure (rights to earn leases), and own a
50% working interest. As of year-end we had dnilled 6 production wells, 4 coreholes and tested several water
disposal options. Pending the confirmation of adequate water disposal capacity, we plan to spend up to $9.1
million of capital in 2008 (net to our 50% working interest), to drill and complete five new wells, and connect
these wells along with three of the existing welis to a water and gas gathering system to be instalied with a gas
plant/compressor station, and a high pressure gas sales line which will connect into the Spectra gas transmission
line which crosses the property. Consultations with the affected First Nations continue and we hope to commence
gas sales from the Peace River field in the fourth quarter of 2008.

Critical Accounting Policies

QOur discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make assumptions and
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estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. We base our estimates on historical experiences and various other assumptions that we believe
are reasonable; however, actual results may differ. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to
our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report. We believe the following critical
accounting policies involve significant judgments, estimates, and a high degree of uncertainty in the preparation
of our financial statements:

Reserves. Our most significant financial estimates are based on estimates of proved gas reserves. Proved gas
reserves represent estimated quantities of gas that geological and engineering data demonstrate, with reasonable
certainty, o be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under economic and operating conditions
existing at the time the estimates were made. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities
of proved reserves and in projecting future revenues, rates of production, and timing of development
expenditures, including many factors beyond our control. The estimation process relies on assumptions and
interpretations of availahle geologic, geophysical, engineering, and production data and, the accuracy of reserve
estimates is a function of the quality and quantity of available data, engineering and geologic interpretation, and
judgment. In addition, as a result of changing market conditions, commeodity prices and future development costs
will change from year to year, causing estimates of proved reserves to also change. Estimates of proved reserves
are key components of our most significant financial estimates involving our unevaluated properties, our rate for
recording depreciation, depletion and amortization and our full cost ceiling limitation. Our reserves are fully
engineered on an annual basis by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, independent petroleum engineers.

Gas Properties. The method of accounting for gas properties determines what costs are capitalized and how
these costs are ultimately matched with revenues and expenses. We use the full cost method of accounting for gas
properties. Under this method, all direct costs and certain indirect costs associated with the acquisition, exploration,
and development of our gas properties are capitalized and segregated into U.S. and Canadian cost centers.

Gas properties are depleted using the unit-of-production method. The depletion expense is significantly
affected by the unamortized historical and future development costs and the estimated proved gas reserves.
Estimation of proved gas reserves relies on professional judgment and use of factors that cannot be precisely
determined. Holding all other factors constant, if proved gas reserves were revised upward or downward,
earnings would increase or decrease, respectively. Subsequent proved reserve estimates materially different from
those reported would change the depletion expense recognized during the future reporting period. No gains or
losses are recognized upon the sale or disposition of gas properties unless the sale or disposition represents a
significant quantity of gas reserves, which would have a significant impact on the depreciation, depletion and
amortization rate. '

Under full cost accounting rules, total capitalized costs are limited to a ceiling equal to the present value of
future net revenues, discounted at 10% per annum, plus the lower of cost or fair value of unevaluated properties less
income tax effects (the “ceiling limitation™). We perform a quarterly ceiling test to evaluate whether the net book
value of our full cost pool exceeds the ceiling limitation. The ceiling test is imposed separately for our U.S. and
Canadian cost centers, If capitalized costs (net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization) less related
deferred taxes are greater than the discounted future net revenues or ceiling limitation, a write-down or impairment
of the full cost pool is required. A write-down of the carrying value of the full cost pool is a non-cash charge that
reduces earnings and impacts stockholders’ equity in the period of occurrence and typically results in lower
depreciation, depletion and amortization expense in future periods. Once incurred, a write-down is not reversible at
a later date. The risk that we will be required to write down the carrying value of our gas properties increases when
gas prices are depressed, even if low prices are temporary. In addition, a write-down may occur if estimates of
proved gas reserves are substantially reduced or estimates of future development costs increase significantly.’

The ceiling test is calculated using natural gas prices in effect as of the balance sheet date and adjusted for
“basis” or location differential, held constant over the life of the reserves; however, as allowed by the SEC
guidelines, significant changes in gas prices subsequent to quarter end are used in the ceiling test. In addition,

37




subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, the future cash
outflows associated with settling asset retirement obligations were not included in the computation of the
discounted present value of future net revenues for the purposes of the ceiling test calculation.

Unevaluated Properties. The costs directly associated with unevaluated properties and properties under
development are not initially included in the amortization base and relate to unproved leasehold acreage. seismic
data, wells and production facilities in progress and wells pending determination together with interest costs
capitalized for these projects. Unevaluated leasehold costs are transferred to the amortization base once
determination has been made or upon expiration of a lease. Geological and geophysical costs associated with a
specific unevaluated property are transferred to the amortization base with the associated leasehold costs on a
specific project basis. Costs associated with wells in progress and wells pending determination are transferred to
the amortization base once a determination is made whether or not proved reserves can be assigned to the
property. All items included in our unevaluated property balance are assessed on a quarterly basis for possible
impatrment or reduction in value. Any impairments to unevaluated properties are transferred to the amortization
base.

Future Abandonment Costs. We have legal obligations to plug, abandon and dismantle existing wells and
facilities that we have acquired, constructed, or developed. Liabilities for asset retirement obligations are
recorded at fair value in the period incurred. Upon initial recognition of the asset retirement liability, the asset
retirement cost is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the long-lived asset by the same amount as the
liability. Asset retirement costs included in the carrying amount of the related asset are subsequently allocated to
expense as part of our depletion calculation. Additionally, increases in the discounted asset retirement liability
resulting from the passage of time are recorded as lease operating expense or capitalized.

Estimating the future asset retirement liability requires us to make estimates and judgments regarding
timing, existence of a liability, as well as what constitutes adequate restoration. We use the present value of
estimated cash flows related to our asset retirement obligations to determine the fair value. Present value
calculations inherently incorporate numerous assumptions and judgments. These include the ultimate retirement
and restoration costs, inflation factors, credit adjusted discount rates, timing of settlement, and changes in the
legal, regulatory, environmental and political environments. To the extent future revisions to these assumptions
impact the present value of the existing asset retirement liability, a corresponding adjustment will be made to the
carrying cost of the related asset,

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Our hedging activities consist of derivative instruments
entered into to hedge against changes in natural gas prices and changes in interest rates related to outstanding debt
under our credit facility primarily through the use of fixed price swap agreements, basis swap agreements,
three-way collars, and traditional collars. Consistent with our hedging policy, we entered into a series of derivative
instruments to hedge a significant portion of our expected natural gas production through 2008 and 2009. We also
entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge interest rates associated with a portion of our variable raie debt
through 2010. Typically, these derivative instruments require payments to (receipts from) counterparties based on
specific indices as required by the derivative agreements, These transactions are recorded in cur financial statements
in accordance with SFAS No. 133. “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (*“SFAS No.
1337}, Although not risk free, we believe this policy will reduce our exposure to commaodity price fluctuations and
changes in interest rates and thereby achieve a more predictable cash flow. As a result, our derivative instruments
are cash flow hedge transactions in which we are hedging the variability of cash flow related to a forecasted
transaction. We do not enter into derivative instruments for trading or other speculative purposes.

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended, all our derivative instruments are recorded on the balance
sheet at fair market value and changes in the fair market value of the derivatives are recorded each period in
current earnings for the natural gas derivatives or other comprehensive income for our interest rate swaps. The
natural gas derivatives have not been designated as hedge transactions while the interest rate swap qualifies and
has been designated as perfect hedge.
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At the inception of a derivative contract, we may designate the derivative as a cash flow hedge. For all
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, we document the relationship between the derivative instrument and
the hedged items as well as the risk management objective for entering into the derivative instrument. To be
designated as a cash flow hedge transaction, the relationship between the derivative and hedge items must be
highly effective in achieving the offset of changes in cash flows attributable to the risk both at the inception of
the derivative and on an ongoing basis.

Revenue Recognition. We derive revenue primarily from the sale of produced natural gas. We use the sales
method of accounting for the recognition of gas revenue. Because there is a ready market for natural gas, we sell
our natural gas shortly after production at various pipeline receipt points at which time title and risk of loss
transfers to the buyer. Revenue is recorded when title is transferred based on our net revenue interests. Gas sold
in production operations is not significantly different from our share of production based on our interest in the
properties.

Settlements of gas sales occur after the month in which the gas was produced. We estimate and accrue for
the value of these sales using information available at the time financial statements are generated. Differences are
reflected in the accounting period that payments are received from the purchaser.

Income Taxes. We record our income taxes using an asset and liability approach in accordance with the
provisions of the SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109 as clarified by FASB
[nterpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 487). This results in the recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the
book carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates at the end of the period.
Under SFAS 109, the effect of a change in tax rates of deferred tux assets and liabilities is recognized in the year
of the enacted change. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Estimating the amount of valuation allowance is dependent on estimates of future taxable income.
alternative minimum tax income, and changes in stockholder ownership that could trigger limits on use of net
operating losses under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. We have a significant deferred tax asset associated
with net operating loss (“NOL™)} carryforwards. It is more likely than not that we will use these NOL's to offset
current tax liabilities in future years (except our Canadian NOL's).

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
[ncome Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”) on January 1, 2007. FIN 438 clarifies
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements in accordance with
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, and prescribes a consistent threshold and measurement attribute
for financial statement recognition and disclosure of tax positions taken, or expected to be taken. on a tax return.
The adoption of this pronouncement did not have a significant impact on the Company s consolidated financial
statements

Stock Compensation.

Effective January 1, 2006. we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised),
Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”), using the prospective transition method. The application of SFAS
123(R) requires the use of a model similar to the Black Scholes model to measure the estimated fair value of the
options and as a result various assumptions must be made by management that require judgment and the
assumptions could be highly uncertain. The significant assumptions include the expected term. volatility, interest
rate and expected dividends. Due to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we expect our compensation expense related
to the granting of share-based awards subsequent to adoption 1o be higher than in prior periods. For awards
outstanding as of January 1, 2006, we will continue using the accounting principles originally applied to those
awards before adoption. Therefore, no equity compensation cost will be recognized on these awards in the future
unless such awards are modified, repurchased or cancelled.
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Natural Gas Production—Producing Fields Operations Summary

The table below presents information on gas revenues, sales volumes, production expenses and per Mcf data
for the years ended December 31. 2007, 2006 and 2005. This table should be read with the discussion of the
results of operations for the periods presented below.

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

GaS SlES - o e $49,694 $44.806 541,604

Lease operating eXpPenses . . ... ou ettt $13981 511,579 §$ 8,687

Compression and transportation eXpenses ... ...ttt i, 5,209 4,499 3,332

Production LaXes . .. .. .t e e e 1,164 1,037 914

Total production BXPENSES . ... .. vttt e $20,354 $17,115 $12.933

Net sales volumes (GeoMet) (MMcf) .. ... ... . i i 7,125 6,228 4,594
Pond Creek fleld (MMecf) . ... .. o oo 4.494 3,844 2,923
Gurnee field (MMcl) ... ... . e 2,235 1,950 1,182

Per Mcf data ($/Mcf):

Average natural gas sales price (GeoMet) .. ... ... .. oL, $ 697 § 719 $ 9.06
PondCreek field .. ... ... . .. .. .. $ 696 & 726 % 906
Gumee field .. ... ... . e $ 694 § 705 $ 914

Average natural gas sales price realized (GeoMet)(1) ... ... ... ... ... ... % 752 0§ 137 % 7143

Lease operating expenses (GeoMet) . ... ... .. i $ 196 $ 18 $ 1.89
Pond Creek field .. .. oo it e $§ 160 $ 154 % 152
Gurnee field .. ... .. $ 305 % 290 $ 355

Compression and transportation expenses (GeoMet) .............. ... ...... $ 073 % 072 § 0.72
Pond Creek field ... ... . o e .. 5,092 8§ 098 § 095
Gurnee fleld ... ... . . e $ 047 $§ 038 § 043

Production taxes (GeoMEL) ... ... et e $ 017 $ 017 $ 020
Pond Creek field .. ...................... ... e e $§ 001 $ 002 §$§ 002
Gurnee fleld .. ... ... . . e $ 041 $§ 041 $ 053

Total production expenses {GEOMet) . .. ... e $ 286 § 275 § 281
PondCreek field . .. ... ... .. . . . i $ 253 % 2354 § 250
Gurnee field ... . .. $ 393 § 368 % 452

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (GeoMet) ........................ $ 124 $ 126 § 1.06

(1) Average realized price includes the effects of realized gains and losses on derivative contracts.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2007 compared with Yea;' Ended December 31, 2006

The following are selected items derived from our Conselidated Statement of Operations and their
percentage changes from the comparable period are presented below.

Year Ended
December 31,
2007 2006 Change
(In thousands)
Gas SalES ... .. e e $49,694 $ 44806 11%
Lease Operating €XPENSES . . oottt e ettt e $13981 311,579 21%
Compression and (ransSportaAtion EXPENSES ... ..o vvvran et aeeann $ 5209 5 4,499 16%
ProdUCliON GaKES .« ot ettt e e $ 1,164 § 1,037 12%
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . ...t on.. $ 90092 $§ 7876 15%
General and adminisStrative . . ... ...t e $ 9294 § 6,553 42%
Realized gains on derivative contracts ............. .. ..ot $ 3835 § 1,118 NM
Unrealized (gains) losses from the change in market value of open derivative
a0 111 o £ $ 3,007 $(16,877) NM
Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized) ............ ... ... . ... .. ... $ 5130 $§ 3,130 64%
Income tax expense (benefit) . ... . . . i i e e $ 2987 $10,866 NM%
Discontinued operations . ......... .. e e $ 174 § — NM%

NM-Noi Meaningful

Gas sales. Gas sales increased by $4.9 million, or 11%, to $49.7 million compared to the prior year. The
increase in gas sales was a result of increased production, partially offset by lower average gas prices. Production
increased 14% while average gas prices, excluding hedging transactions, decreased 3%. The $4.9 million
increase in gas sales consisted of a $6.5 million increase in production and a $1.6 million decrease in average
prices. The increase in production was principally attributable to our Gurnee and Pond Creek development
activities.

Lease operating expenses. Lease operating expenses increased by $2.4 million, or 21% to $14.0 million.
The $2.4 million increase in lease operating expenses consisted of $1.7 million increase in production and $0.7
million increase in costs. The increase in costs is related to an increase in well service activities from the prior
year period.

Compression and transportation expenses. Compression and transportation expenses increased by $0.7
million, or 16%, to $5.2 miltion ($2.6 million each for both compression and transportation). The $0.7 million
increase was comprised of a $0.5 million increase in compression expenses due to increased production and a
$0.2 million increase in transportation expenses due to increased production offset by a decrease in the actual per
Mcf transportation expenses due to the certain gas transported on our own system in 2007,

Production taxes. Production taxes increased by $0.127 million, or 12%, to $1.164 million. The production
taxes increase of $0.127 million was primarily due to increased production, partially offset by lower average gas
prices.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased by $1.2
million, or 15%, to $9.1 million. The depreciation, depletion and amortization increase of $1.2 million resulted
from the increase in production, There were no significant changes in the depletion rate in 2007.

General and administrarive. General and administrative expenses increased by $2.7 million, or 42%, to $9.3
million. The increase in general and administrative expenses was a result of increases in employee expenses
(15%), professional services (94%), director and investor relations expenses (139%), insurance expense
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(74%) and office expenses and business taxes (6%). The largest dollar increase was in employee expenses and
professional services that resulted from the increased audit, Sarbanes Oxley, tax and legal services. The increase
in general and adminisirative expenses was a result of expanding the overhead structure to support our growth
and increased costs of being a public company.

Realized guins on derivative contracts. Realized gains on derivative contracts increased by $2.8 million to
$3.9 million compared to a gain of $1.1 million in the prior period. Realized losses represent net cash flow
settlements paid to the counterparty while realized gains represent net cash flow settlement paid 1o us from the
counterparty. Realized losses occur when commodity gas prices or the derivative index price exceeds the
derivative ceiling price. Conversely, realized gains occur when commodity gas prices go below the derivative
floor price,

Unrealized (gains} losses from the change in market value of open derivative contracts. Unrealized (gains)
losses from the change in market value of open derivative contracts generated a $3.0 million loss as compared to
a $16.9 million gain in the prior period. Unrealized losses and gains are non-cash transactions that occur when
the corresponding asset or liability derivative contracts are marked to market at the end of each reporting period.
Unrealized gains are recognized when the fair values of derivative assets increase or the fair value of derivative
liabilities decrease. Unrealized losses are recognized when the fair values of derivative assets decrease or the fair
value of derivative liabilities increase. The $3.0 million loss was a result of increased future commodity gas
prices,

Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized). Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized) increased by $2
million, or 64%, to $5.1 million. The increase was primarily due to higher outstanding debt and higher interest
rates. Capitalized interest totaled $0.6 million and $1.0 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Income tax expense (benefit). Income tax expense decreased by $7.9 million to $3.0 million, The decrease in
income lax expense for the current period was due to decreased pretax income compared to the prior period. In
addition, the effective tax rate decreased for the current year to 37% from 39% in the comparable prior period.
The principal driver for the difference in the effective tax rate was due to lower stale income taxes resulting from
state apportionment factor shifting.

Discontinued operations. In September of 2007, we discontinued the third party marketing business and
second reportable segment which had been created in connection with the consolidation of Shamrock Energy
LLC, a variable interest entity under FIN 46 (R) on August 1. 2006. The consolidation of the variable interest
entity had no impact on our net income due to the 100% minority interest to Shamrock Energy LLC. On
January 1, 2007, we acquired Shamrock Energy LLC as a wholly owned subsidiary and the consolidation of this
wholly owned subsidiary had an insignificant impact on our net income. As a result of exiting our third party
marketing business, we are treating these activities as a discontinued operation for all the periods presented.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2006 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2005

The following are selected items are derived from our Consolidated Statements of Operations and their
percentage changes from the comparable period are presented below.

Year Ended

December 31,
2006 2008 Change

(In thousands)
Gas SA18S o ot $ 44,806 $41,604 8%
Lease operating eXpenses . ... ... ... $11.579 § 8,688  33%
Compression and ransportation €Xpenses . ... ..vu e ve e ennnorenaraens $ 4499 §$ 3332 35%
PrOdUCHION XES . ... ot e e e $ 1037 § 914 13%
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . ........... .. ... .. . 0 e ns. $ 7876 $ 4867 62%
General and adminiStrative ... e e $ 6553 $ 3208 104%
Realized (gains) losses on derivative contracts ... ..........ooiveni oo, $(L118) § 7473 NM

Unrealized (gains} losses from the change in market value of open derivative

0811 o1 -3 $(16,877) $12,059 NM
Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized) .............. ... ... oL $ 3,130 $ 3395 (200%
Income Lax expense (benefit) . ... ... $10,866 $ (993) NM
Discontinued OPErAliONS ... ...ttt et et $ 9~ 5 442 NM

NM-Not Meaningful

Gas sales. Gas sales increased by $3.2 million, or 8%, to $44.8 million compared to the prior year. The
increase in gas sales was a result of increased production, partially offset by lower average gas prices. Production
increased 36% while average gas prices. excluding hedging transactions, decreased 20%. The $3.3 million
increase in gas sales consisted of a $14.8 million increase in production and an $11.5 million decrease in average
prices. The increase in production was principally attributable to our Gurnee and Pond Creek development
activities.

Lease operating expenses. Lease operating expenses increased by $2.9 million, or 33% to $1 1.6 million.
The $2.9 million increase in lease operating expenses consisted of $3.1 million increase in production and $0.2
million decrease in costs. The increase in costs is related to an increase in well service activities from the prior
year period. '

Compression and transportation expenses. Compression and transportation expenses increased by $1.2
million, or 35%, to $4.5 million. The $1.2 million increase in compression and transportation expenses was
driven entirely by the increase in production,

Production tuxes. Production taxes increased by $0.123 million, or 13%, to $1.0 million. The production
taxes increase of $0.123 million was primarily due to increased production, partially offset by lower average gas
prices.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased by $3.0
mitlion, or §2%. to $7.9 million. The depreciation, depletion and amortization increase of $4.5 million consisted
of a $3.3 million increase in depletion rate and a $1.2 million increase in production. The increase in the
depletion rate was primarily due to $48.0 million added to the net book value of gas properties due to a purchase
accounting adjustment related to the acquisition of the minority interest stock in a subsidiary on April 2005 and
increased future development costs. Future development costs increased due to increased proved undeveloped
wells and higher costs of drilling.

General and administrarive. General and administrative expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 104%, to $6.6
million. The increase in general and administrative expenses was a result of increases in employee expenses (22%).
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professional services (466%), director and investor relations expenses (100%), insurance expense (176%) and office
expenses and business taxes (56%). This increase was partially offset by increased capitalized general and
administrative expenses recoveries (17%) related to field, operating recoveries and capitalized general and
administrative expenses. The largest dollar increase was in employee expenses and professional services that
resulted from the increased audit, Sarbanes Oxley, tax and legal services. The increase in general and administrative
expenses was a result of expanding the overhead structure to support our growth and increased costs of being a
public company.

Reualized (gains) losses on derivative contracts. Realized (gains) losses on derivative confracts increased by
$8.6 million to a gain of $1.1 million compared to a loss of $7.5 million in the prior period. Realized losses
represent net cash flow settlements paid to the counterparty while realized gains represent net cash flow
settlement paid to us from the counterparty. Realized losses occur when commodity gas prices or the derivative
index price exceeds the derivative ceiling price. Conversely, realized gains occur when commodity gas prices go
below the derivative floor price. '

Unrealized (gains) losses from the change in market value of open derivative contracts. Unrealized (gains)
losses from the change in market value of open derivative contracts generated a $16.9 million gain as compared
to a $12.1 million loss in the prior period. Unrealized losses and gains are non-cash transactions that cccur when
the corresponding asset or liability derivative contracts are marked to market at the end of each reporting period.
Unrealized gains are recognized when the fair values of derivative assets increase or the fair value of derivative
liabilities decrease. Unrealized losses are recognized when the fair values of derivative assets decrease or the fair
value of derivative liabilities increase. The $16.9 million gain was a result of decreased future commodity gas
prices.

Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized). Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized) decreased by
$0.765 miillion, or 20%, to $3.1 million. The decrease was primarily due to lower outstanding bank balances and
was partially offset by higher interest rates. Capitalized interest totaled $1.0 million and $0.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Income tax expense (benefit). Income tax expense (benefit) resulted in an expense of $10.9 million in the
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to a benefit of $0.993 million in the prior period. The increase in
income tax expense for the year was due to (1) pretax income versus a pretax loss in the prior period and (2) an
increase in the effective tax rate for the year to 39% from 33% in the prior period as a result of certain state taxes
not previously included in prior periods and the related cumulative non-cash adjustment of $0.406 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows and Liquidity

Cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $17.5 million and $21.7
miilion, respectively. Cash flow provided by operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 of $17.5 million
combined together with $36 million borrowed from our revolving credit facility and $0.5 million from other
sources were sufficient to fund our cash basis capital expenditures of $54 million.

As of December 31, 2007, we had a working capital deficit of approximately $2.1 million, a decrease of
$0.5 million from the working capital deficit of $1.6 million at December 31, 2006. The decrease in the working
capital was primarily a result of capital expenditures. At December 31, 2007, we had adequate cash flows from
operating activities and credit availability to fund our working capital deficits.

The development of CBM fields requires substantial initial investment before meaningful production and
resulting cash flows are realized. Among the factors that can be expected to affect our cash flows and liquidity
are the characteristics of the field, the amount of water produced, the methods utilized to dispose of produced
water, and the timing and volume of initial and subsequent natural gas production. We estimate total capital
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expenditures in 2008 wiil be approximately $48.8 million with approximately 79% allocated to development
projects, representing a decrease of approximately $5.1 million under our actual 2007 capital expenditures. The
2008 estimated capital expenditures are primarily attributable to continued development expenditures a1 Peace
River, Pond Creek, Lasher, Cahaba and Garden City. As of December 31, 2007 we have approximately $84
million of available borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility. The following table is a summary of
our capital expenditures on an accrual basis by category:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
Capital expenditures:
Leasehold acquisition . .......... .. . o e $ 7333 %8975 §% 2012
EXPIOTation . ... .. o e e 2,999 7,626 8.620
Development ... ... .. e e 44831 062,211 46,397
Other items (primarily capitalized overhead and interest} .. .............. 4,649 2,781 2173
Total capital eXpenditlires . ... ...ttt et $59.812 $81,593 $59,202

Capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2007 decreased by 27% from the prior year. We
expect capital expenditures to decrease in 2008 by 18% from the 2007 levels, The decrease in 2007 and 2008 is
primarily attributable to decreased development expenditures at our Gurnee field and Pond Creek field partially
offset by increased expenditures in our other prospects. The decisions to reduce drilling activity in 2007 and 2008
were made for several reasons: 1) to keep our bank debt at acceptable levels, 2) 1o allow time (o evaluate
production results at the Gurnee field, 3) to provide additional capital for our other prospects and, 4) as a result of
the Pond Creek field litigation. The development of coalbed methane fields requires substantial initial investment
before meaningful production and resulting cash flows are realized. Among the factors that can be expected to
affect our cash flows and liquidity are the characteristics of the field, the amount of water produced, the methods
utilized to dispose of produced water, the transportation alternatives, and the timing and volume of initial and
subsequent natural gas production volumes.

The development of coalbed methane fields requires substantial initial investment before meaningful
production and resulting cash flows are realized. Among the factors that can be expected to affect our cash flows
and liquidity are the characteristics of the field, the amount of water produced, the methods utilized 10 dispose of
produced water, the transportation alternatives, and the timing and volume of initial and subsequent natural gas
production volumes.

Based upon current expectations, we believe that we will have adequate resources from cash flows provided
by operations and from proceeds from our revolving credit facility borrowings to fund our 2008 capital
expenditures and other working capital needs.

If natural gas commodity prices decrease from their current levels for an extended period, our ability to
finance our planned capital expenditures could be affected negatively. Furthermore, amounts available for
borrowing under our revolving credit facility are largely dependent on our level of estimated proved reserves and
current natural gas prices. If either our estimated proved reserves or natural gas prices decrease, amounts
available to us to borrow under our revolving credit facility could be negatively affecied. If our cash flows are
less than anticipated, amounts available for borrowing under our revolving credit facility are reduced or we are
unable to sell equity at acceptable prices, we may be forced to defer planned capital expenditures.

Commodity Price Risk and Related Hedging Activities,

We engage in commodity price risk and related hedging activities from time to time. These activities are
intended to manage our exposure to {luctuations in the price of natural gas. We have historically used swaps,
costless collars and three-way costless collars in our hedging activities. Swaps exchange floating price risk in the
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future for a fixed price at the time of the hedge. Costless collars set both a maximum ceiling and a minimum
floor future price. Three-way costless collars are similar to regular costless collars except that, in order to
increase the ceiling price, we agree to limit the amount of the floor price protection to a predetermined amount,
generally between $2.00 and $3.00 per MMBtu. [n accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended, all our
derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair market value and changes in the fair market value
of the derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings. The natural gas derivatives have not been
designated as hedge transactions under SFAS No. {33, as amended.

Currently, we use collars and fixed-price swaps as our mechanism for hedging commodity prices. During
the year ending December 31, 2007, the Company recognized gains on derivative contracts of $888,222, which
included realized gains of $3,895,138. During the year ending December 31, 2006. the Company recognized
gains on derivative contracts of $17,993,268, which included realized gains of $1,118,043. During the year
ending December 31, 2005, the Company recognized losses on derivative contracts of $19,532,212, which
included realized losses of $7.473,004.

At December 31, 2007 and at December 31, 2006, the fair values of open natural gas contracts were assets
of approximately $2.3 million and $5.3 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2007, the Compuny had the following natural gas'collar positions:

Yolume Sold Sold Bought
Period ‘ (MMBtu) Cetling  Floor Floor
Collars (3 way)
January 2008—March 2008 ... ... . 728,000 $14.80 $6.00 $9.00
Summer 2008 . ... e 1,712,000 $10.50 $5.00 $7.00
Winter 200872009 . ... e 906,000 $11.00 $6.25 $8.50
Summer 2000 . e 1,284,000 $t0.00 $5.25 $7.50
Traditional Collar
January 2008—March 2008 ... ... L 364,000 $11.25 $8.25

At December 31, 2007, we had the following natural gas swap position:
Volume in

Period MMBuw's ~ Price
SUMMETr 2008 . . . e e e 856,000 $8.00

We use a sensitivity analysis technique to evaluate the hypothetical effect that changes in the market of
natural gas may have on the fair value of our natural gas derivative instruments. At December 31, 2007, the
potential change in the fair value of our derivative contracts assuming a 10% increase in the underlying
commodity price was a $2.7 million decrease in the unrealized gain on derivative contracts reported on our
unaudited consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the three months ended
December 31, 2007.

Interest Rate Risks and Related Hedging Activities

When we enter into an interest rate swap, we may designate the derivative as a cash flow hedge, at which
time we prepare the documentation required under SFAS No. 133. Hedges of our interest rate are designated as
cash flow hedges based on whether the interest on the underlying debt is converted to a fixed interest rate.
Changes in derivative fair values that are designated as cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss 1o the extent that they are effective and then recognized in earnings when the
hedged transactions occur.
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We use fixed rate swaps to limit our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with the objective of realizing
a fixed cash flow stream from these activities. A summary of the impacts of our cash flow hedges included in
other comprehensive income, net of tax, as of December 31, 2007 follows:

Other
Designated comprehensive
Effective maturity Fixed Naotional income, net of
Description date date rate amount tax
Floating-to-fixed swap ................. 12/14/2007  12/14/2010  3.86%(1) $15,000,000  $10,884

(1) The floating rate paid by the counterparty is the British Bankers’ Association LIBOR rate.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, we recognized no ineffective portion of our cash flow hedges. On
January 3, 2008, the Company entered an interest rate swap at an interest rate of 3.95% and a notional amount of
$10,000,000 maturing January 4, 2010.

We have reviewed the financial strength of our hedge counterparties and believe our credit risk to be
minimal. Our hedge counterparties are participants in our credit agreement and the collateral for the outstanding
borrowings under our credit agreement is used as collateral for our hedges.

Revolving Credit Facility

In June 2006, we entered into a $180 million amended and restated credit agreement with Bank of America,
N.A., as agent, and other lenders, Availability under our credit agreement is subject to a borrowing base, which is
currently set at $180 million. The borrowing base is subject to semi-annual redeterminations. The lenders also
have the right to require one additional redetermination in any fiscal year. Qur credit agreement provides for
interest to accrue at a rate calculated, at our option, at either the adjusted base rate (which is the greater of the
agent’s base rate or the federal funds rate plus one half of one percent) or the London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) plus a margin of 1.00% to 2.009%, based on borrowing base usage. Borrowings under our credit
agreement are secured by first priority licns on substantially all of our assets including equity interests in our
subsidiaries. All outstanding borrowings under our credit agreement become due and payable on January 6, 2011,

We are subject to financial covenants requiring maintenance of a minimum current ratio and a minimum
interest coverage ratio. Our ratio of consolidated current assets (defined to include amounts available under our
borrowing base) to our consolidated current Tiabilities is not permitted to be less than | to 1 as of the end of any
fiscal quarter, and our ratic of consolidaled EBITDA for the four preceding quarters at the end of each fiscal
quarter to the sum of our consolidated net interest expense for the same period plus letter of credit fees accruing
during such quarter is not permitted to be less than 2.75 to 1. Consotidated EBITDA as defined in the amended
credit agreement excludes other non-cash charges deducted in determining net income (loss), which would
include unrealized losses from the change in the market value of open derivative contracts. In addition, we are
subject to covenants restricting or prohibiting cash dividends and other restricted payments, transactions with
affiliates, incurrence of debt, consolidations and mergers, the level of operating leases, assets sales, investments
in other entities, and liens on properties. A breach of any of the covenants imposed on us by the terms of our
revolving credit facility, including the financial covenants, could result in a default under such indebtedness. In
the event of a default, the lenders could terminate their commitments to us, and they could accelerate the
repayment of all of our indebtedness, In such case, we may not have sufficient funds to pay the total amount of
accelerated obligations, and our lenders could proceed against the collateral securing the facility, Any
acceleration in the repayment of our indebtedness or related foreclosure could adversely affect our business. As
of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all of the covenants in the credit agreement.

In addition, the borrowing base under our revolving credit facility is redetermined semi-annually and may
be redetermined at other times upon request by the lenders under certain circumstances. Redeterminations are
based upon a number of factors, including commodity prices and reserve levels. Using our December 31, 2007
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reserve report, the borrowing base was reaffirmed at $180 million as of February 29, 2008. The next scheduled
redetermination is to occur as of June 30, 2008. Upon a redetermination, we could be required to repay a portion
of our bank debt. We may not have sufficient funds to make such repayments, which could result in a default
under the terms of the revolving credit facility and an acceleration of our indebtedness.

At December 31, 2007, we had $96 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility. Interest on the
borrowings averaged 6.29% per annum. Borrowing availability at December 31, 2007 was $34 million. All of the
debt outstanding under our revolving credit facility accrues interest at floating or market rates. Fluctuations in
markelt interest rates will cause our interest costs to fluctuate. Based upon the balance outstanding under our
revolving credit facility at December 31, 2007, a 1% change in market interest rates would have increased
interest expense and negatively impacted our annual cash flows by approximately $810,000. Note that $15
million of outstanding balance was excluded from the analysis due to lack of interest rate exposure based on the
interest rate swap discussed above.

Contractual Commitments

We have numerous contractual commitments in the ordinary course of business, debt service requirements
and operating lease commitments. The following table summarizes these commitments at December 31, 2007,
beginning January 1, 2008 (in thousands):

2012 and

2008 2009 2010 2011 thereafter

Long-term debt and other obligations(1) . ................ $ 103 % 112 $ 122 $96,133 § 363
Interest expense on revolving credit facility(2) . ........... 6,042 6,042 6,042 83 _—

Operating lease obligations 1,629 1,421 1,294 1,294 1,082

Asset retirement obligations . ... ... oo 74 — — _ 2,481

Firm transportation contracts . . . ......... . .....oiian. 2,526 2,526 2,442 1,908 10,512
Other operating commitments(3) ...................... 3,279 171 — — —
FINAB(d) .. i e et e e — — — — —

Total COMMItMENS ...\ ittt e $13,653 $10272 $9,900 $99.418 $14,438

(1) Maturities based on the June 2006 amended bank credit agreement terms, which extended the maturity date
to January 6, 2011,

(2) Assumes an annual rate on a 30-day LIBOR of 4.79% plus the current 1.50% margin for a total interest rate
of 6.29%, net of swap recoveries.

(3) Includes a purchase price adjustment of $3,000,000 related to the 2004 acquisition of working interest in
certain wells, primarily in the Pond Creek field.

(4} As of December 31, 2007, we had a liability for unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $273K. We are
unable to reliably estimate the timing and amount of any payments related to this liability because there are
currently no outstanding unpaid assessments from any tax authority, and it is likely that assessments would
be offset by existing deferred tax attributes as they arise.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 requires that we recognize the financial
statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than
not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the
amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood
of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority We adopted the provisions of FIN 438
on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we identified 269,900 of unrecognized tax
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benefits, largely related to depletion methods used in years prior to 2006 from net deferred assets. There was no
cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings, our financial condition or results of operations as a result of
implementing FIN 48. The amount of unrecognized tax benefit did not materially change as of December 31,
2007.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No, 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157"). SFAS 157
establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and
requires additional disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies only to fair value measurements
that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not expect SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position or results of operations upon adoption. '

On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of FASB 115, (“FASB 159”). This standard permits
an entity to measure financial instruments and certain other items at estimated fair value. Most of the provisions
of FASB 159 are elective; however, the amendment to FASB 1135, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities,” applies to all entities that own trading and available-for-sale securities. The fair value
option created by FASB 159 permits an entity to measure eligible items at fair value as of specified election
dates. The fair value option (a) may generally be applied instrument by instrument, (b) is irrevocable unless a
new election date occurs, and (¢} must be applied to the entire instrument and not to only a portion of the
instrument. FASB 159 is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15,
2007, Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of the previous fiscal year provided that the entity {i) makes
that choice in the first 120 days of that year, (ii) has not yet issued financial statements for any interim period of
such year, and (iii} elects to apply the provisions of FASB 157, Fair Value Measurements. We do not believe
there will be a material impact related to the implementation of FASB 159 on our financial statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We began exploratory operations in Canada in the fourth quarter of 2004 and do not have operations in any
other foreign countries. We do not hedge our foreign currency risk and are exposed to foreign currency exchange
rate risk in the Canadian dollar. Because our Canadian project is not yet producing, the effect of changes in the
exchange rate dees not impact our revenues or expenses but primarily affects the costs of unevaluated properties.
We continue to monitor the foreign currency exchange rate in Canada and may implement measures to protect
against the foreign currency exchange rate risk in the future.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Commodiry Risk. Our major commodity price risk exposure is to the prices received for our natural gas
production. Realized commodity prices received for our production are the spot prices applicable to natural gas.
Prices received for natural gas are volatile and unpredictable and are beyond our control. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, a 10% fluctuation in the prices received for natural gas production would have had an
approximate $2.7 million impact on our revenues.

Interest Rate Risk. We have long-term debt subject to the risk of loss associated with movements in interest
rates. As of December 31, 2007, we had $81 million of variable rate long-term debt outstanding due in January
2011. This variable rate obligation exposes us to the risk of increased interest expense in the event of increases in
short-term interest rates. The impact on annual cash flow of a 10% change in the floating rate applicable to our
variable rate debt would be approximately $0.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of GeoMet, Inc. (the “Company™), including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the Company. The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company’s Management and Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of
published financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based
on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission, Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.

/s! J. DARBY SERE /sf WiLLIAM C. RANKIN
J. Darby Seré William C. Rankin
Chiet Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Houston, Texas
March 14, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GeoMet, Inc.
Houston, TX

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GeoMet, Inc and subsidiaries (the “Company™)
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements operations, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. We also have
audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal contro!l over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the
company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal contro! over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to etror or fraud may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of GeoMet, Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based
on the criteria established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertain in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB
Statement Ne. 109 on January 1, 2007. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment” on January 1, 2006.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, TX
March 14, 2008
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GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2007 2006
ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cashand cashequivalents .. ... ... . . . . i it $ 1,540,516 3% 1414476

Accounts teceivable .. ... s 4,881,397 10,881,479

IV EMEOTY . . L . e 2,355,595 —

[T L T LT3t AN 2,247,248 4,290,599

OUher CUITENE @SSBIS . . . o\ttt et e vt e et ee e i e e e as 484.341 729,234
Total CUFTENE ASSEES . . oo\ttt vt i e et e ie ettt e st n e na i ir e 11,509,097 17,315,788
Gas properties—utilizing the full cost method of accounting:

Proved gas properties ... ... ... ..t s 370,404,336 310,011,154

Unevaluated gas properties, not subject 1o amortization ... ....................... 25,174,764 26,397,982
Other property and eqUIPIMENL . .. ..ot e e e e 2,536,619 2,314,190
Total property and eqUIPIMENE . .. ... ...t i e 398,115,719 338,723,326

Less accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization . ...................... (31.886,633)  (22,849.,903)
Property and eqUiPmMENt—DEl . . . ... oottt e 366,229,086 315,873,423
Other noncurrent assets:

DEriVITIVE @SSET . o v vttty ie e i e v e e e e 90,427 1,043,108

01T P 848,816 962,447
Total Other NONCUITENT ASSEIS . .. .o ottt ettt ettt et et ee e e i 639,243 2,005,555
TOTAL ASSET S o e e e $378,677,426 3335,194,766

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable .. ... ... e e $ 7536274 § 14284921

Accrued Babilities . .. ... oo 5,087,871 2,917,575

Deferred income taXes ... ... .. . i e 770,675 1,570,684

Asset retirement llability . ... oo o o 74,387 73,047

Current portion of long-termdebt .. ......... ... ... . 102,586 94,177
Total current Habilities . . ... ... i i e 13,571,793 18,940,404
Long-termdebt ... ... ... 96,729,722 60.832.110
Asset retirement Bability . .. ..o i 2,915,855 2,480,754
Other long-term accrued liabilities . .. .. ... . o i e 138,471 154,455
Deferred INCOME LaXES . ...ttt e ettt e e e 46,645,879 42,775,537
TOTAL LIABILITIES ... .. i 160,001,720 125,187,260

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15}

Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value—authorized 10,000,000, none issued . ... .......... — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value—authorized 125,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 38,962,359 and 38,678,713 at December 31, 2007 and December 31,

2006, FeSPECHVELY . o vttt e e e e 38,962 38,679
Paid-in €apilal . .. ... 187,550,484 186,852,852
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ........... ... oo i i 2,394,001 (193,388)
Retained earmings ...t e e 28,909,363 23,740,144
Less notes receivable . ... .. e e e e (217,104} (430,281)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY ... o i i i e i ea i 218,675.706 210,007,506
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY ... ... ... .oty $378,677.426  $335,194,766

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

53




GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2007 2006 2005
Revenues:
Gassales ... ... $49.694,489 $ 44,805,876 $41.604,342
Operating fees and other . ... . e 1,289,575 140,922 175,509
TOll TEVETIUES . o\t e et ettt e e e e e e e e e e 50.984,064 44,946,798 41979851
Expenses:
Lease operating @XPense .. ... vttt ittt i e 13,981,093 11,579,112 8.687.550
Compression and tragsportation expense ..................c..uvenn. 5,209,206 4,498,850 3,332,045
ProdUCHOn XES . . . oot it et e e 1.164,159 1,037.4061 913,885
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .. ............ ... ... ..... 9,091,610 7.876.212 4,867,134
Research and development ..., .. ... ... ... . i — 129,085 608,477
General and administrative ... ... ... .. ... e 9,294,279 6.552.947 3.207.992
Realized (gains) losses on derivative contracts .............coveneenn (3.895.138) (1.118.043) 7.473,004
Unrealized (gains) losses from the change in market value of open
derivative CORLIACES © . ottt e e e e e e e e e 3,006,916 (16877,225) 12,059,208
Total operating eXpenses . .. ... v v i e e 37,852,125 13,678,339 41,149,295
Operating income from continuing operations . .........c...covveeeninan. 13,131,939 31,268,459 830.556
Other income (expense):
LS IO . . .ttt 39,341 33,149 76,569
Interest expense (net of amounts capitalized) . ............. ... ... ... (5,129,847 (3,130,005)  (3.894,550)
OURET o e e (58,589) (9,773) (21,366)
Total other INCOME (EXPENSE). . .. ittt it e e et e (5,149.095) (3.106.629)  (3.839.347)
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest & discontinued
OPEFALIONS . .o o ot ettt et et e e e e e 7,982,844 28,161,830 (3,008,791}
Income tax expense (benefit) ... ... ... ... . . i 2,987,407 10,865,614 (993,174)
Income (loss) before minority interest & discontinued operations . ........... 4,995.437 17.296,216 (2,015,617}
Discontinued operations:
Discontinued operations, netof tax ......... .. ... . ... e 173,782 22,535 —
Minorty interest, netof tax ... .. - (22.535) 442,336
Income from discontinued operations .. ........ .. ... .. L el 173,782 — 442,336
Netincome (J058) ... . it i et e e e $ 5169219 $17.296216 $(1,573281)
Earnings per Share:
Income from continuing operations
Basic ... e e 5 0.13 049 % (0.07)
Diluted............ O $ 013 3% 048 § {0.07)
Discontinued operations
BaSIC L e $ — — 5 —
Dilued . . . $ —  § — 3 —
Net income per comnion share
BasiC .. e $ 0.13 049 3 (0.07)
Diluted . . ... e $ 0.13 § 048 3 (0.07)
Weighted average number of common shares:
Bas e .o e e 38,822,671 35,018,122 28,164,546
Diluted . . .. e 39.699.694 35964301 28164946

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GEOMET, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Common
Stock Common
Par Value  Stock Accumulated
$0.001 Par Other Total
(shares Yalue Paid-in  Comprehensive Retained Notes Stockholders®
outstanding) $0.001 Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Receivable Equity
Balance at January 1,2005 ... ... .. 24,000,000 $24.000 § 59.848451 § 2,119 $!11,017,209 § (5.200,000) $ 65691779
Exercise of options .. ............... 1,456,668 1,457 11,131,068
Exercise of stock options ............ 79,228 79 08,840
Common stock issued .............. 4,438,768 4439  33.918,848 (10,905,144)
Accrued interest on notes receivable . .. 1,411,708 (1,411,708)
Common stock dividends ($0.125 per
shire) ... e e s (3,000,000)
Comprehensive income:
Netingome ............... .00 (1,573.281) $ (1,573,281)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of income tax of
$O . 54,191
Total comprehensive
MCOME ..o, 54,191 § (1,519,090}
Balance at December 31,2005 . . .. ... 29974664 $29975 $106408915 § 36,310 $ 6443928 $(17.516,852) $ 95422276
Sale of common stock, 144A and
PO . 8,067,023 8.067 81479741
Exercise of stock options ............ 637,026 637 £,122,255
Offeringecosts . ... iians (2,996,890)
Stock-based compensation . ... ... ... t.328.784
Payments on notes receivable ..._. ... 17,184,357
Accrued interest on notes receivable . . . (489,953) (97,786}
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ................... 17,296,216 3 17,296.216
Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of income tax of )
O (250,198) (250.198)
Total comprehensive
INCOme ................ 17,046,018

Balance at December 31,2006 . . . .., . 38.678,713 338,679 $186,852.852

$ (193,888)

$23.740,144 §  (430,281) $210,007.506

Restricted stock awards .............
Exercise of stock options .......... ..
Stock-based compensation .. .........
Purchase of treasury stock (7,828
shares)
Payments on notes receivable
Accrued interest on nofes receivable | ..
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ...................
Gatn on interest rate swap .......
Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of income tax of
O

Total comprehensive
INCOME ........c.c.....

178,081 178
105,565 105

(178)
224,660
526,575

(70.452)

17,027

10,884

2,577.005

66,070
164,134
(17,027)

5,169,219 5,169.219

b 10,884

2,577,005

$ 7757108

Balance at December 31,2007 .. .. ... 38,962,359  $38,962 $187,550,484  $2.394 001

$28,909.363 8 (217,104) $218,675.706

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Cash flows provided by operating activities:
Netincome (JO8S) ..ot e e e i $ 5169219 $ 17,296,216 $ (1,573,281)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (foss) to net cash flows
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization .................... 9.265,167 8,033,265 5,015,767
Amortization of debt issuance costs . .......... [ 146,280 136,394 185,672
MINOMty INEresl . . ... oottt e — _— (442,336)
Deferred income taxes ... ... .t e 3,066,333 10,737.531 (1,001,946)
Unrealized (gains) losses from the change in market value of open
dertvative contracts (including premium amortization) ... ..... 3,000,916 (16,877,225} 12,059,208
Stock-based compensation . ... ... ..o 311,482 317,298 —
(Gain) loss on sale of otherassets .......................... (64.834) (7,861 21,366
ACCTEUON €XPENSE .. ottt ittt et et ie e i 209,850 157,342 98,328
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accountsreceivable ... e 6,111,907 (5,323,795) (2,078,553)
OHher Current asS IS . ... v r e e s i ir e e (2,348,588) (233.821) (45,555)
Accountspayable . ... ... ... ... ...l 244 892 5,836.535 (184,511)
Accrued income tax payable ... ... oo (6.709,656) — (40,000)
Other accrued liabilities . ...... .. .. .o (922,101) 1,400,201 418,679
Net cash provided by operating activities . ....................... 17,486,867 21,472,080 12,432,838
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Capital expenditures (including lease acquisitions) . ............ (54,026,382) (79,060,608) (59.817.472)
Proceeds fromsale of assets .. ... . oo 126,285 204917 6,739
Restricted cash .. .. ..o — 130,243
Collectionof notes receivable .......... ... ............... —
L 1= g T 67,927 186,553 19,204
Net cash used in investing activities ........... ... oivivenunn. (53,832,170) (78,669,138} (59.661,286)
Cash flows provided by financing activities:
Deblissuance COSIS . oo v ittt i i i it e e {100,000} (341,730} (114,882)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . ...... ... ... ....... 224,765 1,122 892 326,298
Equity offedng costs . ....... ... . i — (2,280,447 (716,443)
Proceeds from sales of commonstock ....................... — 81,487,808 —_
Net proceeds from (payments on) revolver ................... 36,000,000  (39,000,000) 48,500,000
Treasury stock ... o i e e (4,382) —_— —
Commonstock dividend ......... ... .. ... .. ... ... .. ...... —_— — (3,000,000}
Proceeds from notes receivable and accrued interest .. ........ .. 164,134 17,184,357 —
Payments on credit facility and otherdebt . ... ........... ... .. (93,979) {86,563) (89,392)
Net cash provided by financing activities ........................ 36,190,538 58,086,317 44,905,581
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . .. 280,805 (90.589) {75,050}
Increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . ........ ... ... .. 126,040 798,670 {2,397917)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . ................... 1,414,476 615,806 3,013,723
Cash and cash equivalentsatendof year ... ..................... $ 1,540,516 $ 1414476 § 615806
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest eXpense .. ... ... $ 5672771 % 3,858,895 § 4,214,028
INCOME 1AKES . . .ottt t et et e et e $ 25000 $ 55000 $  175.000
Issuance of common stock in exchange for note receivable . ....... ... $ — 3 —  $10905,144
Issuance of common stock in exchange for majority-owned subsidiary’s
IHNOTY TRIEFESE o v v v ettt e e et e et ae e $ — 3 —  $33,923,287

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Organization and Our Business

LI

GeoMet, Inc. (*GeoMet,” “Company,” “we,” or “our”) (formerly GeoMet Resources, Inc.) was incorporated
under the laws of the state of Delaware on November 9, 2000. We are an independent natural gas producer
primarily involved in the exploration, development and production of natural gas from coal seams (coal bed
methane) and non-conventional shallow gas. Our principal operations and producing properties are located in
Alabama, West Virginia, Virginia and Canada.

On April 13, 2005, we acquired, through an exchange of stock, the minority interest in our 81% owned
subsidiary and merged the subsidiary into us. Following the merger, we changed our name from GeoMet
Resources, Inc, to GeoMet, Inc. In connection with this transaction, we exchanged 4,438,768 shares of our
common stock valued at $7.64 per share for all of the common stock of the subsidiary that we did not already
own, approximately 19.05%. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 141, Business Combinations (“"SFAS 1417), whereby the purchase
price of the net assets acquired was allocated to those net assets based on their fair value. No goodwill was
recorded because the purchase price approximated the fair value of net assets acquired. The exchange value was
determined through negotiations between a special committee of the 81% owned subsidiary’s board of directors
and management.

On January 1, 2007, we exercised our purchase option and acquired 100% of Shamrock Energy LLC, our
discontinued gas marketing subsidiary (see Note 10—Discontinued Operations}. In return, we provided Jon
M. Gipson, the former owner of Shamrock, an at-will employment position with us. Also, pursuant to the terms
of our purchase option, on March 9, 2007, we caused Shamrock to distribute to Mr. Gipson approximately
$22,500, which equals 50% of the net profits generated by Shamrock from August 1, 2006 through January I,
2007. This amount was accrued at December 31, 2006 as a dividend payable to Mr. Gipson. No additional
consideration was paid as a result of our exercise of this purchase option. Over 99% of the net assets acquired
were current, approximated their fair value and were equal to zero. Shamrock Energy LLC is a low margin
business and as a result it does not have a significant impact on our results of operations. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” whereby the purchase
price of the net assets acquired was allocated to those net assets based on their fair value. Goodwill was not
recorded because the purchase price approximated the fair value of the net assets acquired.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and include
our accounts and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, GeoMet Operating Company, Inc., GeoMet Gathering
Company LLC, GeoMet Gathering Virginia, Inc., Hudson’s Hope Gas, Ltd and Shamrock Energy LLC. All
inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements—The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assels and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Gur most
significant financial estimates are based on remaining proved gas reserves. Estimates of proved gas reserves are
key components of our depletion rate for natural gas properties, our unevaluated properties and our full cost
ceiling test limitation, In addition, other significant estimates include estimates used in computing taxes, stock-
based compensation, asset retirement obligations, fair value of derivative contracts and accrued receivables and
payables. Actual results could differ from these estimates. '
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GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Gas Properties—The method of accounting for gas properties determines what costs are capitalized and
how these costs are ultimately matched with revenues and expenses. We use the full cost method of accounting
for gas properties as prescribed by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission {“SEC”). Under this
method, all direct costs and certain indirect costs associated with the acquisition, exploration, and development of
our gas properties are capilalized and segregated into United States of America (“U.8.”) and Canadian cost
centers.

Gas properties are depleted using the units-of-production method. The depletion expense is significantly
affected by the unamortized historical and future development costs and the estimated proved gas reserves.

Estimation of preved gas reserves relies on professional judgment and use of factors that cannot be precisely
determined. Subsequent proved reserve estimates materially different from those reported would change the
depletion expense recognized during the future reporting period. No gains or losses are recognized upon the sale
or disposition of gas properties unless the sale or disposition represents a significant quantity of gas reserves,
which would have a significant impact on the depreciation, depletion and amortization rate.

Under full cost accounting rules, total capitalized costs are limited to a ceiling equal to the present value of
future net revenues, discounted at 10% per annum, plus the lower of cost or fair value of unevaluated properties
less income tax effects (the “ceiling limitation™). We perform a quarterly ceiling test to evaluate whether the net
book value of our full cost pool exceeds the ceiling limitation. The ceiling test is imposed separately for our U.S,
and Canadian cost centers. If capitalized costs (net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization) less
related deferred taxes are greater than the discounted future net revenues or ceiling limitation, a write-down or
impairment of the full cost pool ts required. A write-down of the carrying value of the full cost pool is a non-cash
charge that reduces earnings and impacts stockholders’ equity in the period of occurrence and typically results in
lower depreciation, depletion and amortization expense in future periods. Once incurred, a write-down is not
reversible at a later date.

The ceiling test is calculated vsing natural gas prices in effect as of the balance sheet date and adjusted for
“basis” or location differential, held constant over the life of the reserves; however, as allowed by the guidelines
of the SEC, significant changes in gas prices subsequent to quarter end are used in the ceiling test. In addition,
subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Assetr Retirement Obligations (“SFAS 1437}, the
future cash outflows associated with settling asset retirement obligations were not included in the computation of
the discounted present value of future net revenues for the purposes of the ceiling test calculation.

Unevaluated Properties—The costs directly associated with unevaluated properties and properties under
development are not initially included in the amortization base and relate to unproved leasehold acreage, seismic
data, wells and production facilities in progress and wells pending determination of proved reserves together with
overhead and interest costs capitalized for these projects. Unevaluated leasehold costs are transferred to the
amortization base once determination has been made or upon expiration of a lease. Geological and geophysical
costs associated with a specific unevaluated property are transferred to the amortization base with the associated
leasehold costs on a specific project basis. Costs associated with wells in progress and wells pending
determination are transferred to the amortization base once a determination is made whether or not proved
reserves can be assigned to the property. All items included in our unevaluated property balance are assessed on a
quarterly basis for possible impairment or reduction in value. Any impairment to unevaluated properties is
transferred to the amortization base.

Asset Retirement Linbility—We adopted SFAS 143, effective January 1, 2003. It establishes accounting and
reporting standards for retirement obiigations associated with tangible long- lived assets thal result from the legal
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

obligation (o plug, abandon and dismantle existing wells and facilities that we have acquired, constructed or
developed. 1t requires that the fair value of the liability for asset retirement obligations be recognized in the
period in which it is incurred. Upon initial recognition of the asset retirement liability, the asset retirement cost is
capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the long-lived asset by the same amount as the liability. The
liability is accreted to its then present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful
life of the related asset.

Other Property and Equipment—The cost of other property and equipment is depreciated over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets. The cost of leasehold improvements is depreciated over the lesser of
the length of the related leases or the estimated useful lives of the assets. Depreciation is compuied on the
straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives which range from three to seven years.

Furniture and fixtures .. ... ... .. 7 years
Aulomobiles . . ... e 3 years
Machinery and equipment .. ... .. ... 5 years
Software and computer equipment . ... ... . e e 3 vears

Reclassifications—Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform with the report
classifications of the year ended December 31, 2007 with no effect on previously reported net income or
stockholders’ equity. The reclassification consisted of adding both the current and non-current portions of notes
receivable to the balances of other current assets and other assets, respectively,

Cash and Cash Equivalents—For purposes of these statements, short-term investments, which have an
original maturity of three months or less, are considered cash equivalents.

Inventory—Inventory consists primarily of materials and supplies used in the development and production
of coal bed methane and is recorded at the lower of cost or market value using the specific identification costing
method.

Notes Receivable Included in Stockholders’ Equity—We have loaned money to officers and employees to
purchase our commen stock. Such amounts, including accrued interest, are recorded as Notes Receivable, and are
included as a component of Stockholders’ Equity. The balances at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are solely
attributable to employees as all notes due from executive officers were paid in Janvary 2006 in accordance with
the rules and regulations of the SEC. See Note 12 for additional information regarding repayment.

Income Taxes—We record our income taxes using an asset and liability approach in accordance with the
provisions of the SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes ("SFAS 109™) as clarified by FASB Interpretation
No. 48. Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48). This results in the recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the book
carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates at the end of the period. Under
SFAS 109, the effect of a change in tax rates of deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the year of the
enacted change. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it
is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Estimating the amount of valuation allowance is dependent on estimates of future taxable income,
alternative minimum tax income, and changes in stockholder ownership that could trigger limits on use of net
operating losses under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. We have a significant deferred tax asset associated
with net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL’s™).
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The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes- an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 487) on January [, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements in accordance with
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, and prescribes a consistent threshold and measurement attribuie
for financial statement recognition and disclosure of tax positions taken. or expected to be taken, on a tax return.
The adoption of this pronouncement did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements

Revenue Recognition—We derive revenue primarily from the sale of produced natural gas. For sales of
produced natural gas, we use the sales method of accounting for the recognition of gas revenue. Because there is
a ready market for natura! gas, we sell our natural gas shortly after production at various pipeline receipt points at
which time title and risk of loss transfers to the buyer. Revenue is recorded when title and risk of loss is
transferred based on our net revenue interests. Gas sold in production operations is not significantly different
from our share of production based on its interest in the properties.

Concentrations of Market Risk—OQur future results will be affected by the market price of natural gas. The
availability of a ready market for natural gas will depend on numerous factors beyond our control, including
weather, production of natural gas, imports, marketing, competitive fuels, proximity of natural gas pipelines and
other transportation facilities, any oversupply or undersupply of natural gas, the regulatory environment, and
other regional and political events, none of which can be predicted with certainty.

Concentration of Credit Risk—Financial instruments, which subject us to concentrations of credit risk,
consist primarily of cash, accounts receivable and derivative assets. We place our cash investments with highly
qualified financial institutions. Risks with respect to receivables as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 arise
substantially from the sales of natural gas and joint interest billings. Management does not expect there to be any
significant risk of collectability of these receivables and therefore has not provided for an allowance for doubtful
accounts. Risks with respeci to derivative assets as of December 31, 2007 arise from cash settlements due to us
from our derivative counterparties.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, current receivables and
payables, approximate book value because of the short maturity of these accounts. Debt outstanding under the
revolving credit facility is variable rate debt and as such, approximates fair value, as interest rates are variable
based on market rates. The outstanding note receivabte in Other Non-Current Assets and certain Other Debt
carries a fixed interest rate. See Notes 5 and 9 for the fair values of the receivable and other debit.

Operating Fees and Other—We have received fees from operating coal bed methane gas fields from other
owners. Where we have conducted contract operations in fields where we do not own a working interest the fees
are recognized in Revenues, Where we have conducted contract operations in fields where we own a working
interest the fees reduce general and administrative expenses. These fees were recognized in the period in which
the services were performed.

Capitalized General and Administrative Expenses—Under the full cost method of accounting, a portion of
our general and administrative expenses that are directly attributable to our acquisition, exploration and
development activities are capitalized as part of our natural gas properties. These capitalized costs include
salaries, employvee benefits, costs of consulting services and other costs directly associated with those activities.
We capitalized general and administrative costs related to our acquisition, exploration and development
activities, during the periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 of $1,991,760, $1,174,149 and
$1,777,566, respectively.
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Capitalized Interest Costs—We capilalize interest based on the cost of major development projects which
are excluded from current depreciation, depletion and amortization calculations. For the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we capitalized $587,884, $1,037,376 and $714,070 of interest, respectively.
See Unevaluated Properties above for additional information on the criteria for including costs in unevaluated
properties.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Our hedging activities consist of derivative instruments
entered into to hedge against changes in natural gas prices and changes in interest rates related to outstanding
debt under cur credit facility primanly through the use of fixed price swap agreements, basis swap agreements,
three-way collars, and traditional collars. Consistent with our hedging policy, we entered into a series of
derivative instruments to hedge a significant portion of our expected natural gas production through 2008 and
2009. We also entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge interest rates associated with a portion of our
variable rate debt through 2010. Typically, these derivative instruments require payments to (receipts from)
counterparties based on specific indices as required by the derivative agreements. These transactions are recorded
in our financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”). Although not risk free, we believe this policy will reduce our exposure to
commodity price fluctuations and changes in interest rates and thereby achieve a more predictable cash flow. As
a result, our dentvative instruments are cash flow hedge transactions in which we are hedging the variability of
cash flow related to a forecasted transaction. We do not enter into derivative instruments for trading or other
speculative purposes.

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended, all our derivative instruments are recorded on the balance
sheet at fair market value and changes in the fair market value of the derivatives are recorded each period in
current earnings for the natural gas derivatives or other comprehensive income for our interest rate swaps. The
natural gas derivatives have not been designated as hedge transactions while the interest rate swap qualifies and
has been designated as perfect hedge.

At the inception of a derivative contract, we may designate the derivative as a cash flow hedge. For all
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, we document the relationship between the derivative instrument and
the hedged items as well as the risk management objective for entering into the derivative instrument. To be
designated as a cash flow hedge transaction, the relationship between the derivative and hedge items must be
highly effective in achieving the offset of changes in cash flows attributable to the risk both at the inception of
the derivative and on an ongoing basis.

Foreign Currency Translation—For subsidiaries whose functional currency is deemed to be other than the
United States dollar, asset and liability accounts are translated at period end exchange rates and revenue and
expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Translation adjustments are
included in the Accumulated Other Comprehensive income {Loss). Any gains or losses on transactions or
monetary assets or liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency are included in net income in the
current period. Our only foreign subsidiary is our Canadian subsidiary, Hudson's Hope Gas, Lid.

Stock-Based Compensation—Prior to January 1, 2006, stock-based employee compensation was accounted
for under the intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Bulletin No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees ("APB 257). The exercise price of the options granted was equal to the estimated market value of our
common stock at grant date, and therefore, no compensation costs have been recognized. We used the income
method on a semi-annual basis to estimate the market value of our common stock at grant date.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share-
Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”), using the prospective transition method. The application of SFAS 123(R)
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requires the use of an option pricing model, such as the Black Scholes model, to measure the estimated fair value
of the options and as a result various assumptions must be made by management that require judgment and the
assumptions could be highly uncertain, For share-based awards outstanding as of January 1, 2006, we will
continue using the accounting principles originally applied to those awards before adoption. Therefore, we will
not recognize any equity compensation cost on these prior awards in the future unless such awards are modified,
repurchased or cancelled.

Discontinued Operations—We use the criteria in SFAS No. {44, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS No. 144 and EITF 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of
FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Whether 1o Report Discontinued Operations (EITF 03-13), to determine
whether our compenents that are being disposed of or are classified as held for sale are required to be reported as
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. To qualify as a discontinued operation
under SFAS No. 144, the component being disposed of must have clearly distinguishable operations and cash
flows. Additionatly, pursuant to EITF 03-13, we must not have significant continuing involvement in the
operations after the disposal (i.e. we must not have the ability to influence the operating or financial policies of
the disposed component) and cash flows of the operations being disposed of must have been eliminated from
GeoMet's ongoing operations (i.e. we do not expect to generate significant direct cash flows from activities
involving the disposed component after the disposal transaction is completed). Assuming both preceding
conditions are met, the related results of operations for the current and prior periods, including any related
impairments, are reflected as (Loss) Income From Discontinued Operations, net of tax, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Note 3—Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 requires that we recognize the financial
statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than
not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the
amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood
of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48
on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we identified 269,900 of unrecognized tax
benefits, largely related to depletion methods used in years prior to 2006 from net deferred assets. There was no
cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings, our financial condition or results of operations as a result of
implementing FIN 48. The amount of unrecognized tax benefit did not materially change us of December 31,
2007.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157
establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and
requires additional disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies only to fair value measurements
that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years
beginning afier November 15, 2007. We do not expect SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position or results of operations upon adoption.

On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of FASB 115, (“FASB 159”). This standard permits
an entity to measure financial instruments and certain other items at estimated fair value. Most of the provisions
of FASB 159 are elective; however, the amendment to FASB 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities,” applies to all entities that own trading and available-for-sale securities, The fair value
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option created by FASB 159 permits an entity to measure eligible items at fair value as of specified election
dates. The fair value option (a) may generally be applied instrument by instrument, (b) is irrevocable unless a
new election date occurs, and {c) must be applied to the entire instrument and not to only a portion of the
instrument. FASBE 159 is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15,

2007, Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of the previous fiscal year provided that the entity (i) makes
that choice in the first 120 days of that year, (ii) has not yet issued financial statements for any interim period of
such year, and (iii) elects to apply the provisions of FASB 157, Fair Value Measurements. We do not believe
there will be a material impact related to the implementation of FASB 159 on our consolidated financial
statements.

Note 4—Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock—Basic income per share is calculated by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. No dilution
for any potentially dilutive securities is included. Fully diluted net income per share assumes the conversion of
all potentially dilutive securities and is calculated by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding plus potentially dilutive securities. Dilutive income per share
considers the impact of potentially dilutive securities except in periods in which there is a loss because the
inclusion of the potential common shares would have an anti-dilutive effect. A reconciliation of the numerator
and denominator is as follows:

Decemher 31,
2007 2006 _ 2005
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ....................
Basic ... . e $ 013 $ 049 $ (0.07)
Diluted .................... S, $ 043 % 048 $ (0.07)
Discontinued operations . ........... .. ciiriiinurennan-.
BaSIC o e 3 — 8 — & —
Diluted . .. by — 8 —  $ —
Net income (loss) per common share
BaSIC .t $ 013 § 049 $ (0.06)
Diluted .. .. . e e b 013 % 048 § (0.06)
Numerator
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders . ............ $ 5,169,219 $17,296,216 $(1,573,281)
Denominator;
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic .................... 38,822,671 35,018,122 28,164,946
Add potentially dilutive securittes: .. .............c.coouunnn. ...
Stock OptiONS . ..o e e 877,023 946,179 —
Dilutive SECUrTties . .. ... vttt s 39,699,694 35,964,301 28,164,946

Diluted net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2007 excluded the effect of outstanding
options to purchase 640,477 shares because the average market price at December 31, 2007 was less than the
exercise price. Diluted net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 excluded the effect of
outstanding options to purchase 245,403 shares because the average market price at December 31, 2006 was less
than the exercise price. Diluted net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2005 excluded the effect
of outstanding options to purchase 2,093,324 shares because we reported a net loss.
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Note 5—Note Receivable

We have an unsecured note receivable of $271,736 and $298,936 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, from a third party included in other non-current assets. The note requires payment on a semi-
monthly basis, including interest at 8.25%, of $2,168. The fair value of the receivable at December 31, 2007 was
approximately $327,000 Scheduled maturities of the note receivable are detailed in the table below.

Amount
2008 e e e e 27,200
200D e e e e 29,662
2000 L e e e 32,346
200 L L e e e e 35,273
.1 ) OO 38,466
11T C=r: Y1 1 A A R 135,989
Total note receivable ... ... ... .. e e 298,936
Less current portion of note receivable .................... e 27,200
Non-current note recetvable . . ... ... .. i e $27l.736'

Note 6—Gas Properties

We use the full cost method of accounting for its investment in gas properties. Under this method of
accounting, all costs of acquisition, exploration and development of gas reserves (including such costs as
leasehold acquisition costs, geological expenditures, dry hole costs related to unsuccessful projects, tangible and
intangible development costs) are included in the fuil cost pool. In addition, we capitalize interest expense, direct
general and administrative expenses, direct stock-based compensation expense, and additions resulting from asset
retirement liabilities. Also under full cost accounting rules, total net capitalized costs are limited to a ceiling
equal to the present value of future net revenues, discounted at 10% per annum, plus the lower of cost or fair
value of unevaluated properties less income tax effects (the “ceiling limitation™). We perform a quarterly ceiling
test to evaluate whether the net book value of our full cost pool exceeds the ceiling limitation using natural gas
prices in effect as of the balance sheet date and adjusted for “basis” or location differential, held constant over the
life of the reserves; however, as allowed by the guidelines of the SEC, significant changes in gas prices
subsequent to quarter are be used in the ceiling test. To the extent that capitalized costs of gas properties, net of
accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization and income taxes, exceed the ceiling limitation, such
excess capitalized costs would be charged to results of operations.

Acquisition and Dispositions

We have constructed and operate an approximate 38.5-mile pipeline from the Cahaba Basin to the Black
Warrior River for the disposal of produced water under a permit issued by the Alabama Department of
Environmental Management. This pipeline had an initial design capacity of approximately 45,000 barrels of
water per day, but will require additional pump stations and looping a portion of the line in order to meet the
maximum design capacity if needed. In October 2006, we executed a series of agreements with a privately held
company relating to our operations in the Cahaba Basin, under which we agreed to designate up to 50% of the
pipeline’s capacity to dispose of produced water from the company’s operations in the Gurnee field. Our fees
earned under the agreements are $0.35 per barrel of untreated produced water but may decline to $0.20 per barrel
of produced water if the operator chooses to treat its own produced water prior to delivering it to our facilities.
The disposal fees we generate are included in other revenues. We also operate a water treatment facility in the
Gumee field to condition the produced water prior to injection into the pipeline and a discharge pond at the river
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to aerate the water prior to disposal. We believe that our disposal pipeline and water treatment facility will meet
all of our future water disposal requirements for the Gurnee field.

Additionally, under these agreements, we have secured firm capacity rights on a high pressure gas gathering
pipeline which connects into Enbridge’s Magnolia Pipeline System. The acquired rights entitle us to transport
approximately 40 million cubic feet per day of coalbed methane gas at a fee of $0.05 per MMBtu actually
gathered through the pipeline. We do not anticipate utilizing this capacity in the immediate future. This
agreement provides us with g second outlet for our gas produced from the Gumee field, Together with our
existing capacity on the Southern Natural Gas Bessemer—Calera lateral, our total gas takeaway capacity is
expected to meet all of our future requirements.

Finally, as pant of the agreements, we received an assignment of 1,360 acres of undeveloped leasehold
contiguous with our existing leasehold positions in the Gurnee field. The estimated fair value of the undeveloped
acreage was charged to unevaluated properties and a corresponding credit of $5 million to the full cost pool. The
estimated fair value of $5 million was determined by our in-house engineers using the discounted cash flow
method. In addition, we obtained independent valuations from a third party for the salt water disposal right we
granted and the gas gathering agreement that was granted to us using discounted cash flow method and residual
value method to support the in-house valuation for the undeveloped acreage granted to us.

The following 1able provides a summary of unevaluated costs not being depleted as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, by the year in which the costs were incurred.

2007 2006
Subjecttodeplelion .. ....... ... $370,404.336  $310,011,154
Not subject to depletion:
ACUISTHON COSES o\ vttt e e e et et ve st ia e 6,182,214 4,967,220
Exploration Costs ... .. ..ue e 6,695,569 13,542,413
Total 2007 ... . e 12,877,783 18,509,633
Total 2006 and prior ........ .. ... il 12,296,981 7,888,349
Total not subject to depletion ... ... ... . ... ... ... 25,174,764 26,397,982
Gross gas properties .. ... uunt ettt 395,579,100 336,409,136
Less accumulated depletion ....... ... ... ... ... (30,661,249) (21,836,904)
Net g28 PIOPETUES -+« - .ot e sttt e e e $364,917,851  $314,572,232

At December 31, 2007 the costs of our projects in Garden City and British Columbia accounted for
approximately 26% and 74% of the total not subject to depletion, respectively, of the total balance of unevaluated
properties. At December 31, 2006 the costs of our projects in British Columbia and North Central Louisiana
accounted for approximately 48% and 21% of the total not subject to depletion, respectively, of the total balance
of unevalvated properties. During 2006, we recorded an impairment of $10.6 million related to certain prospects
located in North Central Louisiana.

Note 7—Asset Retirement Liability

We record an asset retirement obligation (“ARO™) on the consolidated balance sheet and capitalize the asset
retirement costs in gas properties in the period in which the retirement obligation is incurred. The amount of the
ARO and the costs capitalized are equal to the estimated future costs to satisfy the obligation using current prices

65




GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
that are escalated by an assumed inflation factor up to the estimated settlement date, which is then discounted

back to the date the abandonment obligation was incurred using an assumed cost of funds for GeoMet. Once the
ARO is recorded, it is then accreted 1o its estimated future value using the same assumed cost of funds.

The following table describes the changes to our asset retirement liability for the years ending December 31,
2007 and 2006.

2007 2006
Asset retirement obligation at beginning of year ... ... ... . ..., $2,553,801  $1,890,173
Liabilitiesincurred ... ... .. ... . . e 247379 496,738
Liabilities settled ... ..., . (83.385) (40.735)
ACCIetion BXPBISE . . ..ttt e 241,083 178,994
Revisions in eSUmMAaIes ... ... ...t it i — 28,873
Currency translation adjustment ....... ... ... .. oot 31.364 (242)
Asset retirement obligation atendof year ... ... .. .. ... oL 2,990,242 2,553,801
Less: current portion of obligation ..... ... ... ... ... o ... 74,387 73.047
Long-term asset reticement obligation . .................... .. ... .. $2915,855  $2,480,754

Note 8—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Commaodity Price Risk and Related Hedging Activities.

We engage in commodity price risk and related hedging activities from time to time. These activities are
intended to manage our exposure io fluctuations in the price of natural gas. We have historically used swaps,
costless collars and three-way costless collars in our hedging activities. Swaps exchange floating price risk in the
future for a fixed price at the time of the hedge. Costless collars set both a maximum ceiling and a minimum
floor future price. Three-way costless collars are similar to regular costless collars except that, in order to
increase the ceiling price, we agree to limit the amount of the floor price protection to a predetermined amount,
generally between $2.00 and $3.00 per MMBtu. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended, all our
derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair market value and changes in the fair market value
of the derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings. The natural gas derivatives have not been
designated as hedge transactions under SFAS No. 133, as amended.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we had gains on derivative contracts of $888,222, which
consisted of $3,895,138 in realized gains on derivative contracts offset by $3,006,916 in unrealized losses on
derivative contracts, During the year ended December 31, 2006, we had gains on derivative contracts of
$17.995,268, which consisted of $1,118,043 in realized gains on derivative contracts and $16,877,225 in
unrealized gains on derivative contracts. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we had losses on derivative
contracts of $19,532,212, which consisted of $7,473,004 in realized losses on derivative contracts and
$12,059,208 in unrealized losses on derivative contracts.

At December 31, 2007 and at December 31, 2006, the fair values of open natural gas contracts were assets
of approximately $2.3 million and $5.3 million, respectively.
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At December 31, 2007, the Company had the following natural gas collar positions:

Volume Sold Bought Sold

Period (MMBtu) Ceiling Floor Floor
Collars (3 way)
January 2008—March 2008 ... ... . . . . e 728,000 $14.80 $9.00 $6.00
Summer 2008 L. e 1,712,000 $10.50 $7.00 $5.00
Winter 200872000 . ... e e 006,000 $11.00 $8.50 3%6.25
Summer 2000 . e e 1,284,000 $10.00 $7.50 $5.25
Traditional Collars
January 2008—March 2008 . ......... ... .. 364,000 $11.25 $8.25

At December 31, 2007, we had the following natural gas swap position:

Volume in
Period MMBtu’'s Price
Summer 2008 . . e e e 856,000 $8.00

Interest Rate Risks and Related Hedging Activities

When we enter into an interest rate swap, we may designate the derivative as a cash flow hedge, at which
time we prepare the documentation required under SFAS No. 133. Hedges of our interest rate are designated as
cash flow hedges based on whether the interest on the underlying debt is converted to a fixed interest rate,
Changes in derivative fair values that are designated as cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss to the extent that they are effective and then recognized in earnings when the
hedged transactions occur.

We use fixed rate swaps to limit our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with the objective of realizing
a fixed cash flow stream from these activities. A summary of the impacts of our cash flow hedges included in
other comprehensive income, net of tax, as of December 31, 2007 follows:

Other
Designated comprehensive
Effective maturity Notional income, net of
Description date date Fixed rate amount tax
Floating-to-fixed swap ............... 12/14/2007  12/14/2010 3.86%(1) $15,000,000 16,884

(1) The floating rate paid by the counterparty is the British Bankers™ Association LIBOR rate.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, we recognized no ineffective portion of our cash flow hedges. On
January 3, 2008, the Company entered an interest rate swap at an interest rate of 3.95% and a notional amount of
$10,000,000 maturing January 4, 2010.

Note 9—Long-Term Debt

We initially entered into a revolving credit facility in December 2001. In January 2006, we amended and
restated the revolving credit facility and, among other things, extended the maturity date to January 6, 2011, In
June 2006, the revolving credit facility was amended and restated and increased to $180 million and the
borrowing base was increased to $150 million. Pursuant to the amended credit agreement, we have a $180
million revolving credit facility that permits us to borrow amounts from time to time based on the available
borrowing base as determined in the credit agreement. The revolving credit facility is secured by substantially all
of our gas properties and the capital stock of our subsidiaries. The borrowing base under the revolving credit
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facility is based upon the valuation of our gas properties as of June 30 and December 31 of each year and other
factors deemed relevant by the lenders, including Bank of America as agent. The lenders may also request one
additional borrowing base re-determination in any fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2007, we had $96 million of borrowings outstanding under our revolving credit facility,
resulting in a borrowing availability of $84 million under our $180 million borrowing base. For the year ended
December 31, 2007 we borrowed $83 million and made payments of $47 million under the revolving credit
facility. As of December 31, 2007 the outstanding balances on the revolving credit facility bear interest at either
the bank’s adjusted base rate, which is the bank’s base rate of at least the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, or the
adjusted LIBOR rate, plus a margin of 1.00% to 2.00%, based on borrowing base usage. The rate at
December 31, 2007 was 6.29%.

The following is a summary of our long-term debt at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

December 31, December 31,

2007 2006
Borrowings under revolving credit facility ....................... $96,000,000  $60,000,000
Nolte payable to a third party, annual installments of $53,000 through
January 2011, interest-bearing at 8.25% annually, unsecured . ... .. 174,570 210,227

Note payable to an individual, semi-monthly installments of $644,

through September 2015, interest-bearing at 12.6% annually,

unsecured . ... .. B 129,240 138,308
Salary continuation payable to an individual, semi-monthly

installments of $3,958, through December 2015, non-interest-

bearing (less amortization discount of $572,074, with an effective

rate of 8.25%), unsecured ... ... e 523,498 571,752
Totaldebt . ... ... ... e 96,832,308 60,926,287
Less current maturities included in current Liabilities .. ... .......... (102,586) (94,177
Total long-termdebt ... ... . . i 596,729,722  $60,832,110

- We are subject to certain restrictive financial and non-financial covenants under the credit agreement,
including a minimum current ratio of 1.0 to 1.0, and a maximum rate of EBITDA to interest expense of 2.75 to
1.0, both as defined in the credit agreement. As of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all of the
covenants in the credit agreement.

On October 26, 2007, the lenders, including Bank of America as agent, completed our mid-year borrowing
base determination and established a borrowing base of $180 million.

The following were maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years at December 31, 2007:

Year Amount
2008 L e e 102,586
2000 L e 111,768
2000 e e e e e 121,792
200 . 96,132,743
2002 363419
Thereafter ............. e —
Total Debt ... .. e Sl .. $96,832,308
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The total fair value of the two notes payable and the salary continuation payable as of December 31. 2007
was approximately $710.043 million. The borrowing under the revolving credit facility approximates fair value
because the interest rates are floating or market rates.

Note I0—Discontinued Operations

We marketed substantially all of our gas through Shamrock Energy LLC, which became a wholly owned
subsidiary on January 1, 2007, under a natural gas purchase agreement. We discontinued operations of Shamrock
Energy, LLC in September 2007. The purchase agreement called for Shamrock to purchase and us to sell gas
produced from all of our major properties. In addition. Shamrock provided several related services including
nominations, gas control, gas balancing, transportation and exchange, market and transportation intelligence and
other advisory and agency services. We received the weighted average resale price for the gas sold, less a fee for
Shamrock’s services ranging from $0.03 to $0.045 per MMBtu purchased.

On June {4, 2006, we entered into an option agreement with Jon M. Gipson, the president of Shamrock,
pursuant 1o which we had the right to acquire all of the outstanding equity interests and assets of Shamrock. In
exchange for this option, we agreed (i) to extend our gas marketing agreement with Shamrock for a term ending
no earlier than January 31, 2007, the termination date of the Shamrock purchase option (ii) to advance, on or
before August 1, 2006, $90,000 to Shamrock for working capital purposes during the option peried, (iif) to
provide any guaranties on behalf of Shamrock for transactions that Shamrock entered into during the option
period that require such guaranties, up to an aggregate of $1,500,000, and (iv) to advance Shamrock up to an
additional $50,000 to Shamrock as may be required to cover certain expenses of Shamrock prior to January 31,
2007.

We exercised the Shamrock purchase option on January 1, 2007, at which time we provided Mr. Gipson an
at-will employment position with us. Alse, on March 9, 2007, we caused Shamrock to distribute to Mr. Gipson
approximately $22,500, which equals 50% of the net profits generated by Shamrock from August 1, 2006
through January |, 2007. This amount was accrued at December 31, 2006 as a dividend payable to Mr. Gipson.
No additional consideration was paid as a result of our exercise of this option.

As a result of exiting the third-party marketing business, we are treating these activities as a discontinued
operation for all the periods presented. Results for activities reported as discontinued operations were as follows:

Statement of Operations Data (for the year ended December 31}):

2007 2006

Gas marketing revenues .............iiiinn i anan.s $ 21,873,248  §13.043,598

Purchased gas eXpense . ..........ou.iteiinennn i, (21,595,540)  (12,898.973)
General and administralive eXpense ... ... c.oviv i — (254,086)
Elimination of intercompany profit ................. ... . ...... — 146,151

Income from discontinued operations beforetax ................. 277,708 36,690

INCOME tax eXPense ... .. v' vt e (103,926) (14,155
Minority interest .. ... ... . — {22,535)
Income from discontinued operations . ........................ $ 173782 § —

69




GEOMET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Balance Sheet Data:

' December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
Current Assets:
Cash and cashequivalents ................... ... ... ........ $175,398 $ 190,765
Accounts receivable . . ... 15,530 9,060,488
O her o e e 14,945 15,172
Total as8ets . ... o 205,873 9,266,425
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable ... ... ... 36,510 9,266,425
Stockholder’sequity ... ... .. 119,363 —
Total liabilities and stockholder’sequity .................... $205,873 $9,266,425

Note I1—Income Taxes

We record our income taxes using an asset and liability approach in accordance with the provisions of the
FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, as clarified by FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting
SJor Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”). This results in the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
using estimated effective tax rates for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the
book carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates at the end of the period.
Under FASB No. 109, the effect of a change in tax rates of deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the
year of the enacted change.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by 4 vatuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Estimating the amount of valuation
allowance is dependent on estimates of future taxable income, alternative minimum tax income, and changes in
stockholder ownership that could trigger limits on use of net operating losses under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code. We have a significant deferred tax asset associated with net operating loss carryforwards (NOL’s). It
is more likely than not that we will use the NOL’s in the United States to offset current tax liabilities in future years.

Our effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate primarily due to losses in Canada that we are
unable to benefit from and state income taxes. The Canadian losses are fully reserved because it is more likely
than not that we will not use those NOL’s to offset current tax liabilities in future years.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we
identified $269,900 of unrecognized tax benefits, largely related to depletion methods used in years prior to 2006
from net deferred tax assets. There was no cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings, our financial
condition or results of operations as a result of implementing FIN 48 principally due to the size of our NOL’s.
The amount of unrecognized tax benefits did not materially change as of December 31, 2007. A yecbnciliation of
beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Balance at January 1, 2007 . .. ... oo e $269,900
Additions based on tax positions related to the current vear ................. —
Additions for tax positions of prioryears ... ... ... .. ... . . 2,700
Reductions for tax positions of prior years . ... ... .. ... it —
SettlemMents . .., ... e —
Balance at December 31,2007 ... ... ... . .. .. ... $272,600
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It is expected that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits may change in the next twelve months; however
we do not expect the change to have a significant impact on our results of operations or the financial position.

We file a consolidated federal income tax return in the United States and various combined and separate
filings in Canada and several state and local jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, we are no longer subject to
U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2002.

Our continuing practice is to recognize estimated interest related (o potential underpayment on any
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
Penalties, if incurred, would be recognized as a component of penalty expense. As of the date of adoption of FIN
48, we did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with any unrecognized tax benefits. nor was any
interest expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2007.

We do not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to the settlement of
audits and the expiration of statute of limitations prior to December 31, 2008.

An analysis of our deferred taxes follows:

2007 2006

Current deferred tax asset:

Compensation expense andother ............................. 3 83616 $ 68,325
Tax basis in excess of book basis of derivative contracts ...... — —
Total current deferred tax asset . ... e o, 83.616 68,325

Current deferred tax liability:

Book basis in excess of tax basis of derivative contracts .. ... .. (854,291) (1.639,009)
Net current deferred tax liability .............. ... ... .... $ (770,675 § (1.570,684)
Long-term deferred tax asset:
Net operating loss carryforward . ...... ... ... ... ..., 28,972.421 ’ 25,262,553
Compensation expenseand other .. ............. ... . ..., 240,158 276,364
Accrued asset retirement obligations . ...... ... . oL 966,442 915,470
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward .......... ... .. 115,907 115,907
Total long-term deferred tax assets ....................... 30.294,928 26.570.294

Long-term deferred tax liabilities:

Book basis in excess of tax basis of derivative contracts ....... (34,543) (398.467)
Book basis of gas properties in e¢xcess of tax basis ........... {76,906,264) (68,951,364}
Total long-term deferred tax liabilities . .............. ... ... (76,940,807) (69,349,831)

Net long-term deferred tax lability . ........ ... ...... ... ... ... $(46,645,879)  $(42,779,537)

For tax reporting purposes, we have a federal and state net operating loss carryforward of approximately
$74.2 million and $5.3 million, respectively. at December 31. 2007 that are available to reduce future taxable
income. If not utilized, the federal carryforwards would begin to expire in 2022. Certain immaterial portions of
the state NOL carryforward will expire prior to 2022. During 2007 and 2006, we generated a net operating loss in
Canada in the amount of $296,722 and $204,550, respectively, and it is more likely than not that this net
operating loss will not be available to reduce future taxable income. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has
been provided in the current year to reflect no tax asset realization.
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Federal income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations for each of the years ended December 31,

2007, 2006, and 2005 was differemt than the amount computed using the Federal statutory rate for the following
reasons:

2007 % 2006 % 2005 %

Amount compuled using statutory .

TALES . v veve i $2,714,167  34.00% $ 9,575,022 34.0% $(1.022988) (34.0)%
State income taxes—net of federal

benefit . ....... ... .. .. ... ... .. (84,618) (1.06)% 980,032 3.48% 16,500 0.6%
Valuation Allowance ............... 296,722 3N% 204,550 0.73% —_ —
Nondeductible items and other ....... 61,136 0.77% 106,010 0.38% 13,314 0.4%
Income tax provision (benefit) ... .. .. $2,987,407 37.42% $10,865,614 38.58% $ (993,174) (33.00%

The following components of the federal income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Current:

Y 11 (= Y § 25000 % 142238 % 25000
Federal .. ... e e — — (33,772
Deferred:

10 7 1= P (109,618) 837.794 —
Federal . . ... . . 3,072,025 9,885.582  (984,402)
Income tax provision {benefit) ........ ... ... ... ... $2,987.407 $10,865,614 $(993,174)

Note 12—Common Stock

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were 38,962,359 shares and 38,678,713 shares, respectively, of
common stock outstanding. Effective January 24, 2006, our board of directors approved a four-for-one common
stock split and increased our authorized capital stock from 40,000,000 shares of common stock at December 31,
2005 to 135,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of 125,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000
shares of preferred stock. Prior periods have been adjusted for the stock split.

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, a 1otal of 103,565 shares and 637,026 shares,
respectively, of common stock were issned upon the exercise of stock options,

On January 30, 2006 and February 7, 2006, we completed private equity offerings of an aggregate
10,250,000 shares of our common stock, consisting of 2,317,023 shares issued by us and 7,932,977 shares sold
by certain of our existing stockholders, to qualified institutional buyers exempt from registration under the
Securities Act. We received aggregate consideration of approximately $28.0 miilion, or $12.09 per share. We did
not receive any proceeds from the shares sold by certain of our existing stockholders. In addition, we received
approximately $17.5 million from certain of the selling stockholders for repayment of loans from us, including
accrued and unpaid interest thereon. We used the net proceeds from this private equity offering, together with the
proceeds from the repayment of certain of the selling stockholders’ loans, to repay a portion of the borrowings
under our revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes.

On July 27, 2006, we registered for re-sale with the SEC the 10,250,000 shares of common stock issued in
the private equity offering discussed above. Also on July 27, 2006, we sold 5,750,000 shares of our common
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stock under an underwritten initial public offering. Our initial public offering closed on August 2, 2006, and the
price per share was $10.00. We received net proceeds of approximately $52.6 million from our initial public
offering, after deducting estimated offering expenses and underwriting discounts and commissions. We used the
net proceeds from the initial public offering to reduce outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

During 2005, we issued 4,438,768 shares of our common stock valued at $7.64 per share for the minority
interest in our majority-owned subsidiary’s common stock. In connection with this acquisition We issued to each
minority interest owner and holder of incentive stock options of the majority-owned subsidiary an option to
purchase our common stock at the per share exchange value of $7.64 (the “non-dilution option™). Within 30 days
of issuance, the holder of the non-dilution option could exercise the option to purchase, with cash and/or loan
from us, up to the amount of our common stock necessary to prevent any dilution that resulted from the merger.
The 2005 notes issued to purchase any stock are secured by the stock, with full recourse, earn interest at an
annual rate of 6% and mature on the earlier of April 14, 2009, sixty days after the holder ceases to be an
employee or the occurrence of a “Triggering Transaction” as defined in the non-dilution option agreement.
Non-dilution options were exercised to purchase 1,456,668 shares of GeoMet common stock. The purchases
were financed with $10,905,144 in notes and $227,380 in cash. The notes receivable, including accrued interest,
is shown as a reduction of stockholders’ equity, and approximately $10,500.000 of these notes were repaid in full
with interest in January 2006,

Note 13—Share-Based Awards

Prior to January 1, 2006, stock-based employee compensation was accounted for under the intrinsic value
method of Accounting Principles Bulletin No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”). The
exercise price of the options granted was equal to the estimated market value of our common stock at grant date,
and therefore, no compensation costs have been recognized. We used the income method on a semi-annual basis
to estimate the market value of our common stock at grant date.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, using the prospective transition method. For share-based
awards outstanding as of January 1, 2006, we will continue using the accounting principles originally applied to
those awards before adoption. Therefore, we will not recognize any equity compensation cost on these prior
awards in the future unless such awards are modified, repurchased or cancelled.

As of December 31, 2007, we have two stock-based award plans authorized, our 2005 Stock Option Plan
and our 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan. However, no additional awards under our 20035 Stock Option Plan will
be granted after the adoption of the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, but we will continue to issue shares of our
common stock upon exercise of awards that were previously granted under the 2003 Stock Option Plan.

Our 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan authorized the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock
options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance awards.
A maximum of 2,000,000 shares is available for grant under this plan. The 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan is
available to our employees and independent directors and is designed to attract and retain employees and
independent directors, to further align the interest of our employees and directors interests with the interests of
our stockholders, and to closely link compensation with our performance. Generally, the exercise price of a stock
option granted under this plan may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of
grant. The options generally have a term of seven years, vest evenly over three years, except for awards that are
performance based and options issued to directors. Performance based awards granted under the 2006 Long-
Term Incentive Plan vest once the performance criterion has been met. Options issued to our directors vest
immediately.
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In March 2007, we granted 168,975 share-based stock option awards and in June 2007 we granted 138,000
restricted stock awards to certain of our non-executive employees with time vesting criteria. In September 2007
we granted 219,279 share-based stock option awards and we also granted 30,145 restricted stock awards,
including 20,145 with performance-based vesting to our four named executive officers and two other officers. In
November 2007 we granted 19,841 incentive stock options, 20,000 restricted stock awards and 40,159
non-qualified stock options to an officer that vest on March 15, 2010. During 2007, we recorded a compensation
expense accrual of $526,576 which was allocated among lease operating expenses ($118,830), general and
administrative expenses ($118.830), and capitalized to unevaluated gas properties ($215,093). The future
compensation cost of all the outstanding awards is $2,170,448 which will be amortized over the vesting period of
such stock options and restricted stock, The weighted average remaining useful life of the future compensation
cost is 2.5 years.

Significant assumptions used in determining the compensation costs included a dividend yield of 0%,
expected volatility of 40.20%, risk-free interest rate of 4.02%, an expected term of 4.5 years, and a forfeiture rate
of 10%. The forfeiture rate was changed to 10% in the second quarter.

Incentive Stock Options

The table below summarizes incentive stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2007:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average  Remaining  Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

QOptions Price Life Value

Qutstanding at December 31,2006 .............. ... ....... 572838 $ 6.32
Granted . . . ... e 329.2i6 $ 7.75
Forfelted . ... e e (71,988) § 9.05
Incentive stock options converted to non-qualified stock

OPLIONS . L e e (42,224) $13.00
Exercised ... e e e (105,565) % 2.13
Outstanding at December 31,2007 ............... ... ....... 682,277 $ 6.77 4.61 $610,027
Options exercisable at December 31,2007 ................... 209763 $ 4.79 2.80 $602.933

The weighted average grant-date fair value of incentive stock options granted during the years 2007, 2006,
and 2005 was $2.32, $4.85, and $0.60, respectively. The total intrinsic value of incentive stock options exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $0.5 million, $5.2 million, and $0.6 million,
respectively.
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Nen-Qualified Stock Options

The table below summarizes non-qualified stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2007:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number of  Exercise  Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price Life Value

Qutstanding at December 31,2006 .. ........ .. .......... 1,113,865 §$ 3.20
Granted ... e 154,966 $ 7.46
Forfeited . .. ... ... . ——— |
Incentive stock options converted to non-qualified stock [

OPEEONS o ottt e et e e e 42,224 $13.00 '
Exercised .. ..o e — '
Qutstanding at December 31,2007 . .................. ..., 1311055 § 4.02 5.36 $2,814,000 ‘
Options exercisable at December 31 .............. ... ..., 1,070,376 § 2.80 522 $2,814,000 '

During the year ended December 31. 2007, no non-qualified stock options were exercised The weighted
average grant-date fair value of non-qualified stock options granted during the years 2007 and 2006 was $1.18
and $4.96, respectively. There were no non-qualified stock options granted in 2005. The total intrinsic value of
non-qualified stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $1.7 million. There were no
non-qualified stock options exercised or forfeited in 2007 or 2005,

Restricted Stock Awards

The table below summarizes non-vested restricted stock awards activity for the year ended December 31,
2007:

Non-Vested Weighted

Restricted Stock Average Value

Awards At Grant Date
Non-vested restricted stock at December 31,2006 . ... .......... 21,436 8.61
Granted . ... 188,145 7.21
Forfeited ... ... . . (31,500) 8.05
Vested .« o e e e e (4,083) 8.05
Non-vested restricted stock at December 31,2007 ............... 173,998 7.21

In April 2006, we granted 12,249 performance based restricted stock awards to our four named executive
officers and two other officers. The restricted stock awards are subject 1o performance-based vesting for our four
named executive officers and two other officers and time-based vesting for all other employees. The restricted
stock awards will vest as a result of a triggering event such as a corporate change of controt or merger. The fair
value of the restricted stock awards at December 31, 2007 is approximately $926,021. In June 2007, we granted
138,000 restricted stock awards to non-executive employees. In September 2007 we granted 30,145 restricted
stock awards, including 20,145 to our four named executive officers and two other officers. In November 2007
we granted 20,000 restricted stock awards to an officer. No restricted stock awards vested in 2006 or 2005.

Prior to July 27, 2006, before we became a public company. there was no active public market for our |
common stock. Therefore, our compensation committee established the fair value of our common stock for
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incentive stock option awards based on the recommendation of senior management using the best information
available on the date of grant. We used the income method except when there was other, more conclusive
evidence of fair value, such as a recent arms-length event or transaction involving the acquisition or exchange of
our common stock. Determining the fair value of our common stock required making complex and subjective
Jjudgments regarding a number of variables and data points. We used the income method in lieu of other
acceplable methods because the income method applies cash flow modeling and assumptions similar to those
used in determining the PV-10 of our proved gas reserves. We did not obtain a contemporaneous valuation by an
unrelated valuation specialist for the options granted during 2005 because we believed that both our senior
management and the management of our majority stockholder had adequate expertise and experience in valuing
gas properties and entities with gas exploration, production, and development activities. We believe our
methodology and valuations represented the estimated fair value of our common stock at that time.

Information on stock option grants during the year ended December 31, 2005 is summarized as follows:

Fair market
Number of value estimate  Intrinsic
Type of equity options Exercise  per comman value
Date of [ssuance issuance granted price share per share
January 24,2005 ... ... ... ...l Employee Options 65,244  $6.98 $6.98 $—
June 1,2005 ....... DR Employee Options 88,000  $7.64 $7.64 $—

The following table illustrates the approximate pro forma effect on net income and earnings per share
assuming the stock-based compensation expense under APB 25 had been recorded using fair value methods at
date of grant for the following prior periods:

2005
Net (loss) income asreported .. ... .. ... .. . . .. . ... $(1,573,281)
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based methods for all grants, net of related tax
efeCIs L 61,178
PO fOrmMa . o e $(1,634,459)

Note 14—Profit Sharing Plan

Substantially all of the employees are covered by our profit sharing plan under Section 401(k} of the
Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees may make contributions to the plan by electing to defer some of their
compensation, We are required to match 50 percent of total contributions up to a total of six percent of their
annual compensation. Qur matching contribution vests evenly over three years. Our contribution to the Plan for
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $170,062, $137,357, and $122,286, respectively.

Note 15—Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation—From time to time we are a party to litigation in the normal course of business. While the
outcome of lawsuits or other proceedings against us cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not
believe that the adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, if any, will be
malterial.

CNX Surface Use Dispute

We constructed a 12-mile gathering line in the Pond Creek field, a portion of which traverses a right-of-way
granted to us by Pocahontas Mining Limited Liability Company (“PMC”). The Pond Creek gathering line
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connects with and transports our gas production from the Pond Creek field to the Jewell Ridge Pipeline. CNX
Gas Company LLC (“CNX"}, the lessee of certain minerals underlying the PMC property, has claimed that it has
the exclusive right to transport gas across the PMC property and that our right-of-way is invalid. We, along with
PMC, filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Buchanan County, Virginia on May 26, 2006 against CNX
seeking a temporary and permanent injunction, as well as a declaration of our rights under the right-of-way
agreement that we entered intc with PMC. On June 30, 2006, CNX filed a counterclaim against PMC and us
seeking a declaratory judgment from the court that CNX has superior rights to our rights to the surface of the
PMC property and that CNX has the exclusive right to construct pipelines, transport gas, and use roads on the
PMC property. On May 23, 2007, the Circuit Court of Buchanan County, Virginia issued an interlocutory order
declaring that the lease between CNX and PMC also included the exclusive right of CNX to transport gas across
the PMC property and enjoined us from transporting gas through the Pond Creek gathering line over the PMC

property.

On June 20, 2007, the Virginia Supreme Court vacated the injunctive portion of the order, allowing us to
continue (o transport gas through our Pond Creek gathering line. Also vacated was the portion of the decision that
obligated us to deposit into a trust account all net proceeds from any sales of gas transported over the PMC
property. On November 5, 2007, the Virginia Supreme Court accepted PMC’s and our petition for appeal of the
remaining portion of the May 23rd order, which held that CNX has the exclusive right to build a pipeline and
transport gas across the PMC property. We believe that our right-of-way agreement across the PMC property is
valid and enforceable and that we will ultimately prevail in this case.

On January 19, 2007, CNX obtained a temporary injunction against our construction of the same 12-mile
pipeline across 1,450 feet of a 32-acre tract in Tazewell County, Virginia. The tract of land in dispute has been
owned by a large number of extended family members, from whom we have obtained approximately 81% control
of the tract, either through purchases of undivided surface interests in the tract or by entering into surface use and
right-of-way easement agreements. During our pipeline construction process, CNX purchased a minority
undivided surface interest in the property and filed a lawsuit seeking to enjoin the construction of our Pond Creek
gathering line across the tract. On February 16, 2007, the Virginia Supreme Court vacated the temporary
injunction, which allowed us to complete construction of our Pond Creek gathering line across the 32-acre tract.
Both we and CNX have filed complaints to partition the 32-acre tract, and we believe that we will obtain full
ownership of the portion of the tract that our Pond Creek gathering line traverses.

Our Pond Creek gathering line is connected to the Jewell Ridge Pipeline and is fully operational. In the
event we are unsuccessful in obtaining favorable judgments in the CNX surface disputes, we may be required to
seek an alternative way to transport our gas to market. If such an alternative is unavailable, we may be unable to
deliver our gas from the Pond Creek field to market for an extended period of time.

CNX Antitrust Action

We filed a complaint against CNX and Island Creek Coal Company (“Istand Creek™), an affiliate of CNX,
in the Circuit Court of Tazewell County, Virginia on February 14, 2007, seeking damages arising from alleged
violations of the Virginia Antitrust Act, tortious interference with contractual relations with third parties and
statutory and common law conspiracy. The suit secks $561 million for compensatory and consequential damages
for alleged violations of the Virginia Antitrust Act, including alleged anticompetitive efforts of CNX to dominate
and maintain its control over the market for the production and transportation of coalbed methane gas from the
Oakwood Field in Buchanan County, Virginia and for CNX’s alleged efforts to conspire and act in concert with
Island Creek and others to dominate and maintain control over the market for the production and transportation
of coalbed methane gas from the Oakwood Field in violation of the Virginia Antitrust Act and Virginia statutory
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and common law. The suit also alleges CNX’s intentional interference with our existing and prospective third-
party business relationships in efforts to harm us and improve CNX’s position and corporate and financial
interests. We seek to have any damages awarded for alleged violations of the Virginia Antitrust Act tripled under
Virginia statutes permitting a court to award treble damages, as well as injunctive relief to prevent CNX and
other parties from continuing these alleged anticompetitive activities. In accordance with an opinion issued by
the Tazewell Circuit Court in December 2007, we are preparing to file an amended petition which will re-state
our claims against CNX and Island Creek with specificity.

As of December 31, 2007, there were no known environmental or other regulatery matters related to our
operations that are reasonably expected to result in a material liability to vs.

Operating Lease Commitments—We have operating leases for office space, office equipment and field
compressors expiring int various years through 2012, Future minimum lease commitments as of December 31,
2007 under non-cancelable operating leases having remaining terms in excess of one year are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, ) Amount

20008 . e e e e $1,629.,301
2000 e e e e 1,420,895
2010 .. FS T 1,293,887
0T o e e e 1,293,887
200 e e e 605,346
TRHerealter . . .t e e e e e e e 476,684
Total futare minimum lease commitments ... .. ... ... . ... ... . ... ..., $6,720,000

Total rental expenses under operating leases were approximately $1,542,660, $1,591.027, and $1,048,083
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Transportation Contracts—In 2004 and 2005, we entered into firm transportation contracts with a pipeline.
As of December 31, 2007 under the contracts we can transport maximum daily volumes of 17,000 dth’s
continuing until October 31, 2010. Beginning November 1, 2010, unless the annual contract is extended, the
maximum decreases to 10,000 continuing until October 31, 2011.”). We have a right to extend each of these
contracts, in five-year increments, at the maximum tariff rate. In January 2007, we entered into two firm
transportation contracts with a pipeline which became effective when our pipeline went in service on April I,
2007, with total maximum daily quantities of 15,000 dth and 10,000 dth and primary terms of 15 years and 10
years, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, the maximum commitment remaining under the transportation
contracts is approximately $19.9 million,
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION ON GAS
EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED)

This supplemental schedule provides unaudited information pursuant to SFAS No. 69, Disclosures Abowt
Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities, (*SFAS 69} and certain other information.

Capitalized Costs—Capitalized costs and accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization relating to
our gas preducing activities, all of which are conducted within the continental United States and Canada, at
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are summarized below.

We capitalize certain payroll and other internal costs directly attributable to acquisition, exploration and
development activities as part of our investment in natural gas properties over the periods benefited by these
activities. During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, these capitalized costs amounted 10
$1.991,760, $1,174,148, and $1.777,566, respectively. Capitalized costs do not include any costs related to
production, general corporate overhead or stmilar activities. Capitalized costs in 2007 include a $3.0 million
purchase price adjustment for a 2004 acquisition. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
interest costs of $587,884, $1,037,576, and $714,070, respectively, were capitalized.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Unevaluated properties—United States .. .................. $ 6,651,594 $ 13,680,374 $ 14,789,928
Unevaluated properties—Canada ......................... 18,523,170 12,717,608 5,890,784
Properties subject to amortization—United States ............ 370,404,336 310,011,154 229,519,222
Capitalized costs—consolidated .......................... 395,579,100 336,409,136 250,199,934
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization—United

SlaES L e (30,661,248)  (21.836,904) (14.455,583)
Net capitalized costs—consolidated .. ..................... $364,917,852 $314,572,232 $235,744,351
Net capitalized costs—Canada ........................... $ 18,523,170 $ 12,717,608 $ 5,890,784
Net capitalized costs—United States . ..................... 343,394,682 301,854,624 229,853,567
Nel capitalized costs—consolidated . ... ... ... ............ $364,917,852 $314,572,232 $235,744,351

Capitalized Costs Incurred

The following table discloses costs incurred in gas property acquisition, exploration and development
activities for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Acquisition costs:

Proved . ... ... $ 38270641 § 428729 $ 540,767

Unproved . ... ... . i e 4,883,982 9,113,502 1,242,621
Exploration COStS . .. ..o i i e e 1,937,858 2,559,745 5,621,775
Development costs .. ........ ..t i 42,561,606 62,654,438 47414118
Total costs incurred—WUnited States .. ... .. ... 53,211,087 74756414 54,819,281
Acquisition costs-unproved—Canada .. ... ....... ... ... L 435,133 1,717,097 —
Exploration costs incurred—Canada . . .......... ... .. ... . ... 5,523,744 5,119,289 4,876,703
Total costs incurred—Canada . .............. ... ... .. ....... 5,958,877 6,836,386 4,876,703

Total costs incurred—consolidated ... ........................ $59.169,964 5$81,592,800 $59,695,984




Reserves—The following table summarizes our net ownership interests in estimated quantities of proved
gas reserves and changes in net proved reserves, all of which are located in the continental United States. Reserve
estimates for natural gas contained below were prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton, independent petroleum
engineers.

Users of this information should be aware that the process of estimating quantities of “proved,” “proved
developed” and “proved undeveloped™ natural gas reserves is very complex, requiring significant subjective
decisions in the evaluation of all available geological, engineering and economic data for each reservoir, The data
for a given reservoir may also change substantially over time as a result of numerous factors including, but not
limited to, additional development activity, evolving production history, and continual reassessment of the
viability of production under varying economic conditions. Consequently, material revisions (upward or
downward) to existing reserve estimates may occur from time to time. Although every reasonable effort is made
to ensure that reserve estimates reported represent the most accurate assessments possible, the significance of the
subjective decisions required and variances in available data for various reservoirs make these estimates
generally less precise than other estimates presented in connection with financial statement disclosures.

2007 2006 2008

Natural Gas Reserves (Mcf)

Proved reserves at beginning of year .............. ... ... . ..., 325,663,000 262,512,000 209.852,000
Revisions of previous estimates . ........................ (15,343,000) 28,417,000  (5,152,000)
Extensions and diSCOVENes ... .o 46,982,000 39,138,000 62,406,000
ACqUISILION . ... . i i e — 1,824,000 —
Disposition ........ .. o — — —
Production .......vi i .o (7,126,000) 6,228,000y  (4,594,000)

Proved reserves atend of year . .. .. ... .. ... e 350,176,000 325,663,000 262,512,000

Proved developed reserves at beginning of year . ................ 242,918,000 195,139,000 160,935,000

Proved developed reserves atendof year ...................... 238,023,000 242,918,000 195,139,000

The following table presents the standardized measure of future net cash flows related 1o proved gas
reserves in accordance with SFAS No. 69. All components of the standardized measure are from proved reserves,
all of which are located entirely within the continental United States. As prescribed by this statement, the
amounts shown are based on prices and costs at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, and assume continuation of
existing economic conditions. Future income taxes are based on year-end statutory rates, adjusted for tax credits.
A discount factor of 10 percent was used to reflect the timing of future net cash flows. Extensive judgments are
involved in estimating the iming of future production and the costs that will be incurred throughout the
remaining lives of the fields. Accordingly, the estimates of future net revenues from proved reserves and the
present value thereof may not be materially correct when judged against actual subsequent results. Further, since
prices and costs do not remain static, and no price or cost changes have been considered. and future production
and development costs are estimated to be incurred in developing and producing the estimated proved gas
reserves, the results are not necessarily indicative of the fair market value of estimated proved reserves, and the
results may not be comparable to estimates disclosed by other gas producers.

Standardized Measure 2007 2006 2005
Future cash inflows . ... . ... ..t $2.654,214.000 $1,858,104,000 $2,536,279,000
Future production costs ........... EE T (725,272,000 (501,955,000} (463,416,000)
Future development costs .. ... (106,356,0000 (101,777,000  (76,297,000)
FUture INCOME TAXES . . ... vt un vt ce e e i eeea s (602,319,000) (410,391,000) (579,689,000}
Future net cash flows ... ... it e 1,220,267,000 843,981,000 1,416,877,000
10% annual discount to reflect timing of cash flows . ........ (724,399,000) (484,494,000) (784,212,000)

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows . ... § 495,868,000 § 359,487,000 $ 632,665,000
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Changes in standardized measure relating to proved gas reserves for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005 are summarized below:

Changes in Standardized Measure 2007 2006 2005
Standardized measure at beginning of year ............... $ 359,487.000 $ 632,665,000 $ 349,755,000
Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced—net of production
COSl i e {29,340,000)  (27,705,000)  (28,952.000)
Net changes in prices and productioncost ................ 248,627,000 (412,865,0000 276,690,000
Extensions and discoveries ............... . i, 58,936,000 63,721,000° 197,336,000
Acquisition/disposition (net) .. ...... . o — 1,278,000 —
Net change in developmentcost ........................ (43,181,000} (4,187,000) (31,196,000}
| Revision of previous quantity estimates . ................. (35,222,000 49,362,000 (17,705,000)
f Accretion of discount before income taxes . ............... 52,563,000 88,015,000 48,182,000
Netchange inincometaxes ..............c.oveuunin.... (8,678,000) 81,343,000 (115,420,000)
Changes in production rates {timing) and other ... ......... (107,324,000) (112,140,000)  (46,025,000)
i Subtotal netchange ........ ... ... ... ... ... . ... ....... 136,381,000  (273,178,000) 282,910,000
Standardized measure atendof year . . ....... ... ... ..., $ 495,868,000 $ 359,487,000 $ 632,665,000

The weighted average prices of gas used with the above tables at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were
$7.58, $5.63, and $9.66 per Mcf, respectively.
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GECMET, INC.
QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

Quarterly Results of Operations. The following table sets forth the results of operations by quarter for the

years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

Quarter Ended

Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31,

Fiscal Year 2007:
TOtal FEVEIUES .« v\ v v e et e et et et et v m e $12.140 $13,763 §11,644 $13.437
Operating income from continuing operations .................... $ (702) $ 6,085 § 3465 $ 4284
Net income (JOS5) ottt e ee e e et e e $(1.025) § 2998 § 1,588 $ 1,608
Net income (loss) per share

BasiC ot $ (03§ 08 §F 04 8 04

Diluted . ... e $ (038 08 §$ .04 3 .04
Fiscal Year 2006:
TOtAl FEVEIUBS .« « + o ottt et e e ettt $12,311 $10,140 $10,968 $11,528
Operating income from continuing operations . ................... $13,680 $ 4,614 $ 7,706 S 5,268
NEEIMCOMIE .« o et et e et e et ettt et e $ 7,163 $2291 §$ 4228 § 30614
Net income per share

BaSIC .« o s $ 023 § 007 $ 011 § 0.09

Diluted . ..ot e $ 022 § 007 $ 011 § 009
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountanis on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded.
processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms and
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management , we have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act) as of December 31, 2007, and, based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective in providing reasonable assurance that
information requiring disclosure is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the timeframe specified
by the SEC’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated our internal controls over financial reporting (as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the year ended December 31.
2007 and found no change that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal
control aver financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. In order to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, as required by
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our management has conducted an assessment, including testing, using
the criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (*COS0”). Qur system of internal control over financial reporting is designed (o
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detatl, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on the assessment, our management has concluded that we maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued
by COSO.
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Qur management, incfuding our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our
disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system,
no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absclute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there
are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evatuation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected,

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement,
which will be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days subsequent to December 31, 2007. Pursuant to
Irem 401(b) of Regulation S-K, the information required by this item with respect to our executive officers is set
forth in Part I of this report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement,
which will be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days subsequent to December 31, 2007.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder
Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement,
which will be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days subsequent to December 31, 2007.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement,
which will be filed with the Commission not later than 120 days subsequent to December 31, 2007.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the 2008 Proxy Statement,
which will be filed with the Commisston not later than 120 days subsequent to December 31, 2007.

85




PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
List of Documents Filed as Part of this Report

(1) Financial Statements

Page

Index to Financial Statements . . ... .. o e e e 50
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ... ... . o oot 52
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 . . .. ... ... .. i 53
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 ... .. ... 54
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the Years Ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20005 . . .. e e 55
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 ...... .. 56
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . ... ... o e e et i ees 57
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES (UNAUDITED)—
Supplemental Financial and Operating Information on Gas Exploration, Development and Productlon

Activities (Unaudited) for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 . .. .. ................ 79
Quarterly Results of operations (unaudited) by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2007 and

2000 L e e e e 82
{2) Financial Statement Schedules

None.
(3) Exhibits:
The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Form 10-K. Where so indicated, previously filed
exhibits are incorporated herein by reference.
Exhibit No. Description
31 Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GeoMet, Inc. (incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 25,
2006 (Registration No. 333-131716)).

32 Form Amended and Restated Bylaws of GeoMet, [nc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Company’s 8-K filed on November 13, 2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

4.1 Registration Rights Agreement between GeoMet, Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC, dated
as of January 30, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

10.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger between GeoMet Resources Inc. and GeoMet Inc., dated as of
March 31, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

10.2 2005 Stock Option Plan of GeoMet Inc., dated April 15, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006
(Registration No. 333-134070)).

10.3 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for the 2005 Stock Option Plan of GeoMet, Inc.
{incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).
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Exhibit No,

Description

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10,17

Federal Income Tax Allocation Agreement among the Members of the GeoMet Resources, Inc.
Consolidated Group, dated as of January 1, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration
No. 333-134070)).

Incentive Bonus Pool Plan, dated as of May 29, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8- filed on February 10, 2006
(Registration No. 333-134070)).

Employment Agreement dated as of December 7., 2000 between GeoMet Resources, Inc. and
William C. Rankin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

Employment Agreement dated as of December 7, 2000 between GeoMet Resources, Inc. and
J. Darby Seré (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated June 9, 2006, among GeoMet, Inc.. Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and BNP Parisbas, as Syndication Agent (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
June 21, 2006 (Registration No. 333-131716)).

GeoMet, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 10
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 12, 2006 (Registration
No. 333-131716)).

Precedent Agreement dated March 28, 2006 between East Tennessee Natural Gas, LLC and
GeoMet, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form $-1 filed on May 12, 2006 (Registration No, 333-131716)) (portions of this
exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment in accordance with Rule 406 under the Securities
Act).

Option Agreement dated June 13, 2006 between Jon M. Gipson and GeoMet, Inc. (incorporated
herein by reference 1o Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
on June 21, 2006 {Registration No. 333-131716)).

Amendment No. | to 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated effective as of March 13, 2007
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10,12 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20,
2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 13, 2007 between GeoMet, Inc. and J. Darby
Seré (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20,
2007 (Registration No. 000-52155}).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 13, 2007 between GeoMet, Inc. and William
C. Rankin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s 10-K filed on
March 20, 2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

GeoMet, Inc. Executive Officer Severance Plan dated March 13, 2006 (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 (Registration No. 000-
52155)).

GeoMet, Inc. Severance Plan dated March 13, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.16 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

Form of GeoMet, Inc. Retention Bonus Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 {Registration No. 000-52155)).
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Exhibit No. Description

10.18 Stock Acquisition and Stockholders Agreement dated December 7, 2000 by and among GeoMet
Resources, Inc., Yorktown Energy Partners [V, L.P., J. Darby Seré, and William C. Rankin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8,
File No. 333-136924 filed on August 28, 2006).

14.1 Corporate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14.1
to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 (Registration No. (00-52155)).

21.1* List of Subsidiaries of GeoMet, Inc.
23.1* Consent of DeGolyer and MacNaughton.

311* Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

3l.2#* Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caused this repert to be |
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly anthorized on March 14, 2008. ‘

GEOMET, INC. ‘
By: /s{ ]. DARBY SERE

Name: J. Darby Seré

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this repert has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the registrants and in the capacities on March 14, 2008,

Signature Capacity
/s/ ). DARBY SERE Chairman of the Board President, Chief Executive
J. Darby Seré Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s WiLLIaAM C. RANKIN Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
William C. Rankin (Principai Financial Officer)
fs/  ToNY OVIEDO Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Tony Oviedo Controller
/s/ J. HORD ARMSTRONG, III Director

J. Hord Armstrong, 111

/s/  JaMES C. CRAIN Director

James C. Crain

fs!/  STANLEY L. GRAVES Director
Stanltey L. Graves

/s/ CHARLES D, HAYNES Director
Charles D, Haynes

Isi W.HowaRD KEENAN, JR. Director
W. Howard Keenan, Jr.

fsf  PHILIP G. MALONE Director
Philip G. Malone
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Exhibit No.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

31

3.2

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GeoMet, Inc. {incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 23,
2006 (Registration No. 333-131716)).

Form Amended and Restated Bylaws of GeoMet, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Company’s 8-K filed on November 13, 2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

Registration Rights Agreement between GeoMet, Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC, dated
as of January 30, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No, 333-134070)).

Agreement and Plan of Merger between GeoMet Resources Inc. and GeoMet Inc., dated as of
March 31, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10,1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form §-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

2005 Stock Option Plan of GeoMet Inc., dated April 15, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on February 10, 2006
(Registration No. 333-134070)).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for the 2005 Stock Optien Plan of GeoMet, Inc.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

Federal Income Tax Allocation Agreement among the Members of the GeoMet Resources, Inc.
Consolidated Group, dated as of January 1, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration
No. 333-134070)).

Incentive Bonus Pool Plan, dated as of May 29, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on February 10, 2006
{Registration No. 333-134070)).

Employment Agreement dated as of December 7, 2000 between GeoMet Resources, Inc. and
William C. Rankin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

Employment Agreement dated as of December 7, 2000 between GeoMet Resources, Inc. and
J. Darby Seré (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 10, 2006 (Registration No. 333-134070)).

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated June 9, 2006, among GeoMet, Inc., Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and BNP Parisbas, as Syndication Agent (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on
June 21, 2006 (Registration No. 333-131716)).

GeoMet, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 12, 2006 {Registration
No. 333-131716)).

Precedent Agreement dated March 28, 2006 between East Tennessee Natral Gas, LLL.C and
GeoMet, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 12, 2006 (Registration No. 333-131716)} (portions of this
exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment in accordance with Rule 406 under the Securities
Act).
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10,18

14.1

21.1%
23.1*
3L.1*

31.2%

32%

Option Agreement dated June 13, 2006 between Jon M. Gipson and GeoMet, Inc. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10,11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form §-1 filed
on June 21, 2006 (Registration No. 333-131716)).

Amendment No. | to 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated effective as of March 13, 2007
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20,
2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 13. 2007 between GeoMet. Inc. and J. Darby
Seré (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 10 the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20,
2007 (Registration No, 000-52155)).

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 13, 2007 between GeoMet, Inc. and William
C. Rankin {incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s 10-K filed on
March 20, 2007 (Registration No. 000-52155)).

GeoMet, Inc. Executive Officer Severance Plan dated March 13, 2006 (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 1o the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 (Registration No. 000-
52155)).

GeoMet, Inc. Severance Plan dated March 13, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.16 to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 (Registration No, 000-52155)).

Form of GeoMet, [nc. Retention Bonus Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the Company’s [0-K filed on March 20, 2007 {Registration No. 000-52155)).

Stock Acquisition and Stockholders Agreement dated December 7, 2000 by and among GeoMet
Resources, Inc., Yorktown Energy Partners IV, L.P., J. Darby Seré, and William C. Rankin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 5-§,
File No. 333-136924 filed on August 28, 2006).

Corporate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14.1
to the Company’s 10-K filed on March 20, 2007 (Registration No. 000-521535)).

List of Subsidiaries of GeoMet, Inc.
Consent of DeGolyer and MacNaughton,

Certification of chief financial officer required by Rules 132-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

Certification of chief executive officer required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

Centification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002,

* Filed herewith.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

List of GeoMet, Inc. Subsidiaries

GeoMet Operating Company, Inc. (Parent)

Hudson's Hope Gas, Ltd. (Wholly-Owned)

GeoMet Gathering Company, LLC (Wholly-Owned) '

GeoMet Gathering Virginia, Inc. (Wholly-Owned)

Shamrock Energy LLC {Wholly-Owned eftective January 1, 2007)




Exhibit 23.1

DEGOLYER AND MacNAUGHTON
5001 SpriNG VALLEY ROAD
Suite 800 East
DaLLAs, Texas 75244

CONSENT of INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS

We hereby consent to the references to DeGolyer and MacNaughton, to the incorperation of information
contained in our “Appraisal Report as of December 31, 2003 on Certain Propertics Owned by Geomet, Inc.,”
“Appraisal Report as of December 31, 2004 on Certain Properties Owned by Geomet, Inc.,” “Appraisal Report as
of December 31, 2005 on Certain Properties Owned by Geomet, Inc.,” “Appraisal Report on Proved Reserves as
of December 31, 2006 on Certain Properties Owned by Geomet, Inc.,” and “Appraisal Report on Proved
Reserves as of December 31, 2007 on Certain Properties owned by Geomet, Inc.” (our Reports), and to
references to our Reports in “Part I, Item 2, Properties,” “Part 11, Item 6, Selected Financial Data,” “Part I,

Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Part 11,
Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in the Annual Report on Form 10K of Geomet, Inc. for
the year ended December 31, 2007.

Very truly yours,
/8! DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTON
DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTON

Dallas, Texas
March 13, 2008




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William C. Rankin, certify that

I. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 of GeoMet, Inc.
(“registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary 1o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be destgned under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, 10 the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2008

By fsf WiLLiaM C. RANKIN

William C. Rankin,
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, ). Darby Seré, certify that

L. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 of GeoMet, Inc.
(“registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial infoermation included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a} Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financtial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any frand, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the regisirant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2008

By s/ J. DARBY SERE
J. Darby Seré,
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GeoMet, Inc. (the “Company’”) for the year ended December 31,
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, J. Darby Seré,
Chief Executive Officer, and |, William C. Rankin, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to our
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a} or 15(d} of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.5.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

{2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

fs/ J. DARBY SERE fs/ WiILLIaM C, RANKIN
J. Darby Seré William C. Rankin
Chief Executive Officer Chicf Financial Officer
March 14, 2008 March 14, 2008

A signed originat of this written statement required by Section 306 has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.




CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
909 Fannin, Suite 1850
Houston, Texas 77010

(713) 659-3855

TECHNICAL HEADQUARTERS

5336 Stadium Trace Parkway, Suite 206
Birmingham, Alabama 35244

(205) 425.3855

ANNUAL MEETING

The 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be
held on May 9, 2008, at 10:00 a.m., local rime, in the
Governor’s Room at the Houston Center Club, located
at 1100 Caroline Street, 1st City Tower Parking Building,
11th Floor, Houston, Texas 77002,

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
GeoMet’s common stock trades on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market under the symbol GMET.

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR

For registered shareholders, communication
regarding name and address changes, lost certificates,
stock transter requirements and other administrative
matrers should be directed ro:

American Stock Transfer & Trust
Attn: Sharehoider Services

59 Maiden Lane

New York, NY 10038

{877) 777-0800

www.amstack.cam

ADDITIONAL INVESTOR INFORMATION

Earnings and other financial information, news
releases, filings with the Securiries and Exchange
Commission and other information are available on
GeoMert’s website ar www.geomerine.com.

Shareholders, investment professionals and mem-
bers of the news media who have questions or need
additional information about GeoMet should contact

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

J. Darhy Seré
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer

William C. Rankin
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Brett 5. Camp
Senior Vice President — Operations

Philip G. Malone
Senior Vice President = Exploration

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

J. Darby Seré
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
Executive Committee ~ Chairman

Philip G. Malone
Senior Vice President — Exploration

J. Hord Armstrong, il

Audit Committee — Chairman & Financial Expert
Nominating, Corporate Governance &

Ethics Committee — Chairman

James C. Crain

Audit Committee
Compensation Committee
Executive Committee

Stanley L. Graves

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee
Nominating, Corporate Governance
& Ethics Commitiee

Charles D. Haynes

Compensation Committee — Chairman
Nominating, Corporate Gevernance

& Ethics Committee

Investor Relations ar (713) 287-2251.

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
Deloirte & Touche LLP

W. Howard Keenan, Jr.
Executive Committee

RESERVE DISCLOSURE

The Securities and Exchange Commission (*SEC") permits oil and gas companies, in filings made with the SEC, to disclose only
proved reserves that a company has demonstrated by actual production or concfusive formation tests to be economically and legally
producible under existing ecenomic and operating conditions. GeoMet and the independent petroleum engineering firm that GeoMet
engaged use the term "probable reserves” to describe volumes of reserves potentially recoverable through additional drilling that
the SEC's guidelines do not allow to be included in filings with the SEC. These estimates are by their nature more speculative than
estimates of praved reserves. All estimates of probable reserves in this annual report have been prepared by an independent
petroleum engineering firm.

FINDING AND DEVELOPMENT COST DISCLOSURE

Finding and development cost is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in the United States of America and, thus, may be calculated differently by different companies; howeves, we believe that
it is useful to GeoMet and to an investor in evaluating our company versus other companies in the industry because it is a widely
used measure within the oil and gas industry.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report may contain "forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements are subject
ta certain risks, trends and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Among those
risks, trends and uncertainties are our estimate of the sufficiency of our existing capital sources, our ability to raise additianal cap-
ital to fund cash requirements for future operations, the uncertainties involved in estimating quantities of proved gil and natural
gas reserves, in prospect development and property acquisitions and in projecting future rates of production, the timing of devel-
opment expenditures and drilling of wells, and the operating hazards attendant to the oil and gas business. In particular, careful con-
sideration should be given to cautionary statements made in the various reports the Company has filed with the SEC. GeoMet
undertakes no duty to update or revise these forward-locking statements.
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